UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETINGS

WHIDDON ADMINISTRATION BUILDING - PRESIDENT’S OFFICE (STE. 130), BOARD ROOM
SEPTEMBER 22, 2022
:30 A.M.

AUDIT COMMITTEE — RON GRAHAM, CHAIR
1 Roll Call
2 Approve: Minutes
3 Report:  KPMG Auditors
4

Report:  Independent Audit of the USA Foundation Consolidated Financial Statements and Disproportionate Share Hospital Funds

Combined Financial Statements, Years Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021
5 Approve: Audit Plan for Fiscal Year 2023
6  Report:  Office of Internal Audit
DEVELOPMENT, ENDOWMENT AND INVESTMENTS COMMITTEE — JIM YANCE, CHAIR
7  Roll Call
8 Approve: Minutes
9 Report:  Endowment and Investment Performance
10 Recommendation to Approve: Commendation of Johnson Haynes, Jr., M.D.
11  Report: Development and Alumni Relations
HEALTH AFFAIRS COMMITTEE — JIMMY SHUMOCK, CHAIR
12 Roll Call
13 Approve: Minutes

14  Recommendation to Approve: USA Health Hospitals Medical Staff Appointments and Reappointments for May, June and

July 2022
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15 Recommenda ton-te-App
16  Repert:
ACADEMIC AND STUDENT AFFAIRS COMMITTEE — MIKE WINDOM, CHAIR
17  Roll Call
18  Approve: Minutes
19  Report:  Academic Affairs
20  Report:  Student Affairs
21  Report:  Research and Economic Development
BUDGET AND FINANCE COMMITTEE — TOM CORCORAN, CHAIR

22 Roll Call
23 Approve: Minutes
24  Report:  Quarterly Financial Statements for the Nine Months Ended June 30, 2022
25  Recommendation to Approve: 2022-2023 University Total Budget
LONG-RANGE PLANNING COMMITTEE — CHANDRA BROWN STEWART, CHAIR
26  Roll Call
27  Approve: Minutes
28  Report:  Reaffirmation of Accreditation by the Southern Association of College of Schools Commission on Colleges
29  Report:  Update on University Strategic Planning and Scorecard Development

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE — ARLENE MITCHELL, CHAIR

30

Roll Call

31  Approve: Minutes of Meetings of the Committee of the Whole and Executive Committee
32  Recommendation to Approve: Executive Committee

SEPTEMBER 22, 2022
10:45 A.M.

BOARD OF TRUSTEES MEETING — ARLENE MITCHELL, CHAIR PRO TEMPORE
Roll Call

Approve: Minutes

Approve: Commendation of Johnson Haynes, Jr., M.D.

Report:  Board of Trustees Scholar

Report:  University President

Report:  Faculty Senate President

Report:  Student Government Association President

Present:  Certificates of Appreciation
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Approve: Consent Agenda Resolutions
USA Health Hospitals Medical Staff Appointments and Reap
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pointments for May, June and July 2022

Executive Committee
10  Report:  Audit Committee
11  Report:  Development, Endowment and Investments Committee
12 Report:  Health Affairs Committee
13 Report:  Academic and Student Affairs Committee
14  Report:  Budget and Finance Committee
15  Approve: 2022-2023 University Total Budget
16  Report: Long-Range Planning Committee
17  Approve: Executive Session
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MEETING SCHEDULE

THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 22, 2022:

8:30 a.m. Committee Meetings (consecutive) Whiddon Administration Bldg.
President’s Office (Ste. 130), Board Room

10:45 a.m. Board of Trustees Meeting
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BOARD OF TRUSTEES

STANDING COMMITTEES
2022-2025

¢

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE: DEVELOPMENT, ENDOWMENT AND INVESTMENTS COMMITTEE:

+ Arlene Mitchell, Chair pro tempore
+ Katherine Alexis Atkins, Vice Chair
+ Lenus Perkins, Secretary

« E. Thomas Corcoran

« Steven P. Furr, M.D.

+ James H. Shumock

+ James A. Yance

ACADEMIC AND STUDENT AFFAIRS COMMITTEE:

« Scott A. Charlton, M.D.

+ Steven P. Furr, M.D., Vice Chair
+ William Ronald Graham

« Robert D. Jenkins III

« Bill W. Lewis, II

+ Lenus M. Perkins

+ Margie Malone Tuckson

« Michael P. Windom, Chair

AUDIT COMMITTEE:

« Katherine Alexis Atkins, Vice Chair
« E. Thomas Corcoran

« William Ronald Graham, Chair

« Robert D. Jenkins III

« Bill W. Lewis, II

+ Lenus M. Perkins

BUDGET AND FINANCE COMMITTEE:

« Katherine Alexis Atkins

+ Chandra Brown Stewart

« E. Thomas Corcoran, Chair
+ William Ronald Graham

« Lenus Perkins, Vice Chair
+ James H. Shumock

- Steven H. Stokes, M.D

+ Chandra Brown Stewart

« Scott A. Charlton, M.D.

+ James H. Shumock

« Steven H. Stokes, M.D

+ Margie Malone Tuckson, Vice Chair
« Michael P. Windom

+ James A. Yance, Chair

EVALUATION AND COMPENSATION COMMITTEE:

« Katherine Alexis Atkins

* Scott A. Charlton, M.D., Vice Chair
« E. Thomas Corcoran

+ Steven P. Furr, M.D.

« Robert D. Jenkins III, Chair

+ James H. Shumock

« Michael P. Windom

HEALTH AFFAIRS COMMITTEE:

+ Chandra Brown Stewart

+ Scott A. Charlton, M.D.

« E. Thomas Corcoran

+ Steven P. Furr, M.D. , Vice Chair

« James H. Shumock, Chair

+ Steven H. Stokes, M.D.

+ James A. Yance

+ G. Owen Bailey, ex officio

« William H. Barber IV, M.D., ex officio
+ Jo Bonner, ex officio

+ John V. Marymont, M.D., ex officio

LONG-RANGE PLANNING COMMITTEE:

« Chandra Brown Stewart, Chair

« Robert D. Jenkins III

« Bill W. Lewis, II

+ Lenus M. Perkins

« Steven H. Stokes, M.D., Vice Chair
« Michael P. Windom

- James A. Yance
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA

MEMORANDUM

Board of Trustees
DATE: September 17, 2022

TO: USA Board of Trustees B
FROM: Lenus M. Perkins /5«(/2/7///

Secretary, Board of Trustees
SUBJECT: Meeting Minutes

Included herein are the unapproved minutes for the Board of Trustees and standing committee
meetings held on June 2 and 3, 2022; meetings of the Executive Committee held on June 24 and
August 3 and 24, 2022; and a special meeting of the Board of Trustees held on August 29, 2022.
Please review these documents for amendment or approval at the September 22, 2022, meetings.



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
BOARD OF TRUSTEES

June 3, 2022
10:30 a.m.

A meeting of the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees was duly convened by
Mr. Jimmy Shumock, Chair pro tempore, on Friday, June 3,2022, at 10:30 a.m. in the Board Room
of the Frederick P. Whiddon Administration Building. Meeting attendance was open to the public.

Members: Alexis Atkins, Chandra Brown Stewart, Tom Corcoran, Steve Furr,
Ron Graham, Arlene Mitchell, Lenus Perkins, Jimmy Shumock,
Steve Stokes, Margie Tuckson, Mike Windom and Jim Yance were
present.

Members Absent: Scott Charlton, Ron Jenkins and Kay Ivey.

Administration & Guests: Owen Bailey, Joél Billingsley, Jo Bonner, Camille Bonura (SGA),
Paul Bruske, Lynne Chronister, Kristin Dukes, Joel Erdmann,
Julie Estis, Monica Ezell, Delwar Hossain (Faculty Senate),
Andi Kent, Amanda and Matt King, Laney King, Nick Lawkis,
John Marymont, John McMillan, Abe Mitchell, Mike Mitchell,
Richard Mooney, Diana Nichols, Maxey Roberts, Laura Schratt,
Jeb Schrenk, Carmel Shumock, Debbie Shumock, Polly Stokley,
Margaret Sullivan, Linda and John Whiddon, Clement Williams, and
Amelia Rose, Hallie, Isabella, Shipley and Sophia Zimlich.

Following the call to order and brief introductory remarks by Chairman Shumock, the attendance
roll was called, Item 1. Chairman Shumock called for consideration of the revised agenda,
Item 1.A. On motion by Ms. Mitchell, seconded by Mr. Corcoran, the revised agenda was adopted
unanimously.

Chairman Shumock called for consideration of Item 3 as follows. On motion by Mr. Graham,
seconded by Ms. Atkins, the Board voted unanimously to approve the resolution:

RESOLUTION
2022-2023 BOARD MEETING SCHEDULE

WHEREAS, Article Il, Section 1, of the Bylaws provides that the Board shall schedule
annually, in advance, regular meetings of the Board to be held during the ensuing year,
and may designate one of such meetings as the annual meeting of the Board,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the regular meetings of the University of South
Alabama Board of Trustees shall be held on the following dates:

Thursday, September 22, 2022
Thursday, December 1, 2022
Friday, March 3, 2023

Friday, June 2, 2023,

and
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FURTHER, BE IT RESOLVED that the date of June 2, 2023, be designated as the annual
meeting of the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees for 2022-2023.

Chairman Shumock called for consideration of the minutes of a meeting held on March 11, 2022,
Item 2. On motion by Dr. Stokes, seconded by Ms. Atkins, the Board voted unanimously to adopt
the minutes.

Chairman Shumock called on President Bonner to deliver the President’s Report, Item 4.
President Bonner recognized Mr. Abe Mitchell, Honorary Trustee; Mr. Clement Williams, Black
Student Union (BSU) President; and Ms. Camille Bonura, Student Government Association
(SGA) President. He reported on several topics, including strategic student recruitment activities;
Spring Commencement exercises; a collaboration by First Lady Ms. Janée Bonner and Ms. Tina
Erdmann to offer engagement opportunities for the spouses of Athletics coaches; and the recent
graduation of the Zimlich quintuplets -- Amelia Rose, Hallie, Isabella, Shipley and Sophia -- who
he introduced to share a few words. He also discussed the permanent appointment of Dr. Kent as
Provost and Executive Vice President. Provost Kent conveyed enthusiasm for her new role, and
shared information on the StartSouth dual enrollment program, as well as on the celebratory
activities being planned in relation to President Bonner’s inauguration ceremony slated for
September 23, 2022. President Bonner thanked Dr. Marymont for chairing the Provost Search
Committee, and called on Dr. Erdmann, who discussed the outstanding academic performance of
student athletes across all sports programs, and introduced Mr. Richard Mooney, Women’s Soccer
Head Coach, and Mr. Paul Bruske, Outdoor Track and Field Head Coach. President Bonner
recognized Ms. Diana Nichols and Mr. Jeb Schrenk for their service in interim leadership positions
in the Office of Marketing and Communications (MarComm), and called for an update from
Mr. Lawkis pertaining to his role as Chair of the national search under way to fill the position of
MarComm Vice President.

Chairman Shumock called for a report from the Faculty Senate President, Item 5. Dr. Delwar
Hossain, Communication Department Associate Professor and 2022-2023 Faculty Senate
President, recognized the contributions of the Board of Trustees, administration, faculty, staff and
students to advance the University; said the Faculty Senate looked forward to working with the
Board, President Bonner and Provost Kent to address issues; and thanked Chairman Shumock for
his dedicated leadership.

Chairman Shumock called for a report from the SGA President, Item 6. Ms. Camille Bonura,
2022-2023 SGA President, shared information about herself, introduced a photo of the SGA
executive branch, discussed that preparations were under way for their first meeting, and issued
an open invitation for Board members to attend SGA meetings.

Chairman Shumock called for consideration of consent agenda resolutions as follows, Item 7, all
of which were unanimously recommended for Board approval by the respective committees that
met on June 2, 2022. (To view policies and other documents authorized, refer to Appendix A.) On
motion by Ms. Mitchell, seconded by Mr. Graham, the Board voted unanimously to approve the
resolutions:
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RESOLUTION
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARGE

WHEREAS, the purpose of the document titled University of South Alabama
Committee Charge: Audit Committee is to define the roles and responsibilities of the Audit
Committee as they relate to financial audits, the Office of Internal Audit, and risk and
compliance issues, as well as administrative function, and

WHEREAS, this document, originally approved September 9, 2016, requires updating
to ensure alignment with committee responsibilities as detailed in the Office of Internal Audit
Charter, approved September 11, 2020, and adherence to the Institute of Internal Audit
requirements,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama
hereby authorizes approval of the attached revised University of South Alabama Committee
Charge: Audit Committee.

RESOLUTION
USA HEALTH HOSPITALS MEDICAL STAFF APPOINTMENTS AND REAPPOINTMENTS FOR
FEBRUARY, MARCH AND APRIL 2022

WHEREAS, the Medical Staff appointments and reappointments for February, March
and April 2022 for the USA Health Hospitals are recommended for Board approval by the
Medical Executive Committees and the USA Health Credentialing Board,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama
hereby authorizes the appointments and reappointments as submitted.

Chairman Shumock called for a report from the Audit Committee, Item 8. Mr. Graham,
Committee Chair, advised of a committee meeting held on June 2, 2022, and he shared highlights
of the matters addressed.

Chairman Shumock called for a report from the Development, Endowment and Investments
Committee, Item 9. Mr. Yance, Committee Chair, said that the committee met on June 2, 2022,
and he provided an overview of the business that took place.

Chairman Shumock called for a report from the Health Affairs Committee, Item 10. Dr. Charlton,
Committee Chair, stated that the committee held a meeting on June 2, 2022, and he gave a
summary of the proceedings.

Chairman Shumock called for a report from the Academic and Student Affairs Committee,
Item 11. Judge Windom, Committee Chair, stated that a committee meeting was held on June 2,
2022, and he provided a recap of the business that occurred. He noted that the committee voted
unanimously to recommend Board approval of Item 12 as follows, and offered a motion for its
approval. Mr. Perkins seconded and the Board voted unanimously to approve the resolution:

RESOLUTION
TENURE AND PROMOTION

WHEREAS, in accordance with University policy, faculty applications for tenure have
been reviewed by the respective faculty peers, departmental chair and college dean, and
by the Provost and Senior Vice President for Academic Affairs or the Vice President for Med-
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ical Affairs, and the President, and the following individuals are hereby recommended for
tenure,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees
approves and grants fenure to the following individuals.

PAT CAPPS COVEY COLLEGE OF ALLIED HEALTH PROFESSIONS:

Promotion to Senior Instructor:
e Jason L. Brooks
e Kristen N. McKenna

COLLEGE OF ARTS AND SCIENCES:

Tenure: Promotion to Associate Professor:
e Steven C. Clonftz, Jr. » Steven C. Clontz, Jr.

* Mark A. Colarusso * Mark A. Colarusso

e Martin J. Frank e Martin J. Frank

* Kip E. Franklin * Kip E. Franklin

e Karl R. Jahnke e Karl R. Jahnke

* David A. Meola e David A. Meola

¢ Andrei Pavelescu * Andrei Pavelescu

¢ Brian S. Whitener e Brian S. Whitener

Promotion to Senior Instructor:
¢ Melanie R. Cochran

e Doris A. Frye

* Maura M. Lang

Promotion to Professor:
* Lesley A. Gregoricka
¢ C.Kenneth Hudson
e Jeffery W. Krause

¢ John M. Lanicci

MITCHELL COLLEGE OF BUSINESS:

Tenure: Promotion to Associate Professor:
e Charlene A. Dadzie e Charlene A. Dadzie

¢ Matthew C. Howard * Matthew C. Howard

¢ Khandokar Istiak » Khandokar Istiak

e Chris M. Lawrey e Chris M. Lawrey

¢ Mickey B. Smith » Mickey B. Smith

¢ Robyn Brour Stefanone

MITCHELL CANCER INSTITUTE:

Promotion to Associate Professor:

e Omar A. Alkharabsheh

e Nathaniel L. Jones

¢ Nathaniel L. Jones (Joint in Obstetrics
and Gynecology)

SCHOOL OF COMPUTING:

Promotion to Senior Instructor:
* Jeffrey K. Holifield
¢ Maureen S. Van Devender

Promotion to Professor:
e Thomas D. Johnsten
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COLLEGE OF EDUCATION AND PROFESSIONAL STUDIES:

Tenure: Promotion to Associate Professor:
e Todd M. Johnson e Todd M. Johnson

* Benterah C. Morton e Benterah C. Morton

» Christopher W. Parrish » Christopher W. Parrish
* Linda M. Reeves  Linda M. Reeves

* Mitchell T. Woliring * Mitchell T. Woltring

Promotion to Professor:
* Ryan C. McDermott

COLLEGE OF ENGINEERING:
Tenure:

* Stephanie M. Patch
¢ Brooks D. Rabideau

Promotion to Associate Professor:
» Stephanie M. Patch
e Brooks D. Rabideau

COLLEGE OF MEDICINE:

Tenure:

. Promotion to Adjunct Professor:
e Casey L. Daniel

* Amy Morris
Promotion to Associate Professor:
¢ Haley H. Ballard

Sophia M. Goslings

Rashmi Gulati

Jianfeng Li

Omar A. Sanchez Villanueva
Kamal P. Sharma

Promotion to Professor:

e Ghulam M. Awan

e Leander M. Grimm, Jr.
¢ Anne-Marie D. Kaulfers

COLLEGE OF NURSING:

Tenure:

. Promotion to Associate Professor:
* Joyce A. Pittman

* Donna J. Copeland
e Wilma P. Stuart

Judge Windom reported that the Committee also voted unanimously to recommend Board
approval of Item 13 as follows. Chairman Shumock called for consideration of the resolution, and,
on motion by Ms. Atkins, seconded by Ms. Tuckson, the Board voted unanimously to approve the
resolution:

RESOLUTION
TUITION, FEES, AND HOUSING AND DINING RATES

WHEREAS, the University of South Alabama is committed to maintaining high-quality
educational and student services programs af a competitive cost, and

WHEREAS, in-person tuition and fees of the University are priced below peer public
institutions in the state of Alabama, and

WHEREAS, the University has not increased tuition rates over two of the past three
years while instituting cost saving measures and budget cuts to maintain operations during
a period of rising operational costs, and
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WHEREAS, online tuifion rates of the University are significantly higher than in-person
rates, and

WHEREAS, tuition rates for in-person and online classes should be more closely
aligned than at present, and

WHEREAS, housing and dining services must account for increased maintenance,
operating, and food costs and make facility improvements to enhance campus life for
students, and

WHEREAS, with the proposed tuition, fees, and housing and dining rates for 2022-
2023, as set forth in the attached schedules, such costs of attendance at the University for
the coming academic year would continue to be among the lowest in effect at peer public
institutions in the state of Alabama, and

WHEREAS, with the proposed tuition rates for 2023-2024, as set forth in the attached
schedules, there will be parity between most in-person and online tuition rates,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama
hereby authorizes the tuition, required student fees, and housing and dining rates for the
2022-2023 academic year and the tuition rates for the 2023-2024 academic year, as set forth
in the aftached schedules.

Chairman Shumock called for a report from the Budget and Finance Committee, Item 14.
Mr. Corcoran, Committee Chair, stated that the committee held a meeting on June 2, 2022, and he
provided a summation of the proceedings.

Chairman Shumock called for a report from the Long-Range Planning Committee, Item 15.
Ms. Brown Stewart, Committee Chair, said the committee met on June 2, 2022, and provided an
overview of the business that occurred.

Concerning Item 16, a report from the Nominating Committee, Chairman Shumock advised that
the Committee, on which he, Dr. Furr, Dr. Stokes and Mr. Yance served, had deliberated on a slate
of officers to serve three-year terms and unanimously agreed to nominate Ms. Mitchell, Ms. Atkins
and Mr. Perkins to serve as Chair pro tempore, Vice Chair and Secretary, respectively. He made a
motion to adopt the slate of officers, Judge Windom seconded, and the Board voted unanimously
to elect the Trustees nominated to serve as officers of the Board, Item 17.

Chairman Shumock introduced Item 18 as follows, and on motion by Ms. Mitchell, seconded by
Mr. Corcoran, the Board voted unanimously to approve the resolution:

RESOLUTION
COMMENDATION OF THE HONORABLE VICTOR GASTON

WHEREAS, the University of South Alabama seeks to honor exceptional individuals
who have given a substantial part of their lives to serving others and who have distinguished
themselves throughout their professional career, and

WHEREAS, the Honorable Victor Gaston is a dedicated public servant, as
exemplified by his decades of service to our country in the United States Marine Corps
Reserve and the Alabama National Guard, and
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WHEREAS, Representative Gaston began his career as a history teacher, eventually
serving as assistant principal and earning a Doctorate of Education degree; yet, his most
notable educational achievement was earning a Master of Education degree from the
University of South Alabama, and

WHEREAS, Representative Gaston has admirably served his constituents and the
State of Alabama since his election to House District 100 in the Alabama House of
Representativesin 1982, with his most prominent role being Speaker Pro Tempore for the past
12 years, and

WHEREAS, Representative Gaston was first recognized for his leadership abilities
when he was appointed Chairman of the House State Government Committee in 1987, and
since that time, he has continued to serve in leadership capacities for the Alabama House
of Representatives, serving as Chairman of the House Legislative Council, a member of the
Permanent Oil and Gas Study Committee, and Vice Chair of the Joint Legislative Council, a
position that he currently holds, and

WHEREAS, with an impeccable record of legislative accomplishments and the heart
of a servant leader, Representative Gaston has always kept the best interests of the
University of South Alabama and its healthcare operations at the forefront of the legislature,
and

WHEREAS, Representative Gaston has established two scholarships at the University
of South Alabama -- the Victor Gaston Book Scholarship that provides assistance for the
Student Government Association President and a second scholarship in memory of his late
wife, Jean Jumonville Gaston, that is dedicated to preparing future educators,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama
hereby commends the Honorable Victor Gaston on the occasion of his retirement for his
many years of service to the State of Alabama, and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees extends sincere appreciation to
Representative Gaston for his advocacy and friendship to the University of South Alabama.

Chairman Shumock called for consideration of Item 19 as follow. On motion by Ms. Atkins,
seconded by Mr. Graham, the Board voted unanimously to approve the resolution:

RESOLUTION
COMMENDATION OF THE HONORABLE HARRY SHIVER

WHEREAS, the University of South Alabama seeks to honor exceptional individuals
who have given a substantial part of their lives to serving others and who have distinguished
themselves throughout their professional career, and

WHEREAS, the Honorable Harry Shiver has admirably served his constituents and the
State of Alabama since his election to House District 64 in the Alabama House of
Representatives nearly sixteen years ago, and

WHEREAS, Representative Shiver has held a seat on several impactful House of
Representatives committees, including the State Government and Public Safety Committee
and the Homeland Security Committee, and, as a retired educator of 36 years, has made
a positive impact on education-related issues throughout our state, and

WHEREAS, cs a lifelong resident of Baldwin County serving as an avid volunteer in his
community, Representative Shiver holds the utmost respect of his constituents, none of
which are prouder than his loving wife, Jean, and their family, and
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WHEREAS, Representative Shiver's continued support of the University of South
Alabama, whether in the State House or at a sporting event, will always be immensely
appreciated,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama
hereby commends the Honorable Harry Shiver on the occasion of his retirement for his many
years of service to the State of Alabama, and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama
extends sincere gratitude for Representative Shiver's advocacy and friendship.

Chairman Shumock presented Item 19.A as follows, and on motion by Ms. Atkins,
seconded by Ms. Mitchell, the Board voted unanimously to approve the resolution:

RESOLUTION
COMMENDATION OF THE HONORABLE JOE FAUST

WHEREAS, the University of South Alabama seeks to honor exceptional individuals
who have given a substantial part of their lives to serving others and who have distinguished
themselves throughout their professional career, and

WHEREAS, the Honorable Joe Faust is a dedicated public servant, as exemplified by
his decades of service to our country in the Alabama National Guard and during the Berlin
Crisis, and

WHEREAS, Representative Faust began his career as a regional sales manager and
supervisor in the dairy industry and later became an insurance broker before twice being
elected to the Baldwin County Commission, where he served with distinction, and

WHEREAS, Representative Faust has admirably served his constituents and the State
of Alabama since his election to House District 94 in the Alabama House of Representatives
in 2002, serving since 2015 as the Vice Chairman of the vitally important House
Transportation, Utilities and Infrastructure Committee, and

WHEREAS, Representative Faust has been a stalwart member of the Alabama House
of Representatives, ever visible from his front row seat on the House floor where he could
interact with fellow House members to support the causes for our area, and

WHEREAS, Representative Faust will continue to be known for his strong legacy of
public service to all the people of Baldwin County, especially his most important
constituents, his wife Sharon and his family, and

WHEREAS, Representative Faust has always supported the University of South
Alabama in all of its endeavors over his years of service,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama
hereby commends the Honorable Joe Faust on the occasion of his departure from elected
office for his many years of service to the State of Alabama, and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees extends sincere appreciation to
Representative Faust for his advocacy and friendship to the University of South Alabama.
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Chairman Shumock presented Item 20 as follows, and on motion by Mr. Corcoran, seconded by
Judge Windom, the Board voted unanimously to approve the resolution:

RESOLUTION
COMMENDATION OF THE HONORABLE KAY IVEY

WHEREAS, the Honorable Kay Ivey has been a longtime advocate of the University
of South Alabama (USA) throughout her years of public service, and

WHEREAS, in 2021, the University bestowed upon Governor Ivey the degree of
Doctor of Humane Letters (L.H.D.), honoris causa, for her dedication and many contributions
to the State of Alabama and support for the University, and

WHEREAS, Governor Ivey's instrumental support of USA projects, such as the School
of Marine and Environmental Sciences Healthy Ocean Initiative and fisheries studies, has
furthered the University’s core missions of teaching, research and service, and

WHEREAS, in the fall of 2017, Governor Ivey announced a $4 million award to USA
Health for the expansion and renovation of the region's only level one tfrauma center, and

WHEREAS, Governor Ivey recognizes the vital importance of the USA College of
Medicine in addressing the growing need for physicians in rural and underserved areas of
our state and nation, as well as USA's reputation for providing students a high-quality
medical education, and

WHEREAS, in the fall of 2020, Governor Ivey announced a $50 million allocation to
USA to assist with the construction of a new College of Medicine facility, which was the first
time in USA's history to receive an allocation of that size and significance and equal to the
amount received by the State’s two largest institutions, making it the largest one-time state
allocation USA has ever received, and

WHEREAS, this significant funding will contribute to advancements in medical
discovery and healthcare standards, and thereby, further the College of Medicine’s mission
of excellence as well as its impact within our region and far beyond,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama
hereby commends the Honorable Kay Ivey for her visionary commitment that will ensure
access to the highest quality medical education, and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the University family wishes to express its profound
thanks for the fransformational impact that Governor Ivey has had upon all levels of
education, healthcare and research in the State of Alabama.

Chairman Shumock called for consideration of Item 21 as follows, and on motion by Ms. Atkins,
seconded by Ms. Mitchell, the Board voted unanimously to approve the resolution:

RESOLUTION
COMMENDATION OF THE HONORABLE RICHARD SHELBY

WHEREAS, the Honorable Richard Shelby has been an avid supporter of the
University of South Alabama (USA) throughout his many years of congressional service, and
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WHEREAS, in 2006, the University bestowed upon Senator Shelby the degree of
Doctor of Humane Letters (L.H.D.), honoris causa, for his dedication and many contributions
to the State of Alabama and support for the University, and

WHEREAS, Senatfor Shelby's exemplary leadership, accomplishments and
contributions to education and healthcare have been further recognized by the University
through the USA National Alumni Association Distinguished Service Award and the
dedication of Shelby Hall, which houses the USA College of Engineering and School of
Computing, and

WHEREAS, Senator Shelby has advanced the University's core missions of teaching,
research and service by his insfrumental support for numerous projects, such as USA Health,
USA Mitchell Cancer Institute, USA Transit System, Telemedicine, Coastal Weather Research
Center, Youth Violence Prevention, College of Engineering and School of Computing,
Coastal Engineering Hurricane Intensity Research, Mitchell College of Business, and many
others, and

WHEREAS, Senator Shelby recognizes the vital importance of the USA College of
Medicine in addressing the growing need for physicians in rural and underserved areas of
our state and nation, as well as USA's reputation for providing students a high-quality
medical education, and

WHEREAS, Senator Shelby helped secure $60 million in federal funding to support the
construction of a state-of-the-art center for the medical and scientific education of future
physicians and researchers, and

WHEREAS, this significant funding will contribute to advancements in medical
discovery and healthcare standards, and thereby, further the College of Medicine’s mission
of excellence as well as its impact within our region and far beyond,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama
hereby commends the Honorable Richard Shelby for his visionary commitment that will
ensure access to the highest quality medical education, and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the University family wishes to express its deepest
appreciation for the fransformational impact that Senator Shelby has had upon all levels of
education, healthcare and research in the State of Alabama and across the nation.

Chairman Shumock invited Ms. Maxey Roberts and Mr. John McMillan, USA Foundation (USAF)
Directors, and Mr. John Whiddon, son of the late Dr. Frederick P. Whiddon as well as USAF
Director, and his wife, Ms. Linda Whiddon, to join him, Mr. Yance and President Bonner for the
presentation of Item 22 as follows. He also recognized other Whiddon family members in
attendance. Mr. Yance addressed the assembly, advising of the USA Foundation’s significant
record of giving to the University, as well as the concerted efforts recently that made possible
much needed funding support from the USA Foundation to aid the University in the construction
of a new instructional building for the College of Medicine. He read the resolution and moved for
its approval. Dr. Stokes seconded and the Board voted unanimously to approve the resolution.
Ms. Roberts, Mr. McMillan and Mr. Whiddon thanked the Board for the recognition and for
remembering the contributions of Dr. Whiddon in a meaningful way:
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RESOLUTION
COMMENDATION OF THE USA FOUNDATION AND NAMING OF THE COLLEGE OF MEDICINE

WHEREAS, Dr. Frederick Palmer Whiddon served as the first president of the University
of South Alabama (USA), working with community leadership fo create a new state university
in 1963 by an act of the Alabama Legislature, thereby establishing the first new public
university in Alabama in almost 70 years, and becoming the youngest university president in
the counftry, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Whiddon built consensus and support from the community that
enabled the founding of a medical school at the University of South Alabama in 1973, filling
a crifical need to educate more physicians and differentiate the University from most other
institutions of higher education in the State of Alabama, and

WHEREAS, Dr. Whiddon fulfilled his vision of establishing South as the region’s premier
provider of higher education and healthcare, and as a primary economic driver for the
local community and beyond, thus, forever transforming the quality of life for the people of
the upper Gulf Coast, and

WHEREAS, since enrolling its charter class in 1973, the USA College of Medicine, in
collaboration with USA Health, has advanced teaching, research, and clinical care,
promoting the highest standard of healthcare throughout the region, and playing a vital
role in the education of physicians in our region and state, and

WHEREAS, the growth and reach of the College of Medicine have been nurtured
and accelerated as a result of the steadfast partnership between the USA Foundation and
the University of South Alabama, and

WHEREAS, the USA Foundation Board of Directors recognizes the vital importance of
the USA College of Medicine and bestowed a $30 million gift of support for the College of
Medicine that will facilitate construction of a state-of-the-art center for the medical and
scientific education of future physicians and researchers, and

WHEREAS, this significant commitment from the USA Foundation will contribute to
advancements in medical discovery and healthcare standards, and thereby, further the
College of Medicine’s mission of excellence as well as its impact within our region and far
beyond, and

WHEREAS, the USA Board of Trustees joins the USA Foundation in honoring the legacy
of Dr. Whiddon and acknowledges his wisdom and leadership in establishing the College of
Medicine at the University of South Alabama,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama
hereby commends the USA Foundation for its visionary commitment that will ensure access
to the highest quality medical education, and extends profound thanks on behalf of the
entire University community, and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees proclaims that the USA College of
Medicine will henceforth be known as the Frederick P. Whiddon College of Medicine.

Chairman Shumock noted the recent passing of the late Mr. Steve McMillan, brother of Mr. John
McMillan, remembering him as a leader in the local community and state, and as an advocate for
South Alabama. He read Item 23 as follows and, on motion by Judge Windom, seconded by
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Ms. Atkins, the Board voted unanimously to approve the resolution. Mr. John McMillan talked
about his brother’s sincere commitment to the constituents he represented and thanked the Board
for honoring him:

RESOLUTION
POSTHUMOUS COMMENDATION OF THE HONORABLE STEVE MCMILLAN

WHEREAS, the University of South Alabama seeks to honor exceptional individuals
who have given a substantial part of their lives to serving others and who have distinguished
themselves throughout their professional career, and

WHEREAS, the late Steve McMillan was first elected to House District 95 in the
Alabama House of Representatives in 1982 and admirably served his constituents and the
State of Alabama until his passing on April 28, 2022, and

WHEREAS, having served on numerous House of Representatives committees that
impact education and healthcare throughout our state, including the Ways and Means
Education Committee, Representative McMillan was always a devoted supporter of the
University of South Alabama and USA Health, and

WHEREAS, Representative McMillan was a true statesman who had a passion for
serving his constituents, with his work continuing outside of the State House, through
volunteer and leadership roles in his community,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama
hereby posthumously commends the Honorable Steve McMillan for his many years of service
fo the State of Alabama, and

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama
extends heartfelt condolences and deepest sympathies to the family, friends and
colleagues of Representative McMillan, as well as sincere appreciatfion for his advocacy
and his friendship.

Chairman Shumock was joined by his wife, Ms. Debbie Shumock; his mother, Ms. Carmel
Shumock; his daughter and son-in-law, Ms. Amanda and Mr. Matt King; and his granddaughter
and USA student, Ms. Laney King, and by Ms. Atkins, who said it was her privilege to read
Item 24 as follows. On motion by Mr. Yance, seconded by Dr. Stokes, the Board voted
unanimously to approve the resolution. Chairman Shumock took part in the unveiling his portrait
that would be installed on the Board Room wall, and he reflected on his service as Chair pro
tempore of the Board, recognizing many of the individuals from the University with whom he had
forged strong bonds:

RESOLUTION
COMMENDATION OF MR. JAMES H. SHUMOCK FOR SERVICE AS CHAIR PRO TEMPORE AND
CONFERRAL OF THE TITLE CHAIR PRO TEMPORE EMERITUS

WHEREAS, Mr. James H. “Jimmy” Shumock has served faithfully as a member of the
Board of Trustees of the University of South Alabama since his appointment in 2010, and

WHEREAS, Mr. Shumock was elected as Chair Pro Tempore of the Board of Trustees
in 2019, and, before he served in this capacity, he held the positions of Vice Chair from 2016
to 2019 and Secretary from 2013 to 2016, and
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WHEREAS, Mr. Shumock’s guidance has been critical to the University's progress, as
demonstrated through his service on the Board's Executive Committee, Audit Committee,
Budget and Finance Committee, Evaluation and Compensation Committee, Academic
and Student Affairs Committee, and Long-Range Planning Committee, and

WHEREAS, the positive results of Mr. Shumock’s leadership as Board Chair will be
realized for years to come, made possible by the strategic initiatives he has championed,
such as the construction of Hancock Whitney Stadium; broadening of South’s scholarship
program; strengthening of enrollment and retention; and expansion of USA Health, which
includes the founding of the Mapp Family Campus in Baldwin County and the USA Health
Freestanding Emergency Department in West Mobile, as well as his ongoing involvement as
a member of the USA Health Assessment Committee, and

WHEREAS, one of Mr. Shumock’s most significant accomplishments was his prudent
leadership and financial stewardship during the global coronavirus pandemic, balancing
health, education and economic concerns to keep the University operating and USA Health
in a strong position to respond to our region’s needs, and

WHEREAS, Mr. Shumock also played an instrumental role in two presidential
fransitions including helping to guide the University through both interim periods and, as
Board Chair, initiating and serving as a member of the 2021 President Search Committee
that was charged with identifying a pool of highly qualified candidates for the position of
University president, and whose deliberations resulted in the recommendation of a slate of
finalists to the Board of Trustees that included the Honorable Josiah Robins Bonner Jr., who
was ultimately appointed as the University's fourth president, and

WHEREAS, Mr. Shumock is a proud South Alabama alumnus, having earned a
Bachelor of Science degree in accounting from USA in 1980, after which he began a
distinguished career at Thompson Engineering, Inc., that spanned more than 30 years,
eventually serving as Executive Vice President for Transportation and as Chief Executive
Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors for Thompson Engineering as well as for
Thompson Holdings, Inc., and

WHEREAS, Mr. Shumock and his wife, Debbie, are loyal and dedicated supporters of
South Alabama and, over the years, have donated generously fo numerous projects,
programs and objectives, such as the constfruction of the MacQueen Alumni Center and
Hancock Whitney Stadium and the improvement of other athletic facilities; the Jaguar
Athletic Fund, Inc., for which Mr. Shumock has also served for many years as President of the
Board of Directors; and scholarships, including the USA Board of Trustees Endowed
Scholarship and the Hollis and Carmel Shumock Endowed Scholarship in Business, which they
established and named after his parents, and

WHEREAS, Mr. Shumock, through his wisdom, philanthropy and steadfast guidance,
has played a prominent role in advancing the interests of all University of South Alabama
constituencies,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Trustees of the University of South
Alabama expresses its sincere appreciation to Mr. James H. Shumock for his many
contributions and invaluable service to the Board, to the entire University community, and
to the people of the state of Alabama, all of whom have benefited from his knowledge,
dedication and generosity, and confers upon him the honorary ftitle of Chair Pro Tempore
Emeritus of the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees.



USA Board of Trustees
June 3, 2022
Page 14

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 12:13 p.m.

Attest to: Respectfully submitted:

Katherine Alexis Atkins, Secretary James H. Shumock, Chair pro tempore



APPENDIX A



DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON PURCHASE OF REAL PROPERTY
PURSUANT TO ALABAMA ACT 2014-133

PROPERTY ADDRESS:
Lot 2, USA Mapp Subdivision
Fairhope, AL 36632

Parcel Number: 46-01-11-0-000-001.756
PPIN: 388141

APPRAISAL INFORMATION:
Appraised by: Courtney & Morris Appraisals, Inc.
Date of Appraisal: 04/25/2022
Appraised Value: $1,717,000.00

CONTRACTS RELATED TO THE PURCHASE:
Attached as Exhibit “A”

PURCHASE TERMS:
Cash Purchase

SOURCES OF FUNDS USED IN THE PURCHASE:
Unrestricted Funds

OFFICE OF REAL ESTATE SERVICES AND ASSET MANAGEMENT
775 N. University Blvd. | Suite 150 | Mobile, Alabama 36608-4548
TEL: (251) 460-6100 | FAX: (251) 461-1765 | SouthAlabama.edu
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PURCHASE AGREEMENT
FAIRHOPE SINGLE TAX CORPORATION
LEASEHOLD PROPERTY

This Purchase Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made to be effective as of the Effective Date {(as
defined in this Agreement) by and between Mapp Limited Partnership, an Alabama Limited Partnership,
(the “Selier”) and University of Scuth Alabama, a pubtic body corporate and institution of higher learning of
the State of Alabama (the "Purchaser”).

For and in consideration of Ten Dollars ($10.00} and other good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which are acknowledged, the Selier and Purchaser agree as follows:

Article One
Purchase and Sale

Section 1.01. Agreement of Purchase and Sale.

A, Fairhope Single Tax Carporation ("FSTC") is the owner of the following described
land (the "FSTC Land") located in Baldwin County, Alabama, and more particularly described as follows,
to-wit:

Lot 2 of the USA Mapp Subdivision, as shown on map or plat thereof recorded on Slide
Number 2740-E, Probate Records of Baldwin County, Alabama.

B. FSTC has leased the FSTC Land to the Seller as evidenced by a ninety-nine {99)
year ground lease dated September 9, 2020 and recorded September 11, 2020 as Instrument Number
1856965, Pages 1 through 2, in the records of the Office of the Judge of Probate of Baldwin County,
Alabama (the "FSTC Lease to the Seller”).

C. Upon and subject to the terms, provisions and conditions expressed in this
Agreement the parties agree that: (i} the Seller shall transfer and assign to the Purchaser and the Purchaser
shall acquire from the Seller an assignment of the FSTC Lease to the Seller; (i} the Seller shall convey the
Improvements thereon to the Purchaser; and (ii) the Purchaser agrees to purchase from the Seller said
leasehold interest of the Seller in the FSTC Land, the Improvements thereon and acquire a new ninety-nine
(99) year ground lease from FSTC to the Purchaser in the FSTC Land (the “FSTC Lease to the Purchaser”}.

The FSTC Land, leasehold interests and Improvements are collectively referred to in this
Agreement as the “Leasehold Property”.

Section 1.02. Permitted Exceptions. The Leasehold Property shall be conveyed subjectto FSTC
rents and ad valorem taxes for the year of the conveyance, zoning ordinances, subdivision regulations,
building restrictions, flood plain classification, utility easements and other matters which are deemed to be
Permitted Exceptions pursuant to Section 2.03. of this Agreement, including but not limited to the following
{collectively the “Permitted Exceplions”):

All of the terms and conditions of the ninety-nine (99) year ground lease from the Fairhope
Single Tax Corporation to Mapp Limited Partnership, an Alabama Limited Partnership,
dated September 9, 2020 and recorded September 11, 2020 as instrument Number
1856965, Pages 1 through 2, the terms and conditions of the Constitution and By-Laws of
the Fairhope Single Tax Corporation and the provisions of the Code of Alabama (1875)
Sections 10A-20-9.01 through 10A-20-9.05.

All of the terms and conditions of the ninety-nine {99) year ground lease from the Fairhope
Single Tax Corporation to University of South Alabama, a public body corporate and
institution of higher learning of the State of Alabama, the terms and conditions of the
Constitution and By-Laws of the Fairhope Single Tax Corporation and the provisions of the
Code of Alabama (1975) Sections 10A-20-9.01 through 10A-20-9.05,
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All oil, gas and other minerals in, on or under the above-described property and all rights
and easements in connection therewith which are owned by others.

Any potential current use rollback taxes which may be assessed against the leasehold
property.

Existing rights of way of State Highway Number 104.

Minimum Building Setback Lines, Drainage and Utility Easements, Highway Construction
Setback Line and other matters, including but not limited to, restrictions and obligations for
sidewalks and fire hydrants as shown on the recorded plat of said Subdivision.

Section 1.03. Purchase Price. The Seller shall at the Closing {as defined in this Agreement) sell,
assign, transfer and convey and the Purchaser is to purchase the Leasehold Property for a tolal of One
Million Seven Hundred Seventeen Thousand Dellars {$1,717,000.00) {the “Purchase Price™). Within three
(3) business days from the execution of this Agreement, the Purchaser shall deliver an earnest money
deposit of One Thousand and No/100 ($1,000.00) Doliars (the “Earnest Money”) to Irby & Heard, P.C. The
Earnest Money shall be applied to the Purchase Price at the closing of this transaction (*Closing”). At
Closing, the Purchaser shall pay to Seller the balance of the Purchase Price in immediately available funds.

Section 1.04. Payment of the Purchase Price. The Purchase Price shall be payable at the
Closing (as defined in this Agreement) in immediately available funds, subject to appropriate credits,
prorations and adjustments as provided in this Agreement.

Article Two
Title

Section 2.01. Commitment for Leasehold Title Insurance. The Seller instructs Irby & Heard,
P.C., to prepare and deliver to the Purchaser and Seller a commitment for an owner's leasehoid title
insurance policy (the “Owner's Leasehold Title Commitment”) from Commonwealth Land Title Insurance
Company (the "Title Company") covering the Leasehold Property, showing all matters affecting title to the
Leasehold Property and binding the Title Company to issue at the Closing (as defined in this Agreement)
the Owner's Leasehold Title Policy pursuant to Sectign 2.03. of this Agreement on the ALTA standard
leasehold form in the full amount of the Purchase Price.

Section 2.02.  Title Review Period. The Purchaser shall have until the Ciosing (the “Title Review
Period”) in which to notify the Seller, in writing, of such objections as the Purchaser may have to anything
contained in the Owner's Leasehold Title Commitment {other than standard printed exceptions and those
matters referred to in Section 1.02, of this Agreement). Any item contained in the Owner's Leasehold Title
Commitment to which the Purchaser does not object during the Title Review Period shall be deemed a
Permitted Exception. In the event the Purchaser shall notify the Seller of objections to title prior to the
expiration of the Title Review Period, the Seller shail have fifteen (15} days after receipt of notification of
such objections, or such greater period of time as may be mutually acceptable to the Purchaser and Seller
{the “Cure Period"), within which the Seller may cure or remove such objection. If the Seller fails either to
cure or remove such objection to the reasonable satisfaction of Irby & Heard, P.C., and the Purchaser prior
to the expiration of the Cure Period, and if by reason of such objection Irby & Heard, P.C, refuses to issue
the Owner's Leasehold Title Policy as provided in this Agreement, the Purchaser may either terminate this
Agreement by written notice to the Seller or waive such objection and accept such title as the Seller is able
to convey without any reduction in the Purchase Price.

Article Three
Closing

Section 3.01. Time and Place. The Closing of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement

(the “Closing™) shall be held at the offices of Irby & Heard, P.C. on or before forty-five (45) days from the
Effective Date of this Agreement, or at such time and place as mutually agreeable to the Seller and
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Purchaser. At the Closing, the Seller and Purchaser shall perform the obligations set forth in this
Agreement, respectively, the performance of which obligations shall be concurrent conditions. The Seller
and Purchaser agree that the Closing may be completed by mail rather than an in person closing.

Section 3.02.  QObligations of the Seller at the Clasing. At the Closing, the Selier shall:

Al Pursue in good faith approval through FSTC and to attempt to comply with all of
the requirements of FSTC. The obligation of the Seller or Purchaser to close the transaction contemplated
by this Agreement is contingent upon the specific approval by FSTC.

B. Deliver to FSTC and to the Purchaser all documents reasanably required by FSTC
to approve and close the transaction contemplated by this Agreement,

C. Deliver to FSTC and to the Purchaser an assignment of the FSTC Lease to the
Seller from the Seller to Purchaser satisfying the reasonable requirements of FSTC,

D. Deliver to the Purchaser a Warranty Bill of Sale {the "Warranty Bill of Sale"), a copy
of which is attached hereto and marked Exhibit "A", executed and acknowledged by the Seller in recordable
form conveying the Leasehold Property to the Purchaser, subject only to the Permitted Exceptions.

E. Deliver to the Purchaser a FIRPTA Affidavit, duly executed by the Seller and
stating that the Selier is not a "foreign person” as defined in the federal Foreign Investment in Property Tax
Act of 1980 and the 1984 Tax Reform Act.

F. Deliver to the Purchaser an Affidavit {the "Affidavit”) executed and acknowledged
by the Seller complying with the requirements of Ala. Code 1975, §40-18-86, et al. (Acts of Ala. 2008-504)
{the "Act”). The Seller and Purchaser understand that it is a condition of the Closing that the requirements
of the Act be satisfied at the Closing.

G. Deliver to the Purchaser possession and occupancy of the Leasehold Property,
subject to the Permitted Exceptions.

H. Deliver such other documents and instruments that both the attorney representing
the Seller and the attorney representing the Purchaser or Irby & Heard, P.C. may reasonably require to
properly consummate the transaction contempiated by this Agreement.

Section 3.03. Obligations of the Purchaser at the Closing. At the Closing, the Purchaser shall:

A Pursue in good faith approval through FSTC and to attempt to comply with ail of
the requirements of FSTC. The obligation of the Seller or Purchaser to close the transaction contemplated
by this Agreement is contingent upon the specific approval by FSTC.

B. Pay to the Seller the Purchase Price in immediately available funds pursuant to
Section 1.04. of this Agreement, it being agreed that at the Closing the Earnest Money shall be delivered
to the Seller and applied towards payment of the Purchase Price.

C. Deliver such other documents and instruments that the attomey representing the

Seller, tha attorney representing the Purchaser or Irby & Heard, P.C. may reasonably require to properly
consurmmate the transaction contemplated by this Agreement,

Section 3.04. Closing Costs, Credits and Prorations.

A Cosis of Closing the transaction contemplated by this Agreement shali be aliocated
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between the Selier and Purchaser as follows:

1. Tha Seller shall pay: (i) the cost of preparation of the Warranty Bill of Sale
and FSTC Lease to the Purchaser; and {ii) the cost and premium for the Owner's Leasehold Title
Commitment and the Owner's Leasehold Title Policy.

2. The Purchaser shall pay: (i) the cost of recording the Warranty Bill of Sala,
the FSTC Lease to the Purchaser and any other conveyance documents that the Purchaser may choose
to record; (i) the cost imposed by FSTC for the transfer of the FSTC Lease to the Seller and the cost
imposed by FSTC to issue the FSTC Lease to the Purchaser; {iii} the cost imposed by FSTC for the approval
of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement; and {iv} all Closing cost or similar fees of the Closing
agent.

3. All other expenses incurred by the Seller or Purchaser with respect to the
Closing, including but not limited to, attorney's fees of the Purchaser and Seller, shall be borne and paid
exclusively by the party incurring same, without reimbursement except to the extent otherwise specifically
provided in this Agreement.

B. All FSTC rents and ad valorem and similar taxes and rents {excluding
assessments which will be paid by the Selter) for the current FSTC lease year or current ad valorem tax
year relating to the Leasehold Property shall be prorated as of 12:01 a.m., on the day of the Closing, as if
the Purchaser were vested with title to the Leasehold Property during the entire day upon which the Closing
occurs. If the Closing occurs befare FSTC rents or the ad valorem tax rate are fixed for the current FSTC
rent year or current ad valorem tax year, the apportionment of FSTC rents and ad valorem taxes shall be
made on the basis of an estimated FSTC rent and ad valorem tax rate for the Leasehold Property, and
when FSTC rents and ad valorem tax rate are fixed for the FSTC rent year and ad valorem tax year in
which the Closing occurs, the Seller and Purchaser agree, one to the other, to adjust the proration of FSTC
rents and ad valorem taxes and, if necessary, to refund or pay such sums to the other party as shall be
necessary to effect such adjustment. If the Leasehold Property is not assessed as a separate parcel for
ad valorem tax or assessment purposes, then such ad valorem faxes and assessments attributable to the
Leasehold Property shall be determined by both the Seller and Purchaser. In the event the Leasehold
Property has been assessed for ad valorem property tax purposes at such rates as would resuit in "roll-
back" taxes upon the changes in land usage or ownership of the Leasehold Property, the Purchaser agrees
to pay all such taxes and indemnify and save the Seller harmiess from and against any and all claims and
liabilities for such taxes. The Purchaser shall be responsible for any taxes or penalties imposed under
Alabama Current Use Law as a result of this transaction.

C. All unpaid assessments, if any, existing as of the date of the Closing, whether due
and payable before or after the Closing, shall be paid by the Seller in cash at the Closing to the assessing
entity.

All prorations and adjustments described in this Article Three shall be effective by increasing or
decreasing, as appropriate, the amount of cash to be paid by the Purchaser to the Seller at the Closing.
The provisions of this Article Three shall survive the Closing.

Article Four
“As Is” Condition

Section 4.01.  As Is Condition. The Purchaser acknowledges and agrees with the Seller that the
Purchaser has inspected the Leasehold Property and is thoroughly familiar with the condition of the
Leasehold Property and accepts the same in its present condition. The Purchasaer acknowledges and
agrees that the Seller has not made and does not make any representations, warranties or covenants of
any kind or character whatsoever in respect to the condition of the Leasehold Property, either express or
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implied. The Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that upon the Closing, the Seller shall sell and convey
to the Purchaser and the Purchaser shall accept the Leasehold Property "As Is, Where Is" with all faults.

Section 4.02.  Inspection by the Purchaser. During the peniod beginning on the Effective Date
and ending at the Closing {as defined in this Agreement), (the “Inspection Period”) the Purchaser shall have
the right to make a physical inspection of the Leasehold Property and the Improvements, including, without
limitation, the environmental condition of the Leasehold Property and the improvements, including, without
limitation, making surveys, maps, or contour studies, performing test bores, soil tests and/or examinations,
and conducting other engineering studies. The Purchaser agrees to indemnify and hoid the Seller harmless
of and from any claim for damages or injuries arising from the inspection by the Purchaser of the Leasehold
Property and the Improvements and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, such
obligation to indemnify shall survive the Closing or any termination of this Agreement. All inspections shall
occur at reasonable times agreed upon by the Seller and Purchaser and shall be conducted so as not to
unreasonably interfere with use of the Leasehold Property and the Improvements by the Seller.

Section 4.03.  Right of Termination, The Seller agrees that in the event the Purchaser determines
that the Leasehold Property or the Improvements are not suitable for the purposes of the Purchaser, the
Purchaser shall have the right to terminate this Agreement by sending written notice of said Termination
{the "Notice of Termination”) fo the Seller prior to the expiration of the Inspection Period. Upon delivery by
the Purchaser of the Notice of Termination within the Inspection Period, this Agreement shall terminate and
the Eamest Money shall be returned to the Purchaser. if the Purchaser fails to send the Seller the Notice
of Termination as provided for in this Section 4.03., prior {0 the expiration of the Inspection Period, the
Purchaser shall no longer have any right to terminate this Agreement and shall be bound to proceed to the
Closing and consummate the transaction contemplated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.

Section 4.04. No Representations by the Seller. No representations or promises with respact to
the sale and purchase of the Leasehold Property have been made by the Seller to the Purchaser other than
expressly set forth in this Agreement. The Purchaser acknowledges and agrees that the Purchaser,
independently, without relying on any representation of the Seller nor any information provided by the Seller,
has determined to the satisfaction of the Purchaser the suitability of the Leasehold Property and that the
Purchaser is not relying on any representations or statements made by the Seller in entering into this
transaction.

Article Five
Default

Section 5.01.  Default by the Purchaser. In the event that the Purchaser fails to consummate this
Agreement for any reason, except default by the Seller or the permitted termination of this Agreement by
either the Seller or the Purchaser as expressly provided in this Agreement, the Seller shall have the right
to pursue any remedy available at law or in equity as a result of such breach, including specifically, without
limitation the right to: (i) retain the Earnest Money and terminate this Agreement and recover damages
against the Purchaser for the breach by the Purchaser of this Agreement, and (ii) enforce specific
performance of this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 5.01., if
the Purchaser, or any affiliate of the Purchaser, asserts a claim to the Leasehold Property which clouds the
title of the Seller, and if such claim is found by a court of competent jurisdiction to be without merit, then the
Seller shall have alt remedies available at law or in equity against the Purchaser. In the event of default by
the Purchaser, the Seller shall have the right to recover costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees in exercising
any default remedies under this Agreement.

Section 5.02. Default by the Seller. In the event that the Seller should fail to consummate this
Agreement for any reason, except default by the Purchaser or the permitted termination of this Agreement
by the Seller or Purchaser as expressly provided in this Agreement, the Purchaser shall have the right to
receive the return of the Earnest Money, which return shall operate to terminate this Agreement and release
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the Seller from any and all liability under this Agreement.

Article Six
Risk of Loss and Condemnation

Section 6,01,  Minor Loss or Damage. In the event of loss or damage to the Leasehold Property
(the "Damaged Premises") prior to the Closing which is not "Major” (which is defined in this Agreement),
this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and the Seller shall perform any necessary repairs or,
at the option of the Seller, the Seller shall reduce the cash portion of the Purchase Price in an amount equal
to the cost of such repairs, the Seller retaining all of the right, title and interest of the Seller to any claims
and proceeds the Seller may have with respect to any casualty insurance policies relating to the Damaged
Premises. In the event that the Seller performs repairs upon the Leasehold Property, the Seller shall use
reasonable efforts to complete such repairs promptly and the date of the Closing shall be extended a
reasonable time in order to allow for the completion of such repairs.

Section 6.02. Major Loss or Damage. In the event of a "Major™ loss or damage prior to the
Closing, the Purchaser may, at any time prior to the Closing, terminate this Agreement by written notice to
the Seller, in which event the Earnest Money shall be returned to the Purchaser. In the event the Purchaser
does not terminate this Agreement in the event of loss of a "Major” loss, this Agreement shall remain in full
force and effect and the Selier shall perform any necessary repairs or, at the option of the Seller, the Seller
shall reduce the cash portion of the Purchase Price in an amount equal to the cost of such repairs, the
Seller retaining all of the right, title and interest of the Seller {o any claims and proceeds the Seller may
have with respect to any casualty insurance policies relating to the Damaged Premises. In the event that
the Seller performs repairs upon the Leasehold Property, the Seller shall use reasonable efforts to complete
such repairs promptly and the date of the Closing shall be extended a reasonabie time in order to aliow for
the completion of such repairs. For purposes of Section 6.01. and Section §.02., "Major” loss or damage
refers to the following: (i) loss or damage to the Leasehold Property or any portion of the Leasehold
Property such that the cost of repairing or restoring the Damaged Premises to a condition substantially
identical to that of the Damaged Premises prior to the event of damage would be, in the certified opinion of
a mutually acceptable architect, equal to or greater than Fifteen Thousand Dollars ($15,000.00); or (ii) any
loss which permanently and materially impairs the current use of the Leasehold Property.

Section 6.03. Cgndemnation

A Material Condemnation. If all or a material part of the Leasehold Property is
condemned or taken by eminent domain or purchase in lieu thereof prior to the Closing, the Purchaser may
elect, by written notice to the Seller given rict later than fifteen (15) days following receipt of the notice of
condemnation to: (i) take title to the Leasehold Property without abatement or reduction of the Purchase
Price, in which case the Purchaser shall not be entitled to receive on the Closing, any condemnation
proceeds or rights of the Seller in and to any unpaid condemnation proceeds, or (i) terminate this
Agreement and receive return of the Earnest Money.

B. Immaterial Condemnation. If any immaterial part of the Leasehold Property is
taken by eminent domain or by purchase in lieu thereof prior to the Closing, this Agreement shall remain in
full force and effect, and the Purchaser shall be obligated to take title to the Leasehold Property without any
abatement or reduction of the Purchase Price. In such event, the Seller shall pay to the Purchaser on the
Closing the amount of all condemnation proceeds theretofore received by the Seller less the costs incurred
by the Seller, if any, in defending such proceeding, and the Seller shall assign to the Purchaser alil of the
rights of the Seller in and to any unpaid condemnation proceeds (less the costs incurred by the Seller, if
any, in defending such proceeding).

C. Definition of Material Taking. For the purposes of this Article Six, “material taking"
shall mean and refer to such taking as: {i) in excess of twenty percent (20%) of the Leasehold Property, (i)
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which renders use of the Leasehoid Property as contemplated by the Purchaser economically unfeasible,
or (iit) which causes the Leasehold Property to violate any zoning or land use ordinance.

Article Seven
Miscellaneous

Section 7.01. Commissjons. The Seller and Purchaser warrant each to the other (and if is
agreed that this warranty shall survive delivery of the Warranty Bill of Sale) that no broker or agent has
been employed with respect to the sale of the Leasehold Property. Each party agrees to indemnify and
hold harmless the other from any claim made by brokers or agents who claim to act for the party sought to
be charged for a commission, compensation, brokerage fees or similar payment in connection with this
transaction and against any and all expense or liability arising out of any such claim.

Section 7.02. Notices. Any notice pursuant to this Agreement shall be given in writing by (i)
personal delivery, or {ii} expedited delivery service with proof of delivery, or (iii} United States Mail, postage
prepaid, registered or cartified mail, return receipt requested, or (iv) electronic transmission (provided that
such electronic transmission is confirmed), sent o the intended addressee at the address set forth in this
Agreement, or to such other address or to the attention of such other person as the addressee shall have
designated by written notice sent in accordance with this Agreement, and shall be deemed to have been
given either at the time of personal delivery, or, in the case of expedited delivery service or mail, as of the
date of first attempted delivery at the address and in the manner provided in this Agreement, or, in the case
of electronic transmission upon receipt. Unless changed in accordance with the preceding sentence, the
addresses for notices given pursuant to this Agreement shall be as follows:

if to the Seiler: Louis E. Mapp

Via U.5. Mail: Post Office Drawer 139
Point Clear, Alabama 36564

Via Personal or Expedited Delivery: cl/o Sam W. Irby

rby & Heard, P.C.
317 Magnolia Avenue
Fairhope, Alabama 36532

with a copy to: Sam W. Irby
irby & Heard, P.C.
Via U.5. Maik Post Office Box 1031
Fairhope, Alabama 36533
Via Personal or Expedited Delivery: 317 Magnolia Avenue
Fairhope‘ Alahama ARRA2
Via Email:
If to Purchaser: William B. Grete
Via U.S. Mail and Expedited Delivery: 2451 University Hospital Drive, Suite 2-110

Mobile, Alabama 36617-2293
Via Email: wgrete@health.southalabama.edu

Section 7.03. Madifications. This Agreement cannot be changed orally, and no agreement shall
be effective to waive, change, modify or discharge this Agreement in whole or in part unless such agreement
is in writing and is signed by the parties against whom enforcement of any waiver, change, modification or
discharge is sought.

Section 7.04. Calculation of Time Periods. Unless otherwise specified, in computing any period
of time described in this Agreement, the day of the act or event after which the designated period of time
begins o run is not to be included and the last day of the period so computed is to be included, uniess such
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last day is a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday, in which event the period shall run until the end of the next
day which is neither a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday.

Section 7.05. Time of Essence. The Seller and Purchaser agree that time is of the essence of
this Agreement,

Section 7.06. Heirs, Successors and Assigns. The terms and pravisions of this Agreement are
to apply to and bind the permitted heirs, successors and assigns of the parties to this Agreement. Provided,
however, the Purchaser shall not assign any of the right or interest of the Purchaser in this Agreement
without the consent of the Seller.

Section 7.07. Entire Agreement. This Agreement contains the entire agreement between the
parties pertaining to the subject matter of this Agreement and fully supersedes all prior agreements and
understandings between the parties pertaining to such subject matter of this Agreement.

Section 7.08. Further Assurance. Each party agrees that said party will without further
consideration execute and deliver such other documents and take such other action, whether prior or
subsequent to the Closing, as may be reasonably requested by the other party to consummate more
effectively the purposes or subject matter of this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
the Purchaser shall, if requested by the Seller, execute acknowledgments of receipt with respect to any
materials delivered by the Seller to the Purchaser with respect to the Leasehold Property.

Section 7.09. Attormeys’' Fees. In the event of any controversy, claim or dispute between the
parties affecting or relating to the subject matter or performance of this Agreement, the prevailing party
shall be entitled to recover from the non-prevailing party all of the reasonable expenses, including
reasonable attorneys’ and accountants’ fees, incurred by the prevailing party.

Section 7.10.  Signatures. This Agreement and any additional amendments to this Agreement
may be executed only by hand-signatures or by electronic signature using DocuSign or other similar
technology; however, such signatures may be transmitted by facsimile or email, and any such electronic
transmissions of the signatures shall be deemed to constitute originals. In addition, either party may rely
upon any electronic transmission of any document that is properly executed by the other party. The
signature of any party thereon shall be considered for those purposes as an original signature, and the
document transmitted shall be considered to have the same binding legal effect as an original signature on
an onginal document. At the request of any party, a facsimile or scanned email document shall be re-
executed by all parties in original form. No party may raise the use of a facsimile machine or scanned
email, or the fact that any signature was transmitted through the use of a facsimile or scanned email as a
defense to the enforcement of this Agreement. Except as is expressly provided in this paragraph to the
contrary, neither the Efectronic Signatures in Global and National Commerce Act nor any paraliel,
corresponding or similar state law or regulation shall apply to the execution of this Agreement or any further
amendment to this Agreement, and neither party hereto shall be bound by any electronic signature.
Exchanges of drafts of this Agreement or any further amendment to this Agreement or email
correspondence negotiating the terms thereof are not to be deemed binding on any party.

Section 7.11. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, and all
such executed counterparts shali constitute the same agreement. It shall be necessary to account for only
one (1) such counterpart in proving this Agreement.

Section 7.12.  Severability. If any provision of this Agreement is determined by a court of
competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement shall nonetheless
remain in full force and effect.

Section 7.13. Applicable Law. This Agreement shall in all respects be govemned by and
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construed in accordance with the subslantive Federal Laws of the United States of America and the laws
of the State of Alabama.

Section 7.14. No_Third Party Beneficiary. The provisions of this Agreement and of the
documents to be executed and delivered at Closing are and will be for the benefit of the Seller and the
Purchaser only and are not for the benefit of anty third party, and accordingly, no third party shall have the
right to enforce the provisions of this Agreement or of the documents to be executed and delivered at
Closing.

Section 7.15.  Captions. The Article headings and Section headings appearing in this Agreement
are for convenience of reference only and are not intended, to any extent and for any purpose, to limit or
define the text of any Article or Section or any subsection of this Agreement.

Section 7.16. Construction. The parties acknowledge that the parties and their counsel have
reviewed and revised this Agreement and that the normal rule of construction to the effect that any
ambiguities are to be resolved against the drafting party shall not be employed in the interpretation of this
Agreement or any exhibits or amendments attached 1o this Agreement.

Section 7.17. Temmination of Agreement. it is understood and agreed that if either the Purchaser
or Seller terminates this Agreement pursuant to a right of termination granted under this Agreement, such
termination shall operate to relieve the Seller and the Purchaser from ail obligations under this Agreement,
except for such obligations as are specifically slated in this Agreement to survive the termination of this
Agreement.

Section 7.18. Survival of Covenants. Any of the representations, warmanties, covenants and
agreements of the parties, as well as any rights and benefits of the parties pertaining to a period of time
following the Closing of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement, shall survive the Closing and shall
not be merged in this Agreement.

Section 7.19  Effective Da ar fails to execute this Agreement and deliver same
to the Seller on or before 5:00 p.m., 0 | negotiations between the Seller and the Furchaser
concemning the sale of the Leasehold Froperty snal pe deemed temminated. The date of execution by the
Seller shall be deemed the Effective Date of this Agreement (the "Effective Date").

Section 7.20. Ofler. The Purchaser acknowledges that this Agreement constitutes an offer by
the Purchaser to Seller with respect to the Leasehold Property and all other matters contemplated in this
Agreement. No action by the Seller shall constitute acceptance of the offer, and this Agreement shall not
be binding upon the Seller, unless and until the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Seller.

Section 7.21  Disclosure. The law fim of Irby & Heard, P.C. represents the Seller in the
preparation of this Agreement and in this transaction. Jones Walker LLP and William Grete represent the
Purchaser in this transaction.

[SIGNATURES ON FOLLOWING PAGE]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties to this Agreement have duly executed this Agreement to be
effective as of the Effective Date.

Seller;

Mapp Limited Partnership, an Alabama Limited

Partnership
By: MEFM, Inc., an Alabama Carparation
Itg: Conaral Partnor
By:
{Affix Corporate Seal)
Executed hv the Seller this
day ¢ 2.
Purchaser:
ATTEST: University of South Alabama, a public body

corporate and institution of higher learning of the
State of Alabama

By:
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STATE OF ALABAMA

COUNTY OF BALDWIN

[, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public in and for said State and County, hereby certify that
Louis E. Mapp, whose name as President of MEFM, Inc., an Alabama Corporation, acting in its capacity as
General Partner of Mapp Limited Partnership, an Alabama Limited Partnership, is signed to the foregoing
instrument and who is known {o me, acknowledged before me on this day that, being informed of the
contents of the instrument, he, as such Cfficer and with full authority, executed the same voluntarily for and
as the act of said MEFM, Inc., an Alabama Corporation. acting in its capacity as General Partner of Mapp
Limited Partnership, an Alabama Limited Pa

........

Given under my hand and seal this

STATE OF ALABAMA NOTARY PUBLIC. Amwhswe zgrlgggcs\ _

GOUNTY OF | I MY COMMISSION EXPIRES MY,
ah nd County, hereby certify that
- whose names as
.anc f University of South Alabama,
mn of ima, is signed ta the foregoing

instrument, and who is known to me, acknowledged before me on this day that, being informed of the
contents of the instrument, they, as such officers and with full authority, executed the same voluntarily for
and on behalf of said body.

Given under my hand and seal this C

THIS INSTRUMENT PREPARED BY:

Wi,

Sam W. irby $\\\\\:6Rm",g ",

Irby & Heard, P.C. §QS>. SARTHE 0 %,

Attorneys at Law representing Mapp Limited Partnership § T ach 8, Z

Post Office Box 1031 £ i g‘} "oe, v 2

Fairhope, Alabama 36533 R : £

(251) 928-4555 Y ;g

A '*’:o o".- $

AND % ""“ \’L\‘”\*
,,’E‘OFA\. N
U

e —eg-- - —- _ ,USAHealth

Both representing Untversnty of South Alabama
2451 University Hospital Drive

Mobile, Alabama 36617-2293

(251)445-9164

FAWDDDCEUHDOCSWSS22 286\ AGREEMI00817099.DOCX

Page 11 of 14 Pages

[y



Exhibit "A"
Attached and made a part of the
Purchase Agreement

WARRANTY BILL OF SALE

STATE OF ALABAMA

COUNTY OF BALDWIN

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, Mapp Limited Partnership, an Alabama Limited
Partnership, the Grantor, for and in consideration of the sum of Ten Dollars ($10.00) and other good and
valuable consideration acknowledged to have been paid to the said Grantor by University of South
Alabama, a public body corporate and institution of higher learning of the State of Alabama, the Grantee,
does GRANT, BARGAIN, SELL AND CONVEY the improvements, and transfer the leasehold interest in,
to the said Graniee, subject to the provisions contained in this Warranty Bill of Sale, all that leasehold
property in the County of Baldwin, State of Alabama, described as follows, to-wit:

Lot 2 of USA Mapp Subdivision, according to map or plat thereof recorded on Slide 2740-
E in records in the Office of the Judge of Probate of Baldwin County, Alabama.

THE LEASEHOLD PROPERTY AND IMPROVEMENTS THEREON ARE SOLD TQ THE
GRANTEE AS IS, WHERE IS AND THE GRANTOR MAKES NO WARRANTY
WHATSOEVER, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS TO THE CONDITION OF THE
LEASEHOLD PROPERTY OR ITS MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR ANY
PURPOSE.

THIS CONVEYANCE AND THE WARRANTIES IN THIS WARRANTY BILL OF SALE ARE MADE
SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING:

All of the terms and conditions of the ninety-nine (99) year ground lease from the Fairhope
Single Tax Corporation to Mapp Limited Partnership, an Alabama Limited Partnership,
dated September 9, 2020 and recorded September 11, 2020 as Instrument Number
1856965, Pages 1 through 2, the terms and conditions of the Constitution and By-Laws of
the Fairhope Single Tax Corporation and the provisions of the Code of Alabama (1975)
Sections 10A-20-9.01 through 10A-20-8.05.

All of the terms and conditions of the ninety-nine {99) year ground lease from the Fairhope
Single Tax Corporation to University of South Alabama, a public body corporate and
institution of higher learning of the State of Alabama, the terms and conditions of the
Constitution and By-Laws of the Fairhope Single Tax Corporation and the provisions of the
Code of Alabama (1975) Sections 10A-20-8.01 through 10A-20-3.05.

Ali oil, gas and other minerals in, on or under the above-described property and all rights
and easements in connection therewith which are owned by others.
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Any potential current use rollback taxes which may be assessed against the leasehold
property.

Existing rights of way of State Highway Number 104.

Minimum Building Setback Lines, Drainage and Utility Easements, Highway Construction

Setback Line and other matiers, including but not limited to, restrictions and obligations for

sidewalks and fire hydrants as shown on the recorded plat of said Subdivision.

TOGETHER WITH ALL AND SINGULAR the rights, privileges, tenements, hereditaments and
appurtenances hereunto belonging, or in anywise appertaining.

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD unto the said Grantee, in LEASEHOLD.

And, except as to the above, and taxes and rents hereafter falling due, which are assumed by the
Grantee, the Grantor, for Grantor and for the successors and assigns of Grantor, does COVENANT AND
WARRANT to and with the said Grantee, that Grantor is seized of a leasehold interest in and to said
property and the improvements on said property, and has a good and lawful right to sell and convey the
same: that Grantor is in quiet and peaceable possession of said property; and that said property is free and
clear of all liens and encumbrances of every kind and nature whatsoever; and Grantor does WARRANT
AND WILL DEFEND the title to said leasehold property and the improvements on said ieasehold property,
and the possession of said leasehold property, unto the said Grantee, against the lawful claims and
demands of all persons whomsoever,

IN WITNESS WHEREQF, Grantor has caused this instrument to be executed on this the

day of , 2022,

Mapp Limited Partnership, an Alabama Limited
Partnership

By: MEFM, Inc., an Alabama Corporation

Its; General Partner
By:
Louis E. Mapp
fts: President

(Affix Corporate Seal)
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STATE OF ALABAMA

COUNTY OF BALDWIN

I, the undersigned authority, a Notary Public in and for said State and County, hereby certify that
Louis E. Mapp, whose name as President of MEFM, Inc.. an Alabama Corporation, acting in its capacity as
General Partner of Mapp Limited Partnership, an Alabama Limited Partnership, is signed to the foregoing
instrument and who is known fo me, acknowledged before me on this day that, being informed of the
contents of the instrument, he, as such Officer and with full authority, executed the same voluntarily for and
as the act of said MEFM, Inc., an Alabama Corporation, acting in its capacity as General Partner of Mapp

Limited Partnership, an Alabama Limited Partnership

Given under my hand and seal this

Address of Grantor:

Post Office Drawer 139
Point Clear, Alabama 36564

Address of Grantee;

775 N. University Boulevard, Suite 150
Mobile, Alabama 36608-4548

This Instrument Prepared By:
Sam W. Iroy

Irby & Heard, P.C.

Attomeys at Law

Past Office Box 1031
Fairhope, Alabama 36533
(251) 928-4555

FAWODOCSUHDOCS155\22286\AGREEMI0091 7069.00CX

day of

NOTARY PUBLIC
My Commission Expires:
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON PURCHASE OF REAL PROPERTY
PURSUANT TO ALABAMA ACT 2014-133

PROPERTY ADDRESS:
6012 Galena Drive
Mobile, AL 36608

Parcel Number: 28-04-17-2-001-083. XXX
Key Number: 490524

APPRAISAL INFORMATION:
Appraised by: ACRE Appraisals
Date of Appraisal: 07/06/2022
Appraised Value: $85,000.00

CONTRACTS RELATED TO THE PURCHASE:
Attached as Exhibit “A”

PURCHASE TERMS:
Cash Purchase

SOURCES OF FUNDS USED IN THE PURCHASE:
Unrestricted Funds

OFFICE OF REAL ESTATE SERVICES AND ASSET MANAGEMENT
775 N. University Bivd. | Suite 150 | Mobile, Alabama 36608-4548
TEL: (251) 460-6100 | FAX: (251) 461-1765 | SouthAlabama.edu



REAL ESTATE PURCHASE CONTRACT

The University of South Alabama (“Buyer”), a public body corporate of the State of
Alabama, whose principal address is 307 University Boulevard North, AD-170, Mobile, AL 36688
("Buyer's Address"), hereby agrees to buy, and Ralph Flanagan ("Seller"), whose principal address is
6012 Galena Drive, Mobile, Alabama 36608 ("Seller’s Address"), hereby agrees to sell for the

consideration and upon the terms hereinafter set forth, the real estate commonly known as:

6012 Galena Drive, Mobile, Alabama 36608
Parcel: R02 28 04 17 2 001 083.XXX (Key#: 490524)

Lot 12, Block 4 of Hillsdale Heights Subdivision according to plat
thereof recorded in Map Book 10, Page 183, of the records in the
office of the Judge of Probate, Mobile County, Alabama
TOGETHER WITH all rights, privileges, tenements, hereditaments and appurtenances

thereunto belonging, or in anywise appertaining (the “Property”).

ARTICLE 1 - Purchase Price and Condition of Property

1.1  The purchase price for the Property shall be FIFTY-EIGHT THOUSAND AND
NO/100 DOLLARS (3858,000.00) (the "Purchase Price") and shall be payable on the day of Closing
(“Closing Date") by cash, cashier's check, certified check or wire transfer. Buyer shall pay the cost of
acquiring a current title insurance policy for the benefit of Buyer, and the cost of document preparation,
including a general warranty deed. Buyer further agrees to pay other closing and settlement costs but
shall not be responsible for Seller’s attorney’s fees, if any. Property taxes shall be prorated as of the
Closing Date.

1.2 Buyer agrees to deliver earnest money in the amount of Five Hundred Dollars
($500.00) to the Title Insurance Company within ten (10) business days of the execution of this
Real Estate Purchase Contract (the "Contract"), said earnest money to be returned to Buyer in full
if the Closing of this transaction does not occur by the time specified herein due to Seller’s failure

to meet all conditions to Closing.
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1.3 Seller agrees that the proceeds of this sale shall be used to satisfy any and all
outstanding mortgages and/or liens that exist on the Property at the Closing of this transaction (the

“Closing”) before any remaining proceeds from the sale are given to Seller.

ARTICLE II- Closing
2.1  Unless otherwise extended by the provisions of the Contract or by agreement in writing
by the parties, the Closing shall be held within sixty (60) days of the signing of this Contract.

2.2 The Closing shall be held at the office of Guarantee Title Company, LLC located at
4300 Downtowner Blvd., Mobile, Alabama, 36609.

ARTICLE III - Possession

3.1  Possession shall be delivered to Buyer at Closing. Seller and Buyer acknowledge and
agree that until the Closing Date, Seller shall have possession of the Property and shall continue to pay
any and all expenses incurred by Seller, such as yard maintenance, and Seller agrees to indemnify and
hold Buyer harmless from any and all costs associated with same. Seller shall be responsible for
insuring the property during the period of Seller’s possession. Buyer shall bear no responsibility for

risk of loss prior to the time that Seller vacates the property.

ARTICLE 1V - Deed and Other Documents

4.1  Seller shall convey the Property to Buyer by recordable General Warranty Deed (the
“Deed”), conveying good and marketable title of record to the Property, in fee simple, free and clear
of all liens and encumbrances except for the lien of real property taxes not yet due and payable, any
existing easements of record, and other exceptions approved in writing by Buyer.

42  Sellershall execute and deliver with the Deed such other documents as may be required
by any governmental entity or by the title insurance company as a condition to the issuance of its policy
of title insurance in accordance with Article VI, including, but not limited to:

(@)  The standard affidavit required by the title insurance company for the removal of the
standard preprinted exceptions from the title insurance policy; and

(b) A Certificate of Non-Foreign Status or other evidence satisfactory to Buyer and the title
insurance company confirming that Buyer is not required to withhold or pay to the Internal

Revenue Service any part of the "amount realized" as such term is defined in the Internal

2



Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations promulgated pursuant thereto.

ARTICLE V - Title Insurance

5.1  Buyer shall order a title insurance commitment or preliminary title report issued by
Guarantee Title Company (referred to as “Title Insurance Company”) in which the Title Insurance
Company commits that upon delivery and recordation of the Deed and other documents provided for
in this Contract, it will issue, at its usual rate, a standard form ALTA owner's commitment with
extended coverage or comparable form, insuring access to the Property and such other endorsements
as Buyer may request (the "Policy"), insuring Buyer in the total amount of the Purchase Price, fee
simple title to the Premises subject only to (a) the lien for real estate taxes not yet due and payable; (b)
exceptions approved in writing by Buyer; and/or (c) such liens as are to be released and discharged at
the Closing. Seller agrees to provide to Buyer and the Title Insurance Company all title information
in Seller’s possession relating to the Property together with a copy of the most recent tax bills relating
to the Property.

5.2 Without limiting the foregoing or being limited thereby, the standard exceptions for
parties in possession, mechanics' and materialmen's liens and matters which would be disclosed by an
accurate survey shall be eliminated from said Policy.

5.3  While Buyer shall bear the costs and expenses incurred in connection with the issuance
of said title commitment and Policy, Seller shall bear all costs and expenses incurred in connection
with any endorsements thereto which are required to conform the Policy to the terms and conditions
of this Contract.

5.4  Ifthe title commitment or report shows any exceptions to title other than those referred
to in Article 5.1 above, Buyer shall notify Seller in writing of the defects in title within ten (10) days
after receipt of the title commitment (with copies of all documents referred to therein). Seller shall then
have ten (10) days after receipt of such notice in which to cure such defects and fumnish to Buyer
satisfactory proofthat such defects have been cured. Seller agrees to use its best efforts to cure such
defects. If Sellerfails or is unable to cure such title defects within such ten (10) day period or to obtain
title insurance which will give affirmative coverage to Buyer against loss as a result of such title
defects, Buyer shall have the option, to be exercised in its sole discretion, to (i) proceed with Closing

of this transaction subject to such title defects, or (ii) terminate this Contract.



ARTICLE VI - Taxes and Assessments

6.1  Seller shall pay or credit against the Purchase Price all unpaid real estate taxes,
including penalties and interest, for all tax years preceding the Closing Date, and shall credit a portion
of such taxes for the tax year in which the Closing is held, prorated through the Closing Date. The
proration of such taxes shall be based on a 365-day year and on the most recently available rate and

valuation and the amount so computed and adjusted shall be final.

6.2 Seller shall pay any special assessments which (a) are a lien on the Property on the
Closing Date, whether such assessments are past due, then due or thereafter to become due or (b) are

not a lien but are then known and will be payable in whole or in part after the Closing Date.

ARTICLE VII - Utility Charges
7.1  Seller shall pay or credit on the Purchase Price all unpaid utility charges and all charges

for services of any type furnished to the Property by all governmental agencies, public utilities and/or

private utilities through the Closing Date.

ARTICLE VIII - Risk of Loss
8.1  The risk of loss, damage or destruction to the Property and any improvements thereon
through condemnation, fire or otherwise shall be borne by Seller until the Closing or until Seller

delivers actual possession of the Property to Buyer, whichever is later.

ARTICLE IX - Conditions to Closing
9.1  Buyer's obligation to close this transaction is subject to the following conditions and
covenants:

(a) Easements. Buyer may obtain at or prior to Closing all other easements or licenses
deemed necessary by Buyer upon terms and conditions acceptable to Buyer. Seller
agrees to reasonably cooperate with Buyer in obtaining any such easements or
licenses.

(b) Survey. Buyer may obtain, at Buyer's sole cost, a certified ALTA survey, being a
legal description, made by a licensed surveyor, showing the area, dimensions and

location of the Property to the nearest monuments, streets, alleys or property, the
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location of all improvements, utilities and encroachments, and the location of all
proposed and recorded easements against or appurtenant to the Property. If a survey
is obtained and discloses any condition rendering the Property unusable, in Buyer's
sole judgment, for the intended purpose of Buyer, Buyer may terminate this Contract
with no penalty.

(c) Title Insurance. Buyer shall have obtained from Seller a satisfactory title insurance
commitment or preliminary title report in accordance with Article V above.

(d) Seller’s Performance. Seller shall have performed all terms, covenants and
obligations required of Seller hereunder.

(e) Environmental Audit and Testing. Buyer, at Buyer’s expense, may obtain a current
satisfactory Phase I or Phase II Environmental Audit of the Property and any other
environmental testing which Buyer deems reasonably necessary to evaluate potential
environmental risks. If such audit or tests reveal the existence of any toxic or
hazardous waste, material or substance on, under or surrounding the Property, Buyer
may terminate this Contract with no further liability to Seller.

(f) Satisfaction of all existing mortgages and/or liens.

(g) Termination of any and all leases on the property and removal of all occupants and

contents held within any structures remaining.

ARTICLE X - Notices

10.1  Unless otherwise provided herein, all notices shall be in writing and shall be deemed
effective upon the earlier of either (a) personal delivery (b) facsimile or (c) deposit in the U.S. Mail,
marked Certified or Registered, return receipt requested, with postage prepaid to Seller at 6012 Galena
Drive, Mobile, Alabama 36608, and to Buyer at 775 N. University Blvd., Suite 150, Mobile, AL
36608.

ARTICLE XI - Representations and Warranties
11.1  Seller represents, warrants and covenants to Buyer as to the following matters, and

shall be deemed to remake all of the following representations, warranties and covenants as of the

Closing Date.

(a) All covenants, conditions, restrictions, easements and similar matters affecting the

5



(b)

Property have been complied with.

There is no pending or threatened litigation, arbitration, administrative action or
examination, claim, or demand whatsoever relating to the Property or the furnishings
and equipment contained in the premises and sold as part of this Contract. No
attachments, execution proceedings, liens, assignments or insolvency proceedings are
pending, threatened or contemplated against Seller, the Property or the furnishings
and equipment contained in the premises and sold as part of this Contract. Seller is

not contemplating the institution of insolvency proceedings.

(c) Seller has no knowledge of any pending or contemplated eminent domain,

d

condemnation, or other governmental or quasi-governmental taking of any part or all
of the Property.

Seller has not been notified of any possible future improvements by any public
authority, any part of the cost of which might be assessed against any part of the
Property.

(e) To the best of Seller’s knowledge, Seller: (i) has not used the Property for the storage,

treatment, generation, production or disposal of any toxic or hazardous waste, material
or substance nor does Seller have knowledge of such use by others; (ii) has not caused
or permitted and has no knowledge of the release of any toxic or hazardous waste,
material or substance on or off site of the Property; (iii) has not received any notice
from any governmental authority or other agency concerning the removal of any toxic
or hazardous waste, material or substance from the Property; and (iv) has disclosed to

Buyer the location of all underground storage tanks on the Property (if any).

(f) No event has occurred with respect to the Property which would constitute a violation

(®

of any applicable environmental law, ordinance or regulation.

The execution and delivery of this Contract has been duly authorized and validly
executed and delivered by Seller, and will not (i) constitute or result in the breach of
or default under any oral or written agreement to which Seller is a party or which
affects the Property; (ii) constitute or result in a violation of any order, decree or
injunction with respect to which either Seller and/or the Property is/are bound; (iii)
cause or entitle any party to have a right to accelerate or declare a default under any

oral or written agreement to which Seller is a party or which affects the Property;
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and/or (iv) violate any provision of any municipal, state or federal law, statutory or
otherwise, to which either Seller or the Property may be subject.

11.2  Asaninducement to Seller to enter into this Contract, Buyer represents that Buyer
has the right, power and authority to purchase the Property in accordance with the terms and conditions
of this Contract and that Buyer has validly executed and delivered this Contract.

11.3  Except as is expressly provided in this Contract, Buyer acknowledges that neither
Seller nor any agent, attorney, employee or representative of Seller has made any representations as to

the physical nature or condition of the Property.

ARTICLE XII — Termination, Default, and Remedies.

12.1  If Buyer fails or refuses to consummate the purchase of the Property pursuant to this
Contract at the Closing or fails to perform any of Buyer’s other obligations hereunder either prior to
or at the Closing for any reason other than termination of this Contract by Buyer pursuant to a right
so to terminate expressly set forth in this Contract or Seller’s failure to perform Seller’s obligations
under this Contract, then the Seller, as Seller’s sole and exclusive remedy, shall have the right to
terminate this Contract by giving written notice thereof to Buyer prior to or at the Closing,
whereupon neither party hereto shall have any further rights or obligations hereunder.

12.2  If Seller fails or refuses to consummate the sale of the Property pursuant to this
Contract at the Closing or fails to perform any of Seller’s other obligations hereunder either prior to
or at the Closing for any reason other than the termination of this Contract by Seller pursuant to a
right so to terminate expressly set forth in this Contract, or Buyer’s failure to perform Buyer’s
obligations under this Contract, then Buyer, as Buyer’s sole and exclusive remedy, shall have the
right to terminate this Contract by giving written notice thereof to Seller prior to or at the Closing,

whereupon neither party hereto shall have any further rights or obligations hereunder.

ARTICLE XIII - Miscellaneous

13.1  This Contract shall inure to the benefit of and bind the parties hereto, their respective
heirs, executors, administrators, personal and/or legal representatives, successors and assigns.

13.2  This Contract constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and there are no
representations, oral or written, relating to the Property or to this transaction which have not been

incorporated herein. Any agreement hereafter made shall be ineffective to change, modify or discharge
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this Contract in whole or in part unless such agreement is in writing and signed by the party against
whom enforcement of any change, modification or discharge is sought.

13.3  The headings of the Articles hereof have been inserted for convenience only and shall
in no way modify or restrict any provisions hereof or be used to construe any such provisions.

13.4 If two or more persons constitute the Seller, the word "Seller" shall be construed as if
it reads "Sellers" throughout this Contract.

13.5 This Contract shall be construed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws
of the State of Alabama. The parties agree and acknowledge that the only forum for any claim against
Buyer pursuant to this Agreement is the Alabama State Board of Adjustment.

13.6 This Contract may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of which shall be
considered to be an original document.

13.7  The Effective Date shall be the date of the last execution hereof.

13.8  Time is of the essence hereof.

13.9 Any condition or right of termination, cancellation or rescission granted by this
Contract to Seller or Buyer may be waived by such party provided such waiver is in writing.

13.10 If the time period or date by which any right, option or election provided under this
Contract must be exercised, or by which any act required hereunder must be performed, or by which
the Closing must be held, expires or occurs on a Saturday, Sunday, or legal or bank holiday, then such
time period or date shall be automatically extended through the close of business on the next regularly
scheduled business day.

13.11 If any provision of this Contract, or the application thereof to any person, place, or
circumstance, shall be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, unenforceable, or void,
the remainder of this Contract and such provisions as applied to other persons, places, and

circumstances shall remain in full force and effect.

ARTICLE XIV - Acceptance

14.1 In the event this Contract is not signed simultaneously by both parties, it shall be
considered to be an offer made by the party first executing it. In such event this offer shall expire at
12:00pm NOON, Friday, July 15,2022 Central Daylight Time following the offer unless one copy of
this Contract, executed by the party to whom this offer had been made, shall have been mailed (in

accordance with Article X hereof) or personally delivered to the party making the offer.
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ARTICLE XV - Broker Agency Disclosure: 34-27-8-(c)

The selling company is:

The listing company is:

USA Properties

USA Properties

TWO BLOCKS MAY BE CHECKED

O and is an Agent of the Seller

& and is an Agent of the Buyer

O and is an Agent of both Seller and
Buyer acting as a limited

O and is assisting the [J Buyer [ Seller
as a transaction broker.

Buyer(s) initials: dz 7

TWO BLOCKS MAY BE CHECKED

O and is an Agent of the Seller

X and is an Agent of the Buyer

O and is an Agent of both Seller and
Buyer acting as a limited

O and is assisting the [J Buyer [X Seller
as a transaction broker.

Seller(s) initials: _&_ —

ARTICLE XVI - Broker Commissions

16.1 Both Buyer and Seller agree and understand that USA Properties is acting as an agent

of the Buyer in this transaction and is solely assisting Seller as a transaction broker. Seller understands

that Seller is under no obligation to pay a commission to USA Properties with respect to this

transaction.

SIGNATURES ON THE NEXT PAGE




Signed by Buyer this __15th__day of
July ,2022.

BUYER:

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA

Donna F. Tipps
Contract Officer
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Signed by Seller(s) this /94 _day of

,444’/ ,2022.

SELLER:

RALPH FLANAGAN




UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
BOARD OF TRUSTEES

SPECIAL MEETING

August 29, 2022
4:00 p.m.

A special meeting of the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees was duly convened by
Ms. Arlene Mitchell, Chair pro tempore, on Monday, August 29, 2022, at 4:00 p.m. in the Board
Room of the Frederick P. Whiddon Administration Building. Meeting attendance was open to the
public.

Members: Chandra Brown Stewart, Arlene Mitchell, Jimmy Shumock and
Jim Yance were present, and Tom Corcoran, Steve Furr,
Ron Jenkins, Bill Lewis, Lenus Perkins and Margie Tuckson
participated remotely.

Members Absent: Alexis Atkins, Scott Charlton, Ron Graham, Steve Stokes,
Mike Windom and Kay Ivey.

Administration & Guests: Owen Bailey, Jo Bonner, Camille Bonura (SGA), Kristin Dukes,
Monica Ezell, Delwar Hossain (Faculty Senate), Andi Kent,
John Marymont and Polly Stokley.

The meeting came to order, and the attendance roll was called, Item 1. Chair Mitchell called for
consideration of the revised agenda, Item 1.A. On motion by Mr. Shumock, seconded by
Mr. Yance, the revised agenda was adopted unanimously.

Chair Mitchell yielded to President Bonner, who introduced Provost Kent to explain Item 1.B as
follows. Provost Kent advised that, while a resolution awarding faculty promotion and tenure had
been approved at the June Board meeting, the names of two faculty members who were
recommended to receive promotion were inadvertently omitted from the resolution. She said the
resolution for consideration would grant promotion to these faculty members. On motion by
Mr. Shumock, seconded by Ms. Brown Stewart, the Board voted unanimously to approve the
resolution:

RESOLUTION
PROMOTION

WHEREAS, in accordance with University policy, applications for promotion from the
faculty members listed below have been reviewed by the respective faculty peers, the
departmental chair and dean of the College of Engineering, and by the Provost and
Executive Vice President, and the President, and, subsequently, these individuals are
recommended for promotion,

THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees
approves and grants promotion to the following individuals.

COLLEGE OF ENGINEERING:

Promotion to Professor:
* Na Gong
* Win-Wook Kang



USA Board of Trustees
August 29, 2022
Page 2

In accordance with the provisions of the Alabama Open Meetings Act, President Bonner
recommended that an executive session be convened for an anticipated duration of 45 minutes for
the purpose of discussing preliminary negotiations involving a matter of trade or commerce,
Item 2. He stated that Ms. Dukes had submitted the required written declaration for the minutes
and that the meeting would effectively be adjourned at the conclusion of the executive session.
On motion by Mr. Shumock, seconded by Mr. Yance, the Board voted unanimously to convene an
executive session at 4:05 p.m., as recorded below:

AYES:

+ Ms. Brown Stewart
+ Mr. Corcoran
+ Dr. Furr

+ Capt. Jenkins
- Judge Lewis
+ Ms. Mitchell
+ Mr. Perkins

+ Mr. Shumock
+ Ms. Tuckson
* Mr. Yance

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 4:52 p.m.

Attest to: Respectfully submitted:

Lenus M. Perkins, Secretary Arlene Mitchell, Chair pro tempore
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Executive Session
Special meeting of the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees on August 29, 2022.

The purpose of the executive session for the above-referenced meeting is to discuss
preliminary negotiations involving a matter of trade or commerce.

This declaration is submitted pursuant to the requirements of the Alabama Open Meetings Act by
Kristin Daniels Dukes, ASB number 6408061k.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
BOARD OF TRUSTEES

Audit Committee

June 2, 2022
1:30 p.m.

A meeting of the Audit Committee of the University of South Alabama Board of Trustees was
duly convened by Mr. Ron Graham, Chair, on Thursday, June 2, 2022, at 1:31 p.m. in the Board
Room of the Frederick P. Whiddon Administration Building. Meeting attendance was open to the
public.

Members: Alexis Atkins, Tom Corcoran, Ron Graham and Lenus Perkins were
present, and Ron Jenkins participated remotely.

Other Trustees: Chandra Brown Stewart, Steve Furr, Arlene Mitchell,
Jimmy Shumock, Steve Stokes, Margie Tuckson, Mike Windom
and Jim Yance.

Administration & Guests: Owen Bailey, Joél Billingsley, Jo Bonner, Lynne Chronister,
Kristin Dukes, Joel Erdmann, Julie Estis, Monica Ezell,
Delwar Hossain (Faculty Senate), Andi Kent, Nick Lawkis,
John Marymont, Mike Mitchell, Diana Nichols, Laura Schratt,
Jeb Schrenk, Polly Stokley and Margaret Sullivan.

Following introductory remarks by Chairman Shumock, the meeting came to order and the
attendance roll was called, Item 1. Mr. Graham called for consideration of the minutes of a meeting
held on March 10, 2022, Item 2. On motion by Mr. Perkins, seconded by Ms. Atkins, the
committee voted unanimously to adopt the minutes.

Mr. Graham called on Ms. Schratt to address Item 3, a resolution to approve a revised Audit
Committee charge. (To view resolutions, policies and other documents authorized, refer to the
minutes of the Board of Trustees meeting held on June 3, 2022.) Ms. Schratt explained the
revisions being recommended, and, on motion by Mr. Corcoran, seconded by Mr. Perkins, the
Committee voted unanimously to recommend approval of the resolution by the Board of Trustees.

Concerning Item 4, a report on the activities of the Office of Internal Audit (OIA), Ms. Schratt
presented the OIA quarterly report for the period January 1, 2022, to March 31, 2022, discussing
progress made with five key performance indicators and with recommendations made by OIA. She
also provided information on the various risk assessments performed for the general University

and USA Health sectors.

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 1:37 p.m.

Respectfully submitted:

William Ronald Graham, Chair



KPMG!

KPMG LLP

Suite 1100

One Jackson Place

188 East Capitol Street
Jackson, MS 39201-2127

June 29, 2022

Audit Committee of the Board of Trustees
University of South Alabama
Mobile, Alabama

We have audited the University of South Alabama (the University)’'s compliance with the types of compliance
requirements described in the OMB Compliance Supplement (the Supplement) that could have a direct and
material effect on each of the University’s major federal programs for the year ended September 30, 2021, and
have issued our report thereon under date of June 29, 2022. A single audit encompasses an audit of the
financial statements and a compliance audit of federal awards. Under our professional standards, we are
providing you with the accompanying information related to the conduct of our compliance audit. We have
previously provided you with the information related to the audit of the financial statements in a letter dated
November 15, 2021.

Our Responsibility under Professional Standards

We are responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on compliance for each of the University’s major
federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. The
University’s major federal programs are identified in the schedule of findings and questioned costs. We have a
responsibility to perform our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S.
Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit
Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). In carrying out this responsibility, we planned and
performed the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal
program occurred. Because of the nature of audit evidence and the characteristics of fraud, we are to obtain
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that instances of material noncompliance are detected. We have no
responsibility to plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that noncompliance, whether
caused by error or fraud, that is not direct and material to a major federal program is detected. Our audit does
not relieve management or the audit committee of their responsibilities. Instances of noncompliance that are
required to be reported in accordance with the Uniform Guidance are described in the schedule of findings and
questioned costs.

In addition, in planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered internal control over compliance
with the types of compliance requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal
program as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal control
over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the
effectiveness of internal control over compliance. However, significant deficiencies in internal control over
compliance identified during our audit have been provided to you in the schedule of findings and questioned
costs.



KPMG

Audit Committee of the Board of Trustees
University of South Alabama

June 29, 2022

Page 2 of 3

We also have a responsibility to communicate significant matters related to the audit of compliance that are, in
our professional judgment, relevant to the responsibilities of the audit committee in overseeing the financial
reporting process. We are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to
communicate to you.

Student Financial Assistance

As indicated in the schedule of findings and questioned costs, we audited the Student Financial Assistance
(SFA) cluster as a major program. We audited compliance with the types of compliance requirements described
in the Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on the SFA cluster. These requirements included
the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (GLBA) - Student Information Security special test. The three suggested audit
procedures included in the Supplement for this special test are to (1) verify that the institution designated an
individual to coordinate the information security program; (2) verify that the institution performed a risk
assessment that addresses the three required areas in 16 CFR 314.4(b); and (3) verify that the institution
documented a safeguard for each risk identified from step (2).

Our procedures over the GLBA were limited to inquiry of management and obtaining and reading
management’s documentation related to these three items. Our procedures did not include an analysis of the
overall adequacy or completeness of the risk assessment performed or the safeguards for each risk identified
by management.

Disagreements with Management

There were no disagreements with management on compliance matters that would have caused a modification
of our auditors’ reports on compliance for each major federal program or on internal control over compliance.
Management’s Consultation with Other Accountants

To the best of our knowledge, management has not consulted with or obtained opinions, written or oral, from
other independent accountants during the year ended September 30, 2021.

Significant Issues Discussed, or Subject to Correspondence, with Management

Major Issues Discussed with Management Prior to Retention

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including auditing standards and federal regulations with you and
management each year prior to our retention by you as the University’s auditors. However, these discussions
occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a condition to our
retention.

Material Written Communications

Attached to this letter please find a copy of the management representation letter, which constitutes material
written communications between management and us.

Significant Difficulties Encountered During the Audit

We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing our audit.
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Audit Committee of the Board of Trustees
University of South Alabama

June 29, 2022
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Confirmation of Audit Independence

We hereby confirm that as of June 29, 2022, we are independent accountants with respect to the University
under relevant professional and regulatory standards.

* k k k k k%

This letter to the audit committee is intended solely for the information and use of the audit committee and
management and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties.

Very truly yours,

KPMe LLP

Jackson, Mississippi
June 29, 2022
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA

June 29, 2022

KPMG LLP

188 East Capitol Street
Suite 1100

Jackson, MS 39201

Ladies and Gentlemen:

We are providing this letter to confirm our understanding that the purpose of your testing of transactions
and records relating to the University of South Alabama (the tUniversity)'s federal programs, in
accordance with Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200 (2 CFR 200), Uniform Administrative
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance), was to
obtain reasonable assurance that the University had complied, in all material respects, with the
requirements of federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of federal awards that could
have a direct and material effect on its major federal programs for the year ended September 30, 2021.

In connection with your audit of the financial statements of the business type activities and aggregate
discretely presented component units of the University as of September 30, 2021and for the year then
ended, and the related notes to the financial statemen#s for the purpose of expressing an opinion as to
whether these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position, changes
in financial position, and cash flows of the University in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles, you were previously provided with a letter of representations under date of
November 15, 2021. No information has come to our attention that would cause us to believe that any of
those previous representations should be modified.

We confirm having made such inquiries as we considered necessary for the purposes of appropriately
informing ourselves as of June 29, 2022, the following representations made to you during your single
audit:

1.e We are responsible for the design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control overe
compliance for federal programs that provides reasonable assurance that the University is managinge
federal awards in compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of thee
federal award.e

2.e We are responsible for understanding and complying with the requirements of federal statutes,e
regulations, and the terms and conditions of federal awards related to each of the University's federale
programs.e

3.e We are responsible for taking corrective action on audit findings of the compliance audit and havee
developed a corrective action plan that meets the requirements of the Uniform Guidance.e

4.e We are responsible for the design, implementation, and maintenance of intemal controls to prevente
and detect fraud in the administration of federal programs. We have no knowledge of any fraud ore
suspected fraud affecting the entity’s federal programs involving:e

a.e Management, including management involved in the administration of federal programs.e

FINANCE 8 ADMINISTRATION
307 N. UNIVERSITY BOULEVARD, SUITE AD 170, MOBILE, AL 36688-0002
TELEPHONE: (251) 460-6132
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b.e Employees who have significant roles in intemal control over the administration of federale
programs.e

c.e Others where the fraud could have a material effect on compliance with federal statutes,e
regulations, and the terms and conditions of federal awards related to its federal programs.e

We are responsible for the presentation of the schedule of expenditures of federal awards (SEFA) ine
accordance with the Uniform Guidance and:e

a.e The SEFA, including its form and content, is fairly presented in accordance with the requirementse
of the Uniform Guidance.e

b.e The SEFA includes all expenditures made during the year ended September 30, 2021 for alle
awards provided by federal agencies in the form of grants, federal cost-reimbursement contracts,e
loans, loan guarantees, cooperative agreements, interest subsidies, insurance, noncashe
assistance (such as free rent, food commodities, donated property or donated surplus property).e
direct appropriations, and other assistance.e

c.e The methods of measurement or presentation of the supplementary information have note
changed from those used in the prior period.e

d.e The significant assumptions or interpretations underlying the measurement or presentation of thee
supplementary information are reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances.e

e.e We will make the audited financial statements readily available to the intended users of the SEFAe
no later than the date of issuance by the entity of the SEFA and the auditors’ report thereon.e

Additionally, we confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, having made such inquiries as we
considered necessary for the purposes of appropriately informing ourselves, as of June 29, 2022, the
following representations made to you during your single audit:

6e

7e

8e

9.e

The University is responsible for complying, and has complied, with the requirements of the Uniforme
Guidance.e

We have identified and disclosed all of our government programs and related activities subject to thee
Uniform Guidance compliance audite

The University has designed, implemented, and maintained effective internal control over compliancee
for federal programs that provides reasonable assurance that the University is managing federale
awards in compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of the federale
award that could have a material effect on its federal programs.e

We have communicated to you all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design ore
operation of internal control over compliance that we have identified, which could adversely affect thee
University's ability to administer a major federal program in accordance with the applicablee
requirements of federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of federal awards. Undere
standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a deficiency ine
internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control does not allowe
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevente
or detect and correct on a timely basis noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of ae
federal program. A “material weakness” is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internate
control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance withe
a compliance requirement will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. Ae
“significant deficiency” is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control overe



compliance with a compliance requirement that, is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

10.eThe University has complied with requirements of federal statutes, regulations, and the terms ande
conditions of federal awards related to each of its major federal programs.e

11.eThe University has charged costs to federal awards in accordance with the applicable cost principles.e

12.eFederal program financial reports and claims for advances and reimbursements are supported by thee
accounting records from which the financial statements have been prepared.e

13.eThe copies of federal financial reports provided to you are true copies of the reports submitted, ore
electronically transmitted, to the federal agency or pass-through entity, as applicable.e

14.eWe have monitored subrecipients, as necessary, to determine that they have expended subawards ine
compliance with federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions of the subaward and havee
met the other pass-through entity requirements of the Uniform Guidance.e

15.eWe have issued management decisions on a timely basis (within six months of acceptance of thee
audit report by the FAC) for audit findings that relate to federal awards made to subrecipients.e
Additionally, management has followed up ensuring that the subrecipient takes timely and appropriatee
action on all deficiencies detected through audits, on-site reviews, and other means that pertain to thee
federal award provided to the subrecipient by the University.e

16.eWe have considered the results of subrecipient audits and have made any necessary adjustments toe
the University's accounting records.e

17 eWe have identified and disclosed to you the requirements of federal statutes, regulations, and thee
terms and conditions of federal awards that are considered to have a direct and material effect one
each major federal program.e

18.eWe have provided to you our interpretations of any compliance requirements that are subject toe
varying interpretations.e

19.eWe have made available all documentation related to the compliance requirements, includinge
information related to federal financial reports and claims for advances and reimbursements, fore
major federal programs.e

20.eWe have made available all federal awards (including amendments, if any) and any othere
correspondence relevant to federal programs and related activities that have taken place with federale
agencies or pass-through entities related to major federal programs.e

21.eWe have identified and disclosed to you all questioned costs and any known noncompliance with thee
requirements of federal awards.e

22.eWe have disclosed to you any communications from federal awarding agencies and pass-throughe
entities concerning possible noncompliance with the compliance requirements over federal programs.e
including communications received from the end of the period covered by the compliance audit to thee
date of the auditors’ report.e

23.eWe have disclosed to you the findings received and related corrective actions taken for previouse
audits, attestation engagements, and internal or external monitoring that directly relate to thee
objectives of the compliance audit, including findings received and corrective actions taken from thee
end of the period covered by the compliance audit to the date of the auditors’ report.e



24,

25.

26.
27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

We have provided you with all information on the status of the foliow-up on prior audit findings by
federal awarding agencies and pass-through entities, including all management decisions.

We are responsible for, and have accurately prepared, the summary schedule of prior audit findings
to include all findings required to be included by the Uniform Guidance.

We have advised you of all contracts or other agreements with service organizations.

We have disclosed to you all communications from the University's service organizations relating to
noncompliance at the service organizations.

We have disclosed to you whether any changes in internal control over compliance or other factors
that might significantly affect internal control over major federal programs, including any corrective
action taken by management with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in
internal control over compliance, have occurred subsequent to the period covered by the auditors’
report.

We have disclosed to you any known noncompliance relating to major federal programs occurring
subsequent to the period covered by the auditors' report.

We have disclosed to you the nature of any subsequent events that provide additional evidence with
respect to conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period that affect noncompliance over
major federal programs during the reporting period.

KPMG LLP assisted management in completing Part it, Part lIt, item 3(d), and items 4(a)-(d), and
Part IV of the data collection form. In accordance with Govemment Auditing Standards, we confirm
that we have reviewed, approved, and accept responsibility for the information included in Part Il, Part
i}, item 3(d), and items 4(a)-(d), and Part {V of the data collection form.

The reporting package does not contain protected personally identifiable information.

Very truly yours,

University of South Alabama

Q’ZM

Jo Bonner

Universily President

;olly Stokl% E 'i

interim-VicePresident-forFinance and Administration



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Basic Financial Statements and Single Audit Reporting
in Accordance with the Uniform Guidance

September 30, 2021



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

September 30, 2021

Table of Contents

Page
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudiied] 1
ndependent Audifors’ Repo 14
Basic Financial Statements:
atements of Net Position — University of Sou abama, sepiember 30, an 16
[Consolidated Statements of Financial Position — University of South Alabama Foundation|
une 30, an 17
Btatements of Net Position — USA Research and Technology Corporation, September 30)
PO d 2020 18
[Statements of Net Position — University of South Alabama Health Care Authority]
eptember 30, an 19
Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position — University of South
[Alabama, Years ended September 30, 2027 and 2020 20
[Consolidated Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets — University of South
[Alabama Foundation, Year ended June 30, 2021] 21
[Consolidated Statement of Aclivities and Changes in Net Asseis — University of South
[Alabama Foundation, Year ended June 30, 2020 22
Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position — USA Research and
|l'echnology Corporation, Years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020} 23
Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position — University of South
Alabama Health Care Authority, Years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 24
[Statements of Cash Flows — University of South Alabama, Years ended September 30)
PO d 2020 25
NotestTo RBasir FimamriaE- Statements |
Schedules of Required Supplementary Information:
Schedule of the University’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability and Related
Ratios (Unaudited) 85
Bchedule of the University’s Pension Coniribuiions (Unaudited] 86




UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

September 30, 2021

Table of Contents

Page
[Schedule of the University’'s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability and Related
Ratios (Unaudited) 87
chedule of the University’s ontribufions (Unaudite 88
otes 10 Required Supplementary schedules (Unaudiie 89
Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards:
chedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards, Year ended sepiember 30, 92
Notes 1o Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awardg 97
[ndependent Auditors™ Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliancel
and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed In Accordance]
Wwith - Government Auditing Standardg 99
[ndependent Auditors™ Report on Compliance for Each Federal Major Program; Report on]
Internal Control over Compliance; and Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal
[Awards Required by the Uniform Guidance] 101

chedule or FIndings an uestione OStS — Year ende eptembper oU, 104




UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2021 and 2020

Introduction

The following discussion presents an overview of the financial position and financial activities of the University
of South Alabama (the University), including the University of South Alabama Health System (USA Health), a
division of the University, at September 30, 2021 and 2020, and for the years then ended. This discussion has
been prepared by University management and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and
notes thereto, which follow.

The basic financial statements of the University consist of the University and its component units. The financial
position and results of operations of the component units either are blended with the University’s financial
position and results of operations or are discretely presented. The treatment of each component unit is
governed by pronouncements issued by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). As more fully
described in note 1 to the basic financial statements, the University of South Alabama Professional Liability
Trust Fund, the University of South Alabama General Liability Trust Fund and USA HealthCare Management,
LLC are reported as blended component units. The University of South Alabama Foundation, the USA
Research and Technology Corporation and the University of South Alabama Health Care Authority are
discretely presented.

Financial Highlights

At September 30, 2021 and 2020, the University had total assets and deferred outflows of $1,932,363,000 and
$1,610,872,000, respectively; total liabilities and deferred inflows of $1,590,053,000 and $1,394,594,000,
respectively; and net position of $342,310,000 and $216,278,000, respectively.

The University has experienced a significant growth in its health care operations over the past several years
incurring increases in net patient service revenues of $68,247,000, or 12%, between 2020 and 2021 and
$62,635,000, or 13%, between 2019 and 2020. Due to improved operational performance by both the
University and USA Health along with significant market growth, there was a notable increase in cash and
investment balances between 2020 and 2021, increasing by $89,871,000, or 15% to $699,693,000 at
September 30, 2021.

An overview of each statement is presented herein along with financial analysis of the transactions impacting
each statement. Where appropriate, comparative financial information is presented to assist in the
understanding of this analysis.

Analysis of Financial Position and Results of Operations
Statements of Net Position

The statements of net position present the assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, deferred inflows and net
position of the University at September 30, 2021 and 2020. Net position is displayed in three parts: net
investment in capital assets, restricted and unrestricted. Restricted net position may be either expendable or
nonexpendable and is the net position that is restricted by law or external donors. Unrestricted net position is
generally designated by management for specific purposes, and is available for use by the University to meet
current expenses for any purpose. The statements of net position, along with all of the University’s basic
financial statements, are prepared under the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting, whereby revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred by
the University, regardless of when cash is exchanged.

1 (Continued)



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)

September 30, 2021 and 2020

Assets included in the statements of net position are classified as current or noncurrent. Current assets consist
primarily of cash and cash equivalents, investments and net patient receivables. Of these amounts, cash and
cash equivalents, investments and net patient receivables comprise approximately 57%, 14% and 15%,
respectively, of current assets at September 30, 2021. Noncurrent assets consist primarily of restricted cash
and cash equivalents, restricted investments and capital assets.

The condensed schedules of net position at September 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019 follow (in thousands):

Condensed Schedules of Net Position

Assets:
Current
Capital assets, net
Other noncurrent

Total assets
Deferred outflows
Total assets and deferred outflows
Liabilities:
Current
Noncurrent
Total liabilities
Deferred inflows

Total liabilities and deferred inflows

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted, nonexpendable
Restricted, expendable
Unrestricted deficit

Total net position

2021 2020 2019
363,476 355,235 224,156
841,811 818,084 759,801
448 536 341,027 338,985

1,653,823 1,514,346 1,322,942
278,540 96,526 91,038

1,932,363 1,610,872 1,413,980
241,038 253,028 172,847

1,125,784 927,735 1,053,095

1,366,822 1,180,763 1,225,942
223 231 213,831 95,913

1,590,053 1,394,594 1,321,855
402,125 377,602 354,556
108,116 63,623 59,378

69,527 82,912 69,139
(237,458) (307,859) (390,948)
342,310 216,278 92,125

(Continued)



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2021 and 2020

Total assets and deferred outflows of the University as of September 30 is as follows:

Total Assets and Deferred Outflows
In Millions

2012 $983

2013 $1,042

2014 $1,055

2015 $1,115

2016 $1,185

2017 $1,282

2018 $1,298

2019 $1,414

2020 $1,611

2021 $1,932

$- $200 $400 $600 $800 $1,000 $1,200 $1,400 $1,600 $1,800 $2,000

Net position represents the residual interest in the University’s assets and deferred outflows after liabilities and
deferred inflows are deducted. Net position is classified into one of four categories:

Net investment in capital assets represents the University’s capital assets less accumulated depreciation and
outstanding principal balances of the debt attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those
assets.

Restricted nonexpendable net position consists primarily of the University’s permanent endowment funds. In
accordance with the policies of the University, the earnings from these funds may be expended, but the corpus
may not be expended and must remain intact with the University in perpetuity.

Restricted expendable net position is subject to externally imposed restrictions governing their use. The funds
are restricted primarily for debt service, capital projects, student loans and scholarship purposes.

Unrestricted net position represents amounts not invested in capital assets or not subject to externally imposed
stipulations. Even though these funds are not legally restricted, the majority of the University’s unrestricted net
position has been internally designated for various projects, all supporting the mission of the University.
Unrestricted net position includes funds for various academic and research programs, auxiliary operations
(including student housing and dining services), student programs, capital projects and general operations.
Also included in unrestricted net position at September 30, 2021 and 2020 is the impact of the net pension
liability recorded pursuant to the requirements of GASB Statement No. 68 and the impact of the net OPEB
liability recorded pursuant to the requirements of GASB Statement No. 75.

3 (Continued)






UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2021 and 2020

activities (primarily athletic activities). Operating expenses are those expenses paid or incurred to acquire or
produce the goods and services provided in return for the operating revenues, and to carry out the mission of
the University.

Nonoperating revenues have the characteristics of nonexchange transactions because generally no goods or
services are provided. Such transactions include investment income, state appropriations, gifts and other
contributions. State appropriations are required by GASB to be classified as nonoperating revenues.
Nonoperating expenses are those expenses required in the operation and administration of the University, but
not directly incurred to acquire or produce the goods and services provided in return for operating revenues.
Such nonoperating expenses include interest on the University’s indebtedness, losses related to the disposition
of capital assets, transfers to affiliates to fund operations and transfers to intergovernmental agencies related to
medical expenditures.

The condensed schedules of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position for the years ended
September 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019 follow (in thousands):

Condensed Schedules of Revenues, Expenses,
and Changes in Net Position

2021 2020 2019
Operating revenues:
Tuition and fees, net $ 128,040 129,644 139,871
Patient senice revenues, net 622,678 554,431 491,796
Federal, state and private grants and contracts 44 589 39,668 36,647
Other 65,388 58,949 62,527
860,695 782,692 730,841
Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits 554,587 491,791 495,123
Supplies and other senices 338,512 285,289 268,416
Other 97,399 81,216 79,492
990,498 858,296 843,031
Operating loss (129,803) (75,604) (112,190)
Nonoperating revenues and expenses:
State appropriations 126,481 123,063 115,209
Net investment income 54,294 23,378 8,203
Other, net 61,611 41,274 25,189
Net nonoperating revenues 242 386 187,715 148,601
Income before capital contributions and
grants and additions to endowment 112,583 112,111 36,411
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2021 and 2020

Tuition revenues have generally remained steady in recent years. A decline in enrollment coupled with
increases in tuition rates have caused tuition revenues to remain relatively flat. Tuition and fees, gross and net
of scholarship allowances, for the past ten fiscal years are as follows:

Tuition and Fee Revenues
In Millions

= Tuition and Fee Revenues, Gross Tuition and Fee Revenues, Net

i

=
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

s N

University expenses are presented using their natural expense classifications. A summary of University
expenses for the year ended September 30, 2021 is presented as follows:

Depreciation and Total Expenses

amortization,
5%

Interest and other
nonoperating expenses,
4%

Salaries and benefits,
r 54%
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2021 and 2020

Functional classifications represent expenses categorized based on the function within the University. Such
University functions include instruction, research, public service, academic support, student services,
institutional support, operation and maintenance of plant and scholarships. Expenses related to auxiliary
enterprise activities, USA Health and depreciation and amortization are presented separately. Functional
expense information is presented in note 17 to the basic financial statements.

In 2021 and 2020, respectively, approximately 54% and 57% of the University’s total operating expenses were
salaries and benefits.

Total Salary and Benefit Expenses
In Millions

$600

$400
$200

S-
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

For the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the University reported operating losses of approximately
$129,803,000 and $75,604,000, respectively. Operating losses are offset partially by state appropriations,
which, as mentioned earlier, are reported as nonoperating revenues. After considering all nonoperating
revenues and expenses, the total change in net position was approximately $126,032,000 and $124,153,000
for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

8 (Continued)



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2021 and 2020

USA Health represents a significant portion of total University revenues. Operating patient service revenues,
gross and net, for the last ten fiscal years are presented as follows:

Patient Service Revenues
In Millions
$1,800
$1,600
$1,400
$1,200
$1,000
$800 /
$600
$400
$200

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

e Gross Revenues Net Revenues

Statements of Cash Flows

The statements of cash flows present information related to cash flows of the University. The statements
present cash flows by category: operating activities, noncapital financing activities, capital and related financing
activities and investing activities. The net cash provided to, or used by, the University is presented by category.

Capital Assets and Debt Administration

Total capital asset additions for the University were approximately $79,103,000 and $110,120,000 in 2021 and
2020, respectively. Significant construction projects that remain in progress at September 30, 2021 include
University Commons Clinic, Freestanding Emergency Room, Supply Warehouse, the Transportation building,
Campus Storm Shelter and major upgrades of infrastructure on the University’s main campus. Major projects
completed and placed into service in fiscal year 2021 include the Medical Simulation Lab Building, Mitchell
Center renovations, Baseball Clubhouse, Hancock Whitney Stadium and MacQueen Alumni Center. At
September 30, 2021, the University had outstanding commitments of approximately $28,969,000 for various
capital projects. Additional information regarding the University’s capital assets is included in note 5.

In December 2019, the University refinanced the Series 2010 Bond with the University Facilities Revenue
Bond, Series 2019-C, with a face value of $19,086,000. In February 2020, the University issued a new
University Facilities Revenue Bond, Series 2020, with a face value of $37,005,000. The proceeds, along with
internal contributions from the University, are financing the transportation building, supply warehouse and
certain USA Health facilities. In March 2021, the University issued a new University Facilities Revenue Bond,
Series 2021, with a face value of $40,555,000. The proceeds, along with internal contributions from the
University, are financing USA Health facilities and transportation infrastructure. In July 2021, the University
refinanced the Series 2012-A Bond with the University Facilities Revenue Bond, Series 2021-B, with a face

9 (Continued)



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2021 and 2020

value of $15,387,000. The terms for Bonds 2016-B, 2016-C and 2016-D were revised in September 2021 to
address the removal of the LIBOR rate to be replaced by the ISDA-based replacement index after year ended
September 30, 2021. The dates by which the Lender may cause all of the outstanding principal on such bonds
to mature and become due and payable by the University were extended 5 years for each bond.

The University’s bond credit rating is A1 (Stable) as rated by Moody’s Investors Service and A+ (Stable) as
rated by Standard and Poor’s Global Ratings. Neither rating changed during 2021 or 2020. Moody’s Investors
Service and Standard and Poor’s Global Ratings affirmed their ratings in conjunction with their assessment of
the Series 2020 and 2021 Bond issuances. Additional information regarding the University’s debt is included in
note 7.

Economic Outlook

While, tuition and fee rates per credit hour have increased over the past ten years, there have been declines in
enrolliment since 2016. The University experienced a decline in enrollment of approximately 1% from Fall 2019
to Fall 2020 and an additional decline of 2% between Fall 2020 and Fall 2021, with declines primarily resulting
from a decrease in international student enroliment and a decrease in the number of returning students. The
enrollment trend for the University between 2012 and 2021 is as follows:

Enroliment Summary
18,000
17,000
16,000
15,000
14,000 —
13,000
12,000

Head-count Enrollment

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2021 and 2020

During the same period, in-state tuition per credit hour for in-person classes has increased by approximately
30%. Similar increases have been experienced in out-of-state tuition and College of Medicine tuition. Web
tuition has decreased slightly during that period. The trend of in-state tuition per credit hour between 2012 and
2021 is as follows:

Tuition per Credit Hour
$400

$250

$200
$150
$100

Cost of Tuition per Credit Hour

$50

$-
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2021 and 2020

A state appropriation in the amount of approximately $121,564,000 and $118,299,000 was authorized and
received for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. Additional appropriations of
approximately $4,017,000 and $900,000 were received during fiscal year 2021 for advancement and
technology, and certain academic and healthcare initiatives. An additional appropriation of approximately
$4,764,000 was received during fiscal year 2020 for advancement and technology, and certain healthcare
initiatives. A state appropriation in the amount of approximately $129,098,000, representing an increase of
approximately 6.2%, has been authorized for the year ending September 30, 2022. While no announcement
has been made, the University is aware that reductions in the 2022 appropriation are possible.

The ten-year trend of state appropriations for the University is as follows:

State Appropriations
In Millions

$140
$120

STy

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

o O O o

® State appropriations Actual u State appropriations Inflation Adjusted
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (Unaudited)
September 30, 2021 and 2020

In addition to state appropriations, the University is subject to declines in general economic and political
conditions in the United States and, specifically, the State of Alabama. Weakening of the economy, as well as
changes in federal and state funding policies, could potentially have a negative impact on the University’s
enrollment, extramural funding, endowment performance and health care operations.

During the second fiscal quarter of 2020, The United States was thrust into the midst of a pandemic health
crisis related to the spread of the 2019 novel coronavirus, or COVID-19 (the “Crisis”). While the impact of the
pandemic has been managed to date, the ultimate economic impact on the operations of the University could
be significant both from an operational and financial standpoint.

As a result of the Crisis, the University moved the delivery of all instruction to an on-line format in March 2020
and required that students, where possible, vacate on-campus residence halls, resulting in a pro-rata refund of
housing and dining fees. Additionally, all instruction for the 2020 May and summer terms was delivered online
and residence halls remained largely closed. The University returned to modified in-person delivery of
education for the 2020 fall semester and residence halls reopened at a lower capacity level. The University
returned to normal operations for the Fall 2021 semester.

This Crisis also impacted the operations of USA Health, initially, as most elective procedures at USA University
Hospital and USA Children’s and Women’s Hospital were postponed or canceled resulting in a decline in
revenues. As of the end of fiscal 2020 and throughout fiscal year 2021, USA Health operations have returned to
a normal level with minimum impact on the finances of USA Health.

Management has taken a number of actions to mitigate the anticipated declines in operations, including a
reduction of operational expenses throughout the University, including USA Health. Additionally, the University
has taken all necessary steps to ensure that the University takes full advantage of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief
and Economic Security Act of 2020 (the “CARES Act”). As of September 30, 2021, the University (including
USA Health) has been awarded $93,064,000 in CARES Act, and other funding from federal and state sources
for COVID-19 relief. Of this amount $68,749,000 was awarded in the year-ended September 30, 2021 and
$24,315,000 was awarded in the year-ended September 30, 2020. Of the total amounts awarded $58,249,000
and $11,350,000 have been recognized as nonoperating revenue in the statements of revenues, expenses and
changes in net position for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Other than the issues presented above, University administration is not aware of any other currently known
facts, decisions, or conditions that are expected to have a significant effect on the University’s financial position
or results of operations during fiscal year 2022 or beyond.

Requests for Information

These basic financial statements are designed to provide a general overview of the University of South
Alabama and its component units’ financial activities and to demonstrate the University’s accountability.
Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional information should
be addressed to Polly Stokley; Senior Associate Vice President for Finance and Administration; University of
South Alabama Administration Building Room 170; Mobile, Alabama 36688. These basic financial statements
can be obtained from our website at
http:www.southalabama.edu/departments/financialaffairs/businessoffice/statements.html.
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KPMG LLP

Suite 1100

One Jackson Place

188 East Capitol Street
Jackson, MS 39201-2127

Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Trustees
University of South Alabama:

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business type activities and aggregate
discretely presented component units of University of South Alabama, a component unit of the State of
Alabama, (the University), as of and for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, and the related notes
to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the University’s basic financial statements for the years
then ended as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audits. We did not audit
the financial statements of the University of South Alabama Foundation, which represent 92% and 93%,
respectively, of total assets and 98% and 99%, respectively, of net assets or net position as of June 30, 2021
and 2020, and 67% and 49%, respectively, of total revenues, gains and other support for the years then ended
of the discretely presented component units. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report
has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the University of
South Alabama Foundation, is based solely on the report of the other auditors. We conducted our audits in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General
of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. The financial
statements of the University of South Alabama Foundation were not audited in accordance with Government
Auditing Standards.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
14
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Opinions

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of the other auditors, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the business type activities and
the aggregate discretely presented component units of the University of South Alabama as of September 30,
2021 and 2020, and the respective changes in financial position and where applicable, cash flows thereof for
the years then ended in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Other Matters

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles require that the management’s discussion and analysis on pages
1-13, the schedule of the University’s proportionate share of the net pension liability and related ratios,
schedule of the University’s pension contributions, schedule of the University’s proportionate share of the net
OPERB liability and related ratios, and the schedule of the University’s OPEB contributions on pages 85—88 be
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and
other knowledge we obtained during our audits of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated November 15, 2021
on our consideration of the University’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters.
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of
the University’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the University’s internal
control over financial reporting and compliance.

KPMa LP

Jackson, Mississippi
November 15, 2021
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Statements of Net Position
September 30, 2021 and 2020

(In thousands)

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments

Patient receivables (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $84,639 in 2021

and $74,026 in 2020)
Accounts receivable, other
Notes receivable, net
Prepaid expenses, inventories, and other

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Restricted investments
Investments
Other noncurrent assets and accounts receivable
Capital assets, net

Total noncurrent assets
Total assets
Deferred outflows
Total assets and deferred outflows

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Unrecognized revenues
Deposits
Current portion of other long-term liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities:
Long-term debt, less current portion
Net pension liability
Net other postemployment benefits liability
Other long-term liabilities, less current portion

Total noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities
Deferred inflows
Total liabilities and deferred inflows

Net position:

Net investment in capital assets

Restricted, nonexpendable:
Scholarships
Other

Restricted, expendable:
Scholarships
Other

Unrestricted deficit

Total net position

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

2021 2020
$ 207,064 237,573
50,181 35,831
53,826 45,796
31,528 16,694
6,839 7,321
14,038 12,020
363,476 355,235
82,261 50,805
298,144 265,620
62,043 19,993
6,088 4,609
841,811 818,084
1,290,347 1,159,111
1,653,823 1,514,346
278,540 96,526
1,932,363 1,610,872
109,769 113,363
91,715 101,731
3,032 3,386
6,747 6,515
29,775 28,033
241,038 253,028
465,924 443,321
315,591 294,615
260,646 103,288
83,623 86,511
1,125,784 927,735
1,366,822 1,180,763
223,231 213,831
1,590,053 1,394,594
402,125 377,602
38,771 32,898
69,345 30,725
37,721 24,699
31,806 58,213
(237,458) (307,859)
$ 342,310 216,278
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA FOUNDATION
(Discretely Presented Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
June 30, 2021 and 2020

(In thousands)

Assets 2021 2020
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,490 2,633
Investments:
Equity securities 238,006 157,457
Timber and mineral properties 171,385 168,063
Real estate 19,904 53,455
Other 5,809 5,811
Other assets 448 453
Total assets $ 437,042 387,872
Liabilities and Net Assets
Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 205 155
Other liabilities 894 594
Total liabilities 1,099 749
Net assets:
Without donor restrictions 62,043 79,835
With donor restrictions 373,900 307,288
Total net assets 435,943 387,123
Total liabilities and net assets $ 437,042 387,872

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
(Discretely Presented Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Statements of Net Position
September 30, 2021 and 2020

(In thousands)

2021 2020
Assets:
Current assets:
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents $ 1,565 819
Rent receivable 198 187
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 22 19
Total current assets 1,785 1,025
Noncurrent assets:
Intangible assets, net 205 215
Capital assets, net 19,877 19,738
Total noncurrent assets 20,082 19,953
Deferred outflows 921 1,089
Total assets and deferred outflows 22,788 22,067
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Deposits, other current liabilities, and accrued expenses 323 202
Unrecognized rent revenue 431 353
Current portion of notes payable 1,342 7,950
Total current liabilities 2,096 8,505
Noncurrent liabilities:
Notes payable, excluding current portion 19,379 12,531
Total noncurrent liabilities 19,379 12,531
Total liabilities 21,475 21,036
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 282 555
Unrestricted 1,031 476
Total net position $ 1,313 1,031

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA HEALTH CARE AUTHORITY
(Discretely Presented Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Statements of Net Position
September 30, 2021 and 2020

(In thousands)

Assets:
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

Patient receivables (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of

$2,117 in 2021 and $450 in 2020)
Inventories
Other current assets

Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets

Total assets

Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accrued salaries and wages
Unrecognized revenue
Current portion of capital lease obligations

Total current liabilities

Noncurrent liabilities:
Other noncurrent liabilities
Capital lease obligations, less current portion

Total liabilities

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Unrestricted (deficit)

Total net position

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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2021 2020
3,524 2,576
2,641 1,552

74 32
2,199 614
8,438 4,774
5,348 1,932

13,786 6,706
3,923 2,258
2,064 2,535
770 1,640

14 19
6,771 6,452

195 —

10 24
6,976 6,476
5,165 1,889
1,645 (1,659)
6,810 230




UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020

(In thousands)

Operating revenues:

Tuition and fees (net of scholarship allowances of $39,392 in 2021 and $38,995
in 2020) $

Patient service revenues (net of provision for bad debts of $96,820 in 2021 and
$99,459 in 2020)

Federal grants and contracts

State grants and contracts

Private grants and contracts

Auxiliary enterprises (net of scholarship allowances of $1,218 in 2021 and $1,206
in 2020)

Other operating revenues

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits
Supplies and other services
Scholarships and fellowships
Utilities
Depreciation and amortization

Total operating expenses

Operating loss

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
State appropriations
Net investment income
Interest expense
Other nonoperating revenues
Other nonoperating expenses

Net nonoperating revenues

Income before capital contributions and grants and additions to endowment

Capital contributions and grants
Additions to endowment

Increase in net position

Net position:
Beginning of year

End of year $

2021 2020
128,040 129,644
622,678 554,431

25,652 21,814
9,127 8,884
9,810 8,970

18,507 19,038

46,881 39,911

860,695 782,692
554,587 491,791
338,512 285,289

27,270 15,464

15,144 15,515

54,985 50,237

990,498 858,296

(129,803) (75,604)

126,481 123,063
54,294 23,378
(11,765) (9,543)
101,325 64,035
(27,949) (13,218)
242,386 187,715
112,583 112,111

5,555 6,631
7,894 5,411
126,032 124,153
216,278 92,125
342,310 216,278

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA FOUNDATION
(Discretely Presented Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Consolidated Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets
Year ended June 30, 2021

(In thousands)

Without Donor With Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total
Revenues, gains, losses and other support:
Net realized and unrealized gains on
investments $ 5,204 56,052 61,256
Rents, royalties and timber sales 3,342 133 3,475
Interest and dividends 1,126 1,332 2,458
Gifts 1 511 512
Required match of donor contributions (11) 11 —
Interfund interest (165) 165 —
Other income 83 — 83
Allocation of Brookley (16,773) 16,773 —
Net assets released from program
restrictions 8,365 (8,365) —
Total revenues, gains, losses and
other support 1,172 66,612 67,784
Expenditures:
Program services:
Faculty support 2,694 — 2,694
Scholarships 1,130 — 1,130
Other academic programs 7,039 — 7,039
Total program service expenditures 10,863 — 10,863
Management and general 2,276 — 2,276
Other investment expense 1,625 — 1,625
Depletion expense 4,157 — 4,157
Depreciation expense 43 — 43
Total expenditures 18,964 — 18,964
Change in net assets (17,792) 66,612 48,820
Net assets — beginning of year 79,835 307,288 387,123
Net assets — end of year $ 62,043 373,900 435,943

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA FOUNDATION
(Discretely Presented Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Consolidated Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets
Year ended June 30, 2020

(In thousands)

Without Donor With Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total
Revenues, gains, losses and other support:
Net realized and unrealized gains (losses) on
investments $ (3,741) 14,488 10,747
Rents, royalties and timber sales 3,810 148 3,958
Interest and dividends 1,081 1,101 2,182
Gifts 1 5,294 5,295
Required match of donor contributions (5) 5 —
Interfund interest (350) 350 —
Other income 390 — 390
Net assets released from program
restrictions 8,365 (8,365) —
Total revenues, gains, losses and
other support 9,551 13,021 22,572
Expenditures:
Program services:
Faculty support 2,632 — 2,632
Scholarships 1,114 — 1,114
Other academic programs 6,851 — 6,851
Total program service expenditures 10,597 — 10,597
Management and general 2,293 — 2,293
Other investment expense 1,546 — 1,546
Depletion expense 4,485 — 4,485
Depreciation expense 40 — 40
Total expenditures 18,961 — 18,961
Change in net assets (9,410) 13,021 3,611
Net assets — beginning of year 89,245 294,267 383,512
Net assets — end of year $ 79,835 307,288 387,123

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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USA RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
(Discretely Presented Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position
Years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020

(In thousands)

2021 2020
Operating revenues $ 3,795 3,961
Operating expenses:
Building management and operating expenses 1,090 1,163
Depreciation and amortization 1,173 1,161
Legal and administrative fees 219 221
Insurance 36 29
Total operating expenses 2,518 2,574
Operating income 1,277 1,387
Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Interest expense (998) (1,085)
Other 3 8
Net nonoperating expenses (995) (1,077)
Increase in net position 282 310
Net position:
Beginning of year 1,031 721
End of year $ 1,313 1,031

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA HEALTH CARE AUTHORITY
(Discretely Presented Component Unit of the University of South Alabama)

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

Years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020

(In thousands)

Operating revenues:
Patient service revenues (net of provision for bad debts of
$2,065 in 2021 and $643 in 2020)
Other operating revenues

Total operating revenues

Operating expenses:
Salaries and benefits
Building and equipment expenses
Medical and surgical supplies
Other expenses
Depreciation and amortization

Total operating expenses
Operating loss

Nonoperating revenues:
Investment income
Support from University of South Alabama
Interest expense
Other nonoperating revenues

Total nonoperating revenues
Increase (decrease) in net position
Net position at beginning of year

Net position at end of year

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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2021 2020

27,906 18,581
2,208 1,196
30,114 19,777
33,283 22,992
5,317 2,787
3,922 2,194
6,666 4,769
583 415
49,771 33,157
(19,657) (13,380)
2 5
25,765 10,478
(1) —

471 196
26,237 10,679
6,580 (2,701)
230 2,931
6,810 230




UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020

(In thousands)

2021 2020
Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts related to tuition and fees $ 129,312 127,260
Receipts from and on behalf of patients and third-party payers 632,531 561,967
Receipts from grants and contracts 41,186 38,627
Receipts related to auxiliary enterprises 18,965 19,237
Payments to suppliers and vendors (405,550) (301,683)
Payments to employees and related benefits (468,316) (474,360)
Payments for scholarships and fellowships (33,012) (14,574)
Other operating receipts 33,943 19,402
Net cash used in operating activities (50,941) (24,124)
Cash flows from noncapital financing activities:
State appropriations 126,481 123,063
Endowment gifts 7,894 5,411
Agency funds received 1,654 2,537
Agency funds disbursed (2,171) (1,851)
Student loan program receipts 137,743 144,694
Student loan program disbursements (135,445) (145,725)
Other nonoperating revenues 76,567 119,217
Other nonoperating expenses (56,255) (14,298)
Net cash provided by noncapital financing activities 156,468 233,048
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Capital contributions and grants 5,555 6,631
Purchases of capital assets (77,898) (101,589)
Proceeds from sales of capital assets 94 18
Proceeds from issuance of capital debt 50,535 64,528
Principal payments on capital debt (25,787) (40,988)
Interest payments on capital debt (19,501) (15,699)
Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (67,002) (87,099)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest and dividends on investments 9,208 8,582
Purchases of investments (108,189) (119,852)
Proceeds from sales of investments 61,403 107,360
Net cash used in investing activities (37,578) (3,910)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 947 117,915
Cash and cash equivalents (unrestricted and restricted):
Beginning of year 288,378 170,463
End of year $ 289,325 288,378
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Statements of Cash Flows

Years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Operating loss

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Changes in assets and liabilities, net:
Student receivables
Net patient receivables
Grants and contracts receivables
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses, inventories, and other
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Unrecognized revenues

Net cash used in operating activities

Noncash investing, noncapital financing, and capital and related financing transactions:
Net increase in fair value of investments recognized as a component of investment

income
Addition of capital leases
Gifts of capital, investments and other assets
Capitalization of construction period interest
Decrease in accounts payable related to capital assets

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements.

(In thousands)
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2021 2020
(129,803) (75,604)
54,985 50,237
1,574 (1,568)
(8,030) 7,308
(5,522) (2,452)
(17,790) (18,447)
(7,743) 11,936
62,162 4,252
2,629 214
(47,538) (24,124)
56,087 14,980
2,572 3,584
4,592 115
3,677 4,662
(289) (2,967)



UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Reporting Entity

On May 3, 1963, the Governor of Alabama signed enabling legislation creating the University of South
Alabama (the University). The accompanying basic financial statements present the financial position
and activities of the University, which is a component unit of the State of Alabama.

The financial reporting entity, as defined by Governmental Accounting Standards Board

(GASB) Statement No. 14, The Financial Reporting Entity, and amended by GASB Statement No. 39,
Determining Whether Certain Organizations Are Component Units, GASB Statement No. 61, The
Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus, and GASB Statement No. 80, Blending Requirements for Certain
Component Units, consists of the primary government and all of its component units. Component units
are legally separate organizations for which the primary government is financially accountable. In
addition, the primary government may determine, through exercise of management’s professional
judgment, that the inclusion of an organization that does not meet the financial accountability criteria is
necessary in order to prevent the reporting entity’s financial statements from being misleading. In such
instances, that organization is included as a component unit. Accordingly, the basic financial
statements include the accounts of the University, as the primary government, and the accounts of the
entities discussed below as component units.

GASB Statement No. 61 amended GASB Statements No. 14 and No. 39, and provides criteria for
determining whether certain organizations should be reported as component units based on the nature
and significance of their relationship with the primary government. Such criteria include the
appointment of a voting majority of the board of the organization, the ability to impose the will of the
primary government on the organization and the financial benefits/burden between the primary
government and the potential component unit. The statement also clarifies reporting and disclosure
requirements for those organizations. Based on these criteria as of September 30, 2021 and 2020, the
University reports the University of South Alabama Foundation (USA Foundation), the USA Research
and Technology Corporation (the Corporation) and the University of South Alabama Health Care
Authority (HCA) as discretely presented component units. Each of these entities issues separate
audited financial statements, which can be obtained by contacting Polly Stokley, Senior Associate Vice
President for Finance and Administration, University of South Alabama Administration Building 170,
Mobile, Alabama 36688.

The University is also affiliated with the South Alabama Medical Science Foundation (SAMSF), Gulf
Coast TotalCare (Gulf Coast) and the University of South Alabama Foundation for Research and
Commercialization (FRAC). These entities are considered component units of the University under the
provisions of GASB Statements No. 14, 39, 61 and 80. However, these entities are not presented in the
accompanying financial statements as the University does not consider them significant enough to
warrant inclusion in the University’s reporting entity.

GASB requires the University, as the primary government, to include in its basic financial statements,
as a blended component unit, organizations that, even though they are legally separate entities, meet
certain requirements. Based on these requirements, the University reports the Professional Liability

Trust Fund (PLTF), General Liability Trust Fund (GLTF), USA HealthCare Management, LLC (HCM),
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(c)

(d)

(e)

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020

Jaguar Realty, LLC, USA Health Physician Billing Services, LLC, USA Health Hospital Billing Services,
LLC, USA Health Anesthesia Billing Services, LLC, USA Health MCI Business Services, LLC, USA
Health Children’s and Women'’s Provider Based Clinics, LLC and USA Health Reference Lab Billing
Services, LLC as blended component units. All significant transactions among the University and its
blended component units have been eliminated.

Professional Liability and General Liability Trust Funds

The medical malpractice liability of the University is maintained and managed in its separate
Professional Liability Trust Fund in which the University, HCM, SAMSF and HCA are the only
participants. In accordance with the bylaws of the PLTF, the president of the University is responsible
for appointing members of the PLTF policy committee. Additionally, the general liability of the
University, HCM, SAMSF, the Corporation and HCA is maintained and managed in its General Liability
Trust Fund for which the University is responsible. The PLTF and GLTF are separate legal entities,
which are governed by the University Board of Trustees through the University president. As such,
PLTF and GLTF are reported as blended component units (see note 18 for further discussion of, and
disclosure for, these entities).

USA HealthCare Management, LLC

In June 2010, the University’s Board of Trustees approved the formation of USA HealthCare
Management, LLC. HCM was organized for the purpose of managing and operating on behalf of, and
as agent for, substantially all of the health care clinical enterprise of the University. The University is the
sole member of HCM. HCM commenced operations in October 2010, and is reported as a blended
component unit (see note 18 for further discussion of, and disclosure for, this entity).

USA Health Billing Limited Liability Companies

In fiscal year 2019, the University formed the USA Health Physician Billing Services, LLC, USA Health
Hospital Billing Services, LLC, USA Health Anesthesia Billing Services, LLC and USA Health
Reference Lab Billing Services, LLC as not-for-profit limited liability companies, whereby the University
is the sole member. In fiscal year 2021, the University formed USA Health MCI Business Services, LLC
and USA Health Children’s and Women'’s Provider Based Clinics, LLC as not for profit limited liability
companies, whereby the University is the sole member. These companies were created to assist with
the complex patient and insurance billing of USA Health, a division of the University that includes two
hospitals and a cancer treatment center.

University of South Alabama Health Care Authority

In May 2017, the University’s Board of Trustees approved the formation of the University of South
Alabama Health Care Authority (HCA). The HCA is a public corporation created under and pursuant to
the provisions of the State of Alabama University Authority Act of 2016. The HCA employs physicians
and staff of certain physician practice groups as determined appropriate by the University. Operations
commenced on August 1, 2017. HCA presents its financial statements in accordance with GASB.
During fiscal year 2020, three not for profit limited liability companies were formed. There was no
financial activity for these entities during fiscal year 2020 or 2021. The HCA is a sole member of two of
these limited liability companies and the majority owner of the third limited liability company. During
fiscal year 2021, two additional not-for-profit limited liability companies were formed. There was no
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020

financial activity for these entities during fiscal year 2021. HCA is a sole member of these limited
liability companies. Based on these requirements, HCA reports Mobile Heart USA, LLC, USA HCA
OBGYN Services, LLC, USA HCA PBC, LLC, USA Health Industrial Medicine, LLC, USA Health IPA,
LLC and USA Health, LLC as blended component units. The majority owned limited liability company,
USA BC ASC Holdco, LLC, is anticipated to be an equity method investment. USA BC ASC Holdco,
LLC also 100% owns USA Baldwin County ASC, LLC. There was no financial activity in this entity in
the year ended September 30, 2021. Since inception, HCA’s operations have been partially funded by
the University, with total support amounting to $25,765,000 during the year ended September 30, 2021
and $10,478,000 during the year ended September 30, 2020. This support is reported in nonoperating
expenses on the University’s statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. Due to
the significance of the relationship between the University and HCA, the HCA is considered a
component unit of the University. The accompanying statements of net position and statements of
revenues, expenses, and changes in net position for HCA as of and for the years ended September 30,
2021 and 2020 are discretely presented.

University of South Alabama Foundation

The University of South Alabama Foundation is a not-for-profit corporation that was organized for the
purpose of promoting education, scientific research, and charitable purposes, and to assist in
developing and advancing the University in furthering, improving, and expanding its properties,
services, facilities, and activities. Because of the significance of the relationship between the University
and the USA Foundation, the USA Foundation is considered a component unit of the University. The
Board of Directors of the USA Foundation is not appointed or controlled by the University. The
University receives distributions from the USA Foundation primarily for scholarship, faculty and other
support. Total distributions received or accrued by the University for the years ended September 30,
2021 and 2020 were $10,698,000 and $10,280,000, respectively, and are included primarily in other
nonoperating revenues and capital contributions and grants in the University’s statements of revenues,
expenses, and changes in net position. The USA Foundation presents its financial statements in
accordance with standards issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). The USA
Foundation is reported in separate financial statements because of the difference in the financial
reporting format since the USA Foundation follows FASB rather than GASB pronouncements. The USA
Foundation has a June 30 fiscal year end, which differs from the University’s September 30 fiscal year
end. In accordance with GASB Statement No. 14 and GASB Statement No. 61, the University has
included the Foundation’s statements as of June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020 in the University’s
financial statements for the years ended September 30, 2021 and September 30, 2020, respectively.
The accompanying consolidated statements of financial position and consolidated statements of
activities and changes in net assets for the USA Foundation as of and for the years ended June 30,
2021 and 2020 are discretely presented.

USA Research and Technology Corporation

USA Research and Technology Corporation is a not-for-profit corporation that exists for the purpose of
furthering the educational and scientific mission of the University by developing, attracting, and
retaining technology and research industries in Alabama that will provide professional and career
opportunities to the University’s students and faculty. Because of the significance of the relationship
between the University and the Corporation, the Corporation is considered a component unit of the
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020

University. The Corporation presents its financial statements in accordance with GASB. The
accompanying statements of net position and statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net
position for the Corporation as of and for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 are discretely
presented.

Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting

For financial reporting purposes, the University is considered a special purpose governmental agency
engaged only in business type activities, as defined by GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial
Statements — and Management’s Discussion and Analysis for State and Local Governments, as
amended by GASB Statement No. 35, Basic Financial Statements and Management’s Discussion and
Analysis for Public Colleges and Universities. Accordingly, the University’s basic financial statements
have been presented using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting. Under the accrual basis, revenues are recognized when earned, and expenses are
recorded when an obligation has been incurred.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires that management make estimates and assumptions affecting the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, as well as disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

In particular, laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid programs are extremely
complex and subject to interpretation. As a result, there is at least a reasonable possibility that
recorded estimates related to these programs could change by a material amount in the near term.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are defined as petty cash, demand accounts, certificates of deposit, and
any short-term investments that take on the character of cash. These investments have maturities of
less than three months at the time of purchase and include repurchase agreements and money market
accounts.

Investments and Investment Income

The University reports the fair value of investments using the three-level hierarchy established under
GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application. The fair value of alternative
investments (low-volatility multi-strategy funds of funds) and certain private equity partnerships do not
have readily ascertainable market values and the University values these investments in accordance
with valuations provided by the general partners or fund managers of the underlying partnerships or
companies, typically based on net asset value (NAV) of the partnership or commingled vehicle.
Because some of these investments are not readily marketable, the estimated fair value is subject to
uncertainty and, therefore, may differ from the fair value that would have been used had a ready
market for the investment existed. Investments received by gift are recorded at fair value at the date of
receipt. Changes in the fair value of investments are reported in net investment income.
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UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020

Derivatives

The University has adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 53, Accounting and Financial
Reporting for Derivative Instruments. GASB Statement No. 53 establishes a framework for accounting
and financial reporting related to derivative instruments, requiring the fair value of derivatives to be
recognized in the basic financial statements. At September 30, 2021 and 2020, the University had two
hedging derivative instruments, interest rate swaps, in effect. In accordance with hedge accounting, the
changes in fair values of the interest rate swaps are reported as changes in deferred inflows and
outflows and the fair values of the interest rate swaps are recognized in other long-term liabilities and
deferred inflows and outflows on the statements of net position since the interest rate swaps were
deemed effective.

(m) Deferred Outflows and Inflows of Resources

(n)

(o)

(p)

Deferred outflows of resources consist of employer contributions to the Teacher’s Retirement System
of Alabama and the Public Education Employees Health Insurance Plan subsequent to the plan’s
measurement dates, changes in proportion and differences between employer contributions and
proportionate share of contributions related to the OPEB plan, changes in actuarial and other
assumptions related to the pension plan, changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps and the loss
on the defeasement of certain bond amounts.

Deferred inflows of resources consist of the proportionate share of the differences between expected
and actual experience related to the pension plan, net difference between projected and actual
earnings on pension and OPEB plan investments, changes of assumptions in the OPEB plan, changes
in proportion and differences between employer contributions and proportionate share of contributions
in pension and OPEB plans, changes in the fair values of interest rate swaps and gain on the refunding
of certain bond amounts.

Bond Premiums, Discounts, and Loss on Extinguishment Costs

Bond premiums, discounts, and loss on extinguishment costs associated with the issuance of certain
bond series are capitalized and amortized over the life of the respective bond series on a straight-line
basis in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.

Accounts Receivable

Patient receivables primarily result from hospital and ambulatory patient service revenues. Accounts
receivable — other includes amounts due from students, the federal government, state and local
governments, or private sources in connection with reimbursement of allowable expenditures made
pursuant to the University’s grants and contracts. Accounts and patient receivables are recorded net of
estimated uncollectible amounts.

Inventories

The University’s inventories primarily consist of medical supplies and pharmaceuticals. Medical
supplies and pharmaceuticals are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market.
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Capital Assets

Capital assets are recorded at cost, if purchased, or, if donated, at fair value at the date of donation.
Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful life of each class of depreciable assets using the
straight-line method. Major renewals and renovations are capitalized. Costs for repairs and
maintenance are expensed when incurred. When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost
and related accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and the gain or loss, if any, is
included in nonoperating revenues (expenses) in the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes
in net position.

All capital assets other than land are depreciated using the following asset lives:

Buildings, infrastructure and certain

building components 40 to 100 years
Fixed equipment 10 to 20 years
Land improvements 8 to 20 years
Library materials 10 years
Other equipment 4 to 15 years

Certain buildings are componentized for depreciation purposes.

Interest costs for certain constructed assets are capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring
those assets. The amount of interest capitalized for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020
was approximately $3,677,000 and $4,662,000, respectively.

The University evaluates impairment in accordance with GASB Statement No. 42, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Impairment of Capital Assets and for Insurance Recoveries. For the years
ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, no impairments were recorded.

Unrecognized Revenues

Student tuition, fees, and dormitory rentals are initially recorded as unrecognized revenues and then
recognized over the applicable portion of each school term. In fiscal years 2020 and 2021, USA Health
received Advanced Medicare funding, which is reported as unrecognized revenues in the 2020 and
2021 statements of net position.

Cost Sharing Multiple-Employer Pension Plan

Employees of the University are covered by a cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension
plan (the Plan) administered by the Teachers’ Retirement System of Alabama (TRS). The TRS
financial statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and accrual basis
of accounting. Contributions are recognized as revenues when earned, pursuant to Plan requirements.
Benefits and refunds are recognized as expenses when due and payable in accordance with the terms
of the Plan. Expenses are recognized when the corresponding liability is incurred, regardless of when
the payment is made. Investments are reported at fair value. Financial statements are prepared in
accordance with requirements of the GASB. Under these requirements, the Plan is considered a

32 (Continued)



(®

(u)

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020

component unit of the State of Alabama and is included in the State’s Comprehensive Annual Financial
Report.

Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB)

Employees of the University are covered by a cost sharing multiple-employer other post employment
benefit plan administered by the Alabama Retired Education Employees Health Care Trust (Trust). The
Trust’s financial statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and
accrual basis of accounting. This includes for purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense,
information about the fiduciary net position of the Trust and additions to/deductions from the Trust’'s
fiduciary net position. Plan member contributions are recognized in the period in which the
contributions are due. Employer contributions are recognized when due pursuant to plan requirements.
Benefits are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the Plan. In
accordance with GASB, the Trust is considered a component unit of the State of Alabama and is
included in the State’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.

Classification of Net Position

The University’s net position is classified as follows:

Net investment in capital assets reflects the University’s total investment in capital assets, net of
outstanding debt obligations related to those capital assets. To the extent debt has been incurred but
not yet expended for capital assets, such debt is excluded from the calculation of net investment in
capital assets.

Restricted, honexpendable net position consists of endowment and similar type funds for which donors
or other outside sources have stipulated, as a condition of the gift instrument, that the principal is to be
maintained inviolate and in perpetuity, and invested for the purpose of producing present and future
income, which may either be expended or added to principal.

Restricted, expendable net position includes resources that the University is legally or contractually
obligated to spend in accordance with restrictions imposed by external parties.

Unrestricted net position represents resources derived from student tuition and fees, state
appropriations, patient service revenues, sales and services of educational activities and auxiliary
enterprises. Auxiliary enterprises are substantially self-supporting activities that provide services for
students, faculty and staff. While unrestricted net position may be designated for specific purposes by
action of management or the Board of Trustees, they are available for use at the discretion of the
governing board to meet current expenses for any purpose. Substantially all unrestricted net position is
designated for academic and research programs and initiatives and capital programs.

When an expense is incurred that can be paid using either restricted or unrestricted resources, the
University addresses each situation on a case-by-case basis prior to determining the resources to be
used to satisfy the obligation.
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(v) Scholarship Allowances and Student Financial Aid

Student tuition and fees, and certain other revenues from students, are reported net of scholarship
discounts and allowances in the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position.
Scholarship discounts and allowances are the difference between the stated charge for goods and
services provided by the University and the amount paid by students and/or third parties making
payments on the students’ behalf. Certain governmental grants, such as Pell grants and other federal,
state, or nongovernmental programs are recorded as either operating or nonoperating revenues in the
University’s basic financial statements based on their classification as either an exchange or a
nonexchange transaction. To the extent that revenues from such programs satisfy tuition and fees and
certain other student charges, the University has recorded a scholarship discount and allowance.

(w) Donor Restricted Endowments

(%)

(v)

The University is subject to the “Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act” (UPMIFA) of
the Code of Alabama. This law allows the University, unless otherwise restricted by the donor, to spend
net appreciation, realized and unrealized, of the endowment assets. The law also allows the University
to appropriate for expenditure or accumulate to an endowment fund such amounts as the University
determines to be prudent for the purposes for which the endowment fund was established. The
University’s endowment spending policy provides that 4.5% of the five-year invested net asset moving
average value (inclusive of net realized and unrealized gains and losses), as measured at

September 30, is available annually for spending. The University’s policy is to retain the endowment
net interest and dividend income and net realized and unrealized appreciation with the endowment
after distributions allowed by the spending policy have been made. These amounts, unless otherwise
directed by the donor, are included in restricted expendable net position.

Classification of Revenues

The University has classified its revenues as either operating or nonoperating revenues.

Operating revenues include activities that have the characteristics of exchange transactions such as
student tuition and fees, net of scholarship discounts and allowances; patient service revenues, net of
provision for bad debts; most federal, state, and local grants and contracts; and sales and services of
auxiliary enterprises, net of scholarship allowances.

Nonoperating revenues include activities that have the characteristics of nonexchange transactions,
such as state appropriations, investment income and gifts and contributions.

Gifts and Pledges

Pledges of financial support from organizations and individuals representing an unconditional promise
to give are recognized in the basic financial statements once all eligibility requirements, including time
requirements, have been met. In the absence of such a promise, revenue is recognized when the gift is
received. Endowment pledges generally do not meet eligibility requirements, as defined by

GASB Statement No. 33, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nonexchange Transactions, and are
not recorded as assets until the related gift has been received. Unconditional promises that are
expected to be collected in future years are recorded at the present value of the estimated future cash
flows.
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(z) Grants and Contracts

The University has been awarded grants and contracts for which funds have not been received or
expenditures made for the purpose specified in the award. These awards have not been reflected in
the basic financial statements, but represent commitments of sponsors to provide funds for specific
research or training projects. For grants that have allowable cost provisions, the revenue will be
recognized as the related expenditures are made. For grants with work completion requirements, the
revenue is recognized as the work is completed. For grants without either of the above requirements,
the revenue is recognized as it is received.

(aa) Patient Service Revenues and Electronic Health Records Incentive Program

Patient service revenues are reported at estimated net realizable amounts due from patients,
third-party payers and others for healthcare services rendered, including estimated retroactive
revenue adjustments due to future audits, reviews and investigations. Retroactive adjustments are
considered in the recognition of revenue on an estimated basis in the period the related services are
rendered and such amounts are adjusted in future periods, as adjustments become known or as years
are no longer subject to such audits, reviews and investigations.

(bb) Compensated Absences

The University accrues annual leave for employees as incurred at rates based upon length of service
and job classification.

(cc) Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In 2021, the University adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities, which
addresses the criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of all state and local governments. The
University also adopted provisions of GASB Statement, No. 90, Majority Equity Interests, in 2021. This
Statement specifies that a majority equity interest in a legally separate organization should be
reported as an investment using the equity method, with certain exceptions, if a government holding of
the equity interest meets the definition of an investment. There was no significant impact to the
University in 2021 related to these statements.

In 2020, the University adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 88, Certain Disclosures
Related to Debt, Including Direct Borrowings and Direct Placements, which updates the information
that is disclosed in the financial statements related to debt. There was no significant impact to the
University in the adoption of this statement.

Income Taxes

The University is classified as both a governmental entity under the laws of the State of Alabama and as a
tax-exempt entity under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code as an organization described

in Section 501(c)(3). Consistent with these designations, no provision for income taxes has been made in
the accompanying basic financial statements.

In addition, the University’s discretely presented component units, except for HCA, are tax-exempt entities
under Section 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code as organizations described in Section 501(c)(3). The
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income of HCA is excluded from federal and state income taxation pursuant to the provisions of
Section 115(1) of the Internal Revenue Code. Consistent with these designations, no provision for income
taxes has been made in the accompanying discretely presented component unit financial statements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Pursuant to the Security for Alabama Funds Enhancement Act, funds on deposit may be placed in an
institution designated as a qualified public depository (QPD) by the State of Alabama. QPD institutions
pledge securities to a statewide collateral pool administered by the State Treasurer’s office. Such financial
institutions contribute to this collateral pool in amounts proportionate to the total amount of public fund
deposits at their respective institutions. The securities are held at the Federal Reserve Bank and are
designated for the State of Alabama. Additional collateral was not required for University funds on deposit
with QPD institutions. At September 30, 2021 and 2020, the net public deposits subject to collateral
requirements for all institutions participating in the pool totaled approximately $16.5 billion and $14.2 billion,
respectively. The University had cash and cash equivalents, including restricted cash and cash equivalents,
in the pool of $289,325,000 and $288,378,000 at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

At September 30, 2021, restricted cash and cash equivalents consist of $2,586,000 related to cash
included in the PLTF and GLTF to pay insurance liability claims, $56,972,000 of unspent proceeds from the
issuance of University bonds for capital purchases as outlined in the bond indenture, $11,287,000 related
to collateral requirements of interest rate swaps, $9,129,000 related to restricted donations related to
certain capital projects, and $2,287,000 related to endowment funds. At September 30, 2020, restricted
cash and cash equivalents consist of $1,183,000 related to cash included in the PLTF and GLTF to pay
insurance liability claims, $31,958,000 of unspent proceeds from the issuance of University bonds for
capital purchases as outlined in the bond indenture, $9,468,000 related to collateral requirements of
interest rate swaps, $6,887,000 related to restricted donations related to certain capital projects, and
$1,309,000 related to endowment funds.

Investments
(a) University of South Alabama

The investments of the University are invested pursuant to the University of South Alabama
“Nonendowment Cash Pool Investment Policies,” the “Endowment Fund Investment Policy,” and the
“Derivatives Policy” (collectively referred to as the University Investment Policies) as adopted by the
Board of Trustees. The purpose of the nonendowment cash pool investment policy is to provide
guidelines by which commingled funds not otherwise needed to meet daily operational cash flows can
be invested to earn a maximum return, yet still maintain sufficient liquidity to meet fluctuations in the
inflows and outflows of University operational funds. Further, endowment fund investment policies exist
to provide earnings to fund specific projects of the endowment fund, while preserving principal. The
University Investment Policies require that management apply the “prudent person” standard in the
context of managing its investment portfolio.

The investments of the blended component units of the University are invested pursuant to the
separate investment policy shared by the PLTF and GLTF (the Trust Fund Investment Policy.) The
objectives of the Trust Fund Investment Policy are to provide a source of funds to pay general and
professional liability claims and to achieve long-term capital growth to help defray future funding
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requirements. Additionally, certain investments of the University’s component units, both blended and
discretely presented, are subject to The Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act
(UPMIFA) as well as any requirements placed on them by contract or donor agreements.

Certain investments, primarily related to the University’s endowment assets, are pooled. The University
uses this pool to manage its investments and distribute investment income to individual endowment
funds.

Investments and restricted investments of the University, by type, at fair value, are as follows at
September 30, 2021 and 2020 (in thousands):

2021 2020

U.S. Treasury securities $ 13,202 12,033

U.S. federal agency notes 58,057 73,994

Commingled equity funds 117,826 92,882

Commingled fixed income funds 90,056 42127

Marketable equity securities 54,701 36,728

Marketable debt securities 12,394 12,749

Private equity 21,514 14,805
Managed income alternative investments

(low-volatility multi-strategy funds of funds) 42,618 36,126

$ 410,368 321,444

At September 30, 2021 and 2020, restricted investments consist of endowment funds, funds held in the
PLTF and GLTF to pay insurance liability claims and funds related to collateral requirements of the
interest rate swaps.

At September 30, 2021 and 2020, $42,307,000 and $28,113,000, respectively, of cumulative
appreciation in fair value of investments of donor-restricted endowments was recognized and is
included in restricted expendable net position in the accompanying statements of net position.

The University invests in several private equity funds. At September 30, 2021, the University had
capital commitments to those funds of $5,344,000.
(i) Credit Risk and Concentration of Credit Risk

Nonendowment Cash Pool Investment Policy

The University Investment Policies limit investment in corporate bonds to securities with a minimum
“A” rating, at the time of purchase, by both Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s. Investments in
corporate paper are limited to issuers with a minimum quality rating of P-1 by Moody’s, A-1 by
Standard and Poor’s or F-1 by Fitch.
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Additionally, the University Investment Policies require that not more than 10% of the cash, cash
equivalents and investments of the University be invested in the obligations of a single private
corporation and not more than 35% of the cash, cash equivalents and investments of the University
be invested in the obligations of a single government agency.

Endowment Fund Investment Policy

The University Investment Policies limit investment in fixed income securities to securities with a
minimum “BAA” rating, at the time of purchase, by both Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s. Money
Market Funds selected shall contain securities whose credit rating at the absolute minimum would
be rated investment grade by Standard and Poor’s, and/or Moody’s. Investment in fixed income
securities within the fixed income portfolio shall be restricted to only investment grade bonds rated
“BAA” or higher. Any investment in below investment grade bonds shall be considered an equity or
fixed income alternative investment.

Additionally, the University Investment Policies require that not more than 5% of the Endowment
Fund assets of the University be allocated to an individual investment manager and no more than
25% of the Endowment Fund assets be allocated to a “Funds of Funds” or multi-manager fund.
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The University’s exposure to credit risk and concentration of credit risk at September 30, 2021 and

2020 is as follows:

Federal National Mortgage Association

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation
Federal Home Loan Banks

Federal Farm Credit Banks Funding Corporation
Common Fund Bond Fund

PIMCO Pooled Bond Fund

MSIFT Ultra Fixed Income Funds

US Treasury securities

Marketable debt securities

Federal National Mortgage Association

Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation
Federal Farm Credit Banks Funding Corporation
Common Fund Bond Fund

PIMCO Pooled Bond Fund

US Treasury securities

Marketable debt securities

39

2021
Percentage
Credit of total
rating investments
AAA 1.3 %
AAA 3.1
AAA 4.9
AAA 4.9
A+ 5.2
BAA+/AA/A 12.6
AAAf 4.1
AAA 3.2
BBB- to AAA 3.0
2020
Percentage
Credit of total
rating investments
AAA 49%
AAA 13.5
AAA 3.1
AAA 6.5
BAA+/AA/A 6.6
AAA/AA+ 3.7
BBB- to AAA 4.0
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Inferest Rate Risk

At September 30, 2021 and 2020, the maturity dates of the University’s fixed income investments
are as follows (in thousands):

2021
Years to maturity
Fair value Less than 1 1-5 6-10 More than 10
U.S. Treasury securities $ 13,202 1,201 6,848 5,153 —
U.S. federal agency notes 58,057 — 45183 4984 7,890
Marketable debt securities 12,394 1,634 5,084 5,278 398
Commingled fixed income
funds 90,056 33,425 31,700 3,660 21,270
$ 173,709 36,260 88,815 19,075 29,558
2020
Years to maturity
Fair value Less than 1 1-5 6—-10 More than 10
U.S. Treasury securities $ 12,033 1,938 4,263 5,832 —
U.S. federal agency notes 73,994 — 65,666 — 8,328
Marketable debtsecurities 12,749 1,805 6,204 4163 577
Commingled fixed income
funds 42 127 1,379 1,501 3,467 35,780
$ 140,903 5122 77,634 13,462 44 685

Commingled fixed income funds are classified based on the weighted average maturity of the
individual investment instruments within each fund.

The University’s Investment Policies do not specifically address the length to maturity on investments
which the University must follow; however, they do require that the maturity range of investments be
consistent with the liquidity requirements of the University.

Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a failure of the counterparty to a transaction, an
organization will not be able to recover the value of investment or collateral securities that are in
the possession of an outside party. The University’s investments are held by third party institutions
in the name of the University. The University’s Investment Policies do not specifically address
custodial credit risk.

Mortgage-Backed Securities

The University, from time to time, invests in mortgage-backed securities such as the Federal Home
Loan Mortgage Corporation (FHLMC), the Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA), and other
government sponsored enterprises of the United States government. The University invests in these
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securities to increase the yield and return on its investment portfolio given the available alternative
investment opportunities.

Fair Value Measurement

Fair value measurements represent the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
The University measures and records its investments using fair value measurement guidelines
established by GASB Statement No. 72. These guidelines prioritize the inputs of valuation
techniques used to measure fair value, as follows:

e Level 1: Quoted prices for identical investments in active markets;
o Level 2: Observable inputs other than quoted market prices; and,

e Level 3: Unobservable inputs

The level in the fair value hierarchy that determines the classification of an asset or liability
depends on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Observable
inputs are derived from quoted market prices for assets or liabilities traded on an active market
where there is sufficient activity to determine a readily determinable market price. Investments that
are not traded on an active exchange and do not have a quoted market price are classified as
unobservable inputs. The University’s assets that have unobservable inputs consist of the
investment in real estate, with fair value based on an independent third party appraisal performed
by qualified appraisers specializing in real estate investments, and of investments in private capital,
with fair value determined by the investment managers and primarily utilizes management
assumptions and best estimates after considering internal and external factors. Other assets
included in the University’s investment portfolio with unobservable inputs are the shares or units in
certain partnerships or other commingled funds that do not have readily determinable fair values.
For these funds, fair value is estimated using the net asset value reported by the investment
managers as a practical expedient to fair value. Such investments have not been categorized
within the fair value hierarchy. The fair value amounts presented in this table are intended to permit
reconciliation of the fair value hierarchy to the amounts presented in the statements of net position.
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The following tables summarize the fair value measurements for all investment assets and liabilities

carried at fair value as of September 30, 2021 and 2020 (in thousands):

Asset fair value measurements at September 30, 2021

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
U.S. Treasury securities $ 13,202 — — 13,202
U.S. federal agency notes — 58,057 — 58,057
Commingled equity funds 67,833 49,993 — 117,826
Commingled fixed income funds 68,786 21,270 — 90,056
Marketable equity securities 54,701 — — 54,701
Marketable debt securities 12,394 — — 12,394
Private equity — — 19,510 19,510
Total investments
at fair value $ 216,916 129,320 19,510 365,746
Investments measured at NAV:
Private equity 2,004
Managed income alternative
investments (low volatility
multi-strategy funds of
funds) 42,618
Total investments $ 410,368

Liability fair value measurements at September 30, 2021

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Interest rate exchange
agreements $ — 38,317 — 38,317
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Asset fair value measurements at September 30, 2020

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
U.S. Treasury securities $ 12,033 — — 12,033
U.S. federal agency notes — 73,994 — 73,994
Commingled equity funds 54,336 38,546 — 92,882
Commingled fixed income funds 21,183 20,944 — 42127
Marketable equity securities 36,728 — — 36,728
Marketable debt securities 12,749 — — 12,749
Private equity — — 13,473 13,473

Total investments
at fair value $ 137,029 133,484 13,473 283,986

Investments measured at NAV:
Private equity 1,332
Managed income alternative
investments (low volatility
multi-strategy funds of
funds) 36,126

Total investments $ 321,444

Liability fair value measurements at September 30, 2020
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Interest rate exchange
agreements $ — 50,162 — 50,162

A rollforward schedule of amounts for Level 3 financial instruments for the fiscal years ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020 is as follows (in thousands):

Private equity

Description 2021 2020
Beginning balance $ 13,473 11,638
Purchases 1,674 790
Net realized/unrealized gains (losses) 5,408 1,477
Sales (1,045) (432)
Ending balance $ 19,510 13,473
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(b) University of South Alabama Foundation
Investments in securities consist primarily of equity securities totaling $238,006,000 and $157,457,000
at June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Investment income was comprised of the following for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
(in thousands):

2021 2020

Unrealized gains $ 54,502 7,651
Realized gains 6,754 3,096
Timber sales 2,660 3,190
Interest and dividends 2,458 2,182
Rents 753 705
Royalties 62 63

$ 67,189 16,887

Investment related expenses in the amounts of $437,000 and $368,000 are included in the USA
Foundation’s management and general expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of
activities and changes in net assets for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Real estate at June 30, 2021 and 2020 consisted of the following property held (in thousands):

2021 2020
Land and land improvements — held for investment $ 18,826 52,423
Building and building improvements — held for investment 1,078 1,032
$ 19,904 53,455

Timber and mineral properties are stated at fair value. Depletion of mineral properties is recognized
over the remaining producing lives of the properties based on total estimated production and
current-period production. Depletion of timber properties is recognized on a specific identification basis
as timber rights are sold or on a unit basis for sales made on that basis. Reforestation costs consisting
of site preparation and planting of seedlings are capitalized.

Investments at June 30, 2021 and 2020, include an equity interest in a timberland management
company. The company’s primary assets consist of timberland. The Foundation’s proportionate share
of the fair value of the company is based upon the valuation from the trustee responsible for the
management of the company and the timber valuation.

The USA Foundation has adopted Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 820, Fair Value
Measurement and Disclosures. ASC 820 provides a single definition of fair value and a hierarchical
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framework for measuring it, as well as establishing additional disclosure requirements about the use of
fair value to measure assets and liabilities. Fair value measurements are classified as either
observable or unobservable in nature. Observable fair values are derived from quoted market prices for
investments traded on an active exchange or in dealer markets where there is sufficient activity and
liquidity to allow price discovery by substantially all market participants (Level 1). The USA
Foundation’s observable values consist of investments in exchange-traded equity securities with a
readily determinable market price. Other observable values are fair value measurements derived either
directly or indirectly from quoted market prices (Level 2). Investments that are not traded on an active
exchange and do not have a quoted market price are classified as unobservable (Level 3). The USA
Foundation’s unobservable values consist of investments in timber and real estate with fair values
based on independent third-party appraisals performed by qualified appraisers specializing in timber
and real estate investments.

The USA Foundation’s investment assets at June 30, 2021 and 2020, are summarized based on the
criteria of ASC 820 as follows (in thousands):

Fair value measurements at June 30, 2021

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Equity securities $ 134,997 — — 134,997
Timber and mineral

properties — — 171,385 171,385
Real estate — — 19,904 19,904
Other investments — — 5,809 5,809
$ 134,997 — 197,098 332,095

Investment in Commonfund
measured at NAV 103,009
$ 435,104
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Fair value measurements at June 30, 2020

Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Equity securities $ 105,487 — — 105,487
Timber and mineral

properties — — 168,063 168,063
Real estate — — 53,455 53,455
Other investments — — 5,811 5,811
$ 105,487 — 227,329 332,816

Investment in Commonfund
measured at NAV 51,970
$ 384,786

For the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, activity in investment assets valued at fair value based
on unobservable values is as follows (in thousands):

2021
Timber and
mineral Other
Description properties Real estate investments Total
Beginning balance $ 168,063 53,455 5,811 227,329
Net unrealized gains
(losses) 7,184 (2,571) () 4,611

Reforestation 295 — — 295
Purchase of timberland — 14 — 14
Sale of real estate — (30,959) — (30,959)
Depreciation/depletion (4,157) (35) — 4,192)
Ending balance $ 171,385 19,904 5,809 197,098
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2020
Timber and
mineral Other
Description properties Real estate investments Total
Beginning balance $ 164,307 61,508 5,809 231,624
Net unrealized gains
(losses) 8,030 (8,019) 2 13

Reforestation 351 — — 351
Purchase of timberland 20 — — 20
Sale of timberland (160) — — (160)
Depreciation/depletion (4,485) (34) — 4,519)
Ending balance $ 168,063 53,455 5,811 227,329

As of June 30, 2021, the USA Foundation has no outstanding commitments to purchase securities or
other investments. Additionally, substantially all of the USA Foundation’s equity securities at June 30,
2021 are considered readily liquid. Timber and mineral properties, real estate, and other investments
are generally considered illiquid.
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(5) Capital Assets
(@) University of South Alabama

A summary of the University’s capital asset activity for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020
follows (in thousands):

2021
Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
Capital assets not being
depreciated:
Land and other $ 28,722 1,394 27 — 30,143
Construction-in-progress 149,675 41,907 (115,399) — 76,183
178,397 43,301 (115,372) — 106,326
Capital assets being
depreciated:
Land improvements 58,176 1,781 11,872 — 71,829
Buildings, fixed equipment,
and infrastructure 857,612 16,230 101,201 (33) 975,010
Other equipment 250,432 12,419 2,299 (3,343) 261,807
Library materials 82,438 5,372 — — 87,810
1,248,658 35,802 115,372 (3,376) 1,396,456
Less accumulated depreciation
for:
Land improvements (27,477) (3,180) — — (30,657)
Buildings, fixed equipment,
and infrastructure (344,332) (27,602) (80) 33 (371,981)
Other equipment (172,521) (20,704) 80 2,928 (190,217)
Library materials (64,641) (3,475) — — (68,116)
(608,971) (54,961) — 2,961 (660,971)
Capital assets
being
depreciated, net 639,687 (19,159) 115,372 (415) 735,485
Capital assets, net $ 818,084 24,142 — (415) 841,811

At September 30, 2021, the University had commitments of approximately $28,969,000 related to
various construction projects.
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Capital assets not being
depreciated:
Land and other
Construction-in-progress

Capital assets being
depreciated:
Land improvements
Buildings, fixed equipment,
and infrastructure
Other equipment
Library materials

Less accumulated depreciation
for:
Land improvements
Buildings, fixed equipment,
and infrastructure
Other equipment
Library materials

Capital assets
being
depreciated, net

Capital assets, net

$

$

September 30, 2021 and 2020

2020
Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
24,382 4,331 9 — 28,722
97,030 83,432 (30,787) — 149675
121,412 87,763 (30,778) — 178,397
48,408 1,020 8,748 — 58,176
838,191 7,857 19,131 (7,567) 857,612
243,278 9,799 2,899 (5,544) 250,432
78,757 3,681 — — 82,438
1,208,634 22,357 30,778 (13,111) 1,248 658
(25,128) (2,349) — — (27,477)
(325,100) (25,352) — 6,120 (344,332)
(158,694) (19,183) — 5,356 (172,521)
(61,323) (3,318) — — (64,641)
(570,245) (50,202) — 11,476 (608,971)
638,389 (27,845) 30,778 (1,635) 639,687
759,801 59,918 — (1,635) 818,084

At September 30, 2020, the University had commitments of approximately $14,513,000 related to

various construction projects.
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(b) USA Research and Technology Corporation

September 30, 2021 and 2020

Changes in capital assets for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 are as follows (in

thousands):

Land $

Land improvements
Buildings
Tenantimprovements
Other equipment
Construction in progress -
nondepreciable

Less accumulated depreciation
for:
Land improvements
Buildings
Tenantimprovements
Other equipment

Capital assets, net $

2021

Beginning Ending

balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
223 — — — 223
1,985 — — — 1,985
28,465 88 — (34) 28,519
1,975 438 596 (520) 2,489
381 20 — (11) 390
— 712 (596) — 116
33,029 1,258 — (565) 33,722
(1,500) (95) — — (1,595)
(10,249) (749) — 34 (10,964)
(1,233) (241) — 520 (954)
(309) (32) — 9 (332)
(13,291) (1,117) — 563 (13,845)
19,738 141 — (2) 19,877
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2020
Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
Land $ 223 — — — 223
Land improvements 1,985 — — — 1,985
Buildings 28,452 13 — — 28,465
Tenantimprovements 1,974 4 — (3) 1,975
Other equipment 387 — — (6) 381
Construction in progress -
nondepreciable 10 — — (10) —
33,031 17 — (19) 33,029
Less accumulated depreciation
for:
Land improvements (1,406) (94) — — (1,500)
Buildings (9,502) (747) — — (10,249)
Tenantimprovements (1,001) (233) — 1 (1,233)
Other equipment (282) (32) — 5 (309)
(12,191) (1,1086) — 6 (13,291)
Capital assets, net $ 20,840 (1,089) — (13) 19,738
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(c) Health Care Authority
A summary of HCA'’s capital assets activity for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 follows:

2021
Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
Capital assets notbeing depreciated:
Construction in progress 395 2,245 (395) — 2,245
Works of art $ 1 — — — 1
396 2,245 (395) — 2,246
Capital assets being depreciated:
Leasehold improvements 271 348 395 — 1,014
Equipment 2,039 1,328 — — 3,367
Computer software 51 78 — — 129
2,361 1,754 395 — 4510
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Leasehold improvements (34) (51) — — (85)
Equipment (790) (517) — — (1,307)
Computer software (1) (15) — — (16)
(825) (583) — — (1,408)
Capital assets being
depreciated, net 1,536 1,171 — — 3,102
Capital assets, net 3 1,932 3,416 — — 5348

At September 30, 2021, HCA had commitments of $133,733 related to various construction projects.
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2020
Beginning Ending
balance Additions Transfers Reductions balance
Capital assets notbeing depreciated:
Construction in progress 240 155 — — 395
Works of art $ — 1 — — 1
240 156 — — 396
Capital assets being depreciated:
Leasehold improvements 56 215 — — 271
Equipment 1,716 323 — — 2,039
Computer software — 51 — — 51
1,772 589 — — 2,361
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Leasehold improvements (13) (21) — — (34)
Equipment (397) (393) — — (790)
Computer software — (1) — — (1)
(410) (415) — — (825)
Capital assets being
depreciated, net 1,362 174 — — 1,536
Capital assets, net 3 1,602 330 — — 1,932

At September 30, 2020, HCA had commitments of $51,419 related to various construction projects.
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(6) Noncurrent Liabilities

A summary of the University’s noncurrent liability activity for the years ended September 30, 2021 and

2020 follows (in thousands):

2021
Less amounts
Beginning Ending due within Noncurrent
balance Additions  Reductions balance ohe year liabilitie s
Long-termdebt:
Bonds payable $ 452,651 65,922 (36,329) 482,244 23,327 458 917
Notes payable fromdirect borrow ings 5,431 — (1,062) 4,369 1,090 3,279
Capital lease obligations 13,272 2572 (6,758) 9,086 5,358 3,728
Total long-term
debt 471,354 68,494 (44,149) 495,699 29,775 465,924
Other noncurrent liabilities:
Net pension liability 294,615 20,976 — 315,591 — 315,591
Net OPEB liability 103,288 157,358 — 260,646 — 260,646
Other long-term liabilities 93,026 8,165 (10,821) 90,370 6,747 83,623
Total other
noncurrent
liabilities 490,929 186,499 (10,821) 666,607 6,747 659,860
Total noncurrent
liabilities $ 962,283 254,993 (54,970) 1,162,306 36,522 1,125,784
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2020
Less amounts
Beginning Ending due within Noncurrent
balance Additions  Reductions balance ohe year liabilities
Long-termdebt:
Bonds payable $ 423629 64,528 (35,506) 452 651 20,314 432,337
Notes payable fromdirect borrow ings 4,295 2,147 (1,011) 5,431 1,063 4,368
Capital lease obligations 15,502 3,584 (5,814) 13,272 6,656 6,616
Total long-term
debt 443 426 70,259 (42,331) 471,354 28,033 443 321
Other noncurrent liabilities:
Net pension liability 282,739 11,876 — 294,615 — 294,615
Net OPEB liability 259,418 8,565 (164,695) 103,288 — 103,288
Other long-term liabilities 96,451 2,418 (5,843) 93,026 6,515 86,511
Total other
noncurrent
liabilities 638,608 22,859 (170,538) 490,929 6,515 484,414
Total noncurrent
liabilities $ 1,082,034 93,118 (212,869) 962,283 34,548 927,735

Other long-term liabilities primarily consist of self-insurance liabilities, liabilities related to compensated
absences and the fair value of derivatives. Amounts due within one year are included in current portion of
other long-term liabilities.

During 2017, the University entered into a note payable for a period of ten years payable monthly at
$19,000. This agreement commenced in November 2016 to finance improvements of the HVAC system. In
January 2020, there was an amendment of the Alabama Power note payable by an increase in the amount
of $2,147,000. The amount outstanding on the note at September 30, 2021 and 2020 is $3,033,000 and
$3,402,000, respectively, and is reported as long-term debt (and current portion thereof) in the statements
of net position.

In July 2018, the University converted a 2015 line of credit into a term loan for a period of five years, with
monthly payments of $63,000 and interest accruing at the fixed rate of 3.85% per annum. The amount
outstanding at September 30, 2021 and 2020 is $1,336,000 and $2,029,000, respectively, and is reported
as long-term debt (and current portion thereof) in the statements of net position.

During 2020, the University entered into a variable rate revolving line of credit with Hancock Whitney Bank
to ensure the University was adequately prepared for potential cash-flow issues that could have been
caused by the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. The $50,000,000 line of credit expired in June 2021 and
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was not renewed. There were no draws on the line of credit during the years ended September 30, 2021 or
2020.
(a) USA Research and Technology Corporation

(i) Notes Payable

Notes payable from direct borrowings consisted of the following at September 30, 2021 and 2020
(in thousands):

2021 2020
PNC Bank promissory note, 4.38%, payable through 2028 3 11,730 12,195
PNC Bank promissory note, 4.50%, payable through 2021 — 7,103
University of South Alabama, 3.00%, payable through 2023 800 1,183
Hancock Whitney promissory note, 3.08%, payable through 2031 8,191 —
$ 20,721 20,481

The first promissory note payable to PNC Bank has a 10-year term and amortization is based on a 20-
year term. The promissory note payable is secured by an interest in tenant leases for Buildings Il and
lll, and an interest in income received from rental of Buildings Il and Ill. The Corporation agreed to not
transfer or encumber the buildings or its leasehold interest in the real estate on which the buildings
stand.

The second promissory note payable to PNC Bank had a 10-year term and amortization was based on
a 20-year term. The promissory note payable was secured by an interest in tenant leases for Building |
and the dialysis services building, and an interest in income received from rental of Building | and the
Dialysis Services Building. The Corporation agreed to not transfer or encumber the buildings or its
leasehold interest in the real estate on which the buildings stand.

In connection with each PNC note, the University entered into an agreement with the lender providing
that for any year in which the Corporation’s debt service coverage ratio is less than 1 to 1, the
University will pay the Corporation rent equal to the amount necessary to bring the ratio to 1 to 1. The
debt service coverage ratio is calculated by dividing the sum of unrestricted cash and cash equivalents
at the beginning of the year (reduced by current year capital asset additions) and current year change
in net position (determined without depreciation, amortization, and interest expenses) by current year
debt service. For fiscal 2021, the Corporation’s debt service coverage ratio was 1.3to 1.

In fiscal 2021, the Corporation refinanced the second promissory note payable to PNC Bank by
entering into an agreement with Hancock Whitney Bank for a promissory note payable with a 10-year
term. Amortization of this note is based on a 10-year term and is secured by an interest in rental leases
and an interest in income received from rental of the following buildings: Building I, Building Il, Building
I, and the Dialysis Services Building. The Corporation agreed to not transfer or encumber the
buildings or its leasehold interest in the real estate on which the buildings stand. The note payable to
Hancock Whitney is subject to the same debt service coverage ratio as the PNC note.
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The Corporation’s outstanding notes from direct borrowings with PNC Bank and Hancock Whitney
Bank contain a provision that, in the event of default, PNC Bank or Hancock Whitney Bank may take
any or all of the following actions: (a) declare the loan due and payable, (b) declare the note in default,
and (c) exercise any other remedies or rights which it has under any instrument executed in connection
with the loan. Prior to any of these actions, however, PNC Bank and Hancock Whitney Bank will give
the University 30 days to cure the default. The Corporation’s outstanding note from a direct borrowing
with the University contains a provision that, in the event principal payments are not made when due,
allows the University to declare the loan due and payable.

(ii)

(iii)

Debt Service on Long-Term Obligations
At September 30, 2021, total future debt service by fiscal year is as follows (in thousands):

Debt service on notes

Principal Interest Total

2022 $ 1,342 769 2,111
2023 1,390 720 2,110
2024 1,022 676 1,698
2025 1,061 637 1,698
2026 1,101 597 1,698
2027-2032 14,805 1,264 16,069

Total $ 20,721 4,663 25,384

Derivative Transaction

The Corporation was a party to a derivative with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., the counterparty
(successor to Wachovia Bank, N.A. the original counterparty). The derivative was a “receive
variable, pay fixed” interest rate swap entered into in connection with the promissory note to Wells
Fargo Bank, N.A.

The swap was terminated on June 20, 2018 as part of a transaction refunding the Wells Fargo loan
with the proceeds of a loan from PNC Bank. The fee paid by the Corporation to Wells Fargo to
terminate the swap was $1,478,000. Pursuant to GASB Statement No. 65, the fee is reported in
deferred outflows on the statements of net position and amortized to interest expense according to
the percentage of annual interest paid on the loan from PNC Bank to the total interest to be paid on
that loan over the 118 months that were remaining on the Wells Fargo loan when the swap was
terminated. At September 30, 2021 and 2020, the balance was $921,000 and $1,089,000,
respectively.
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(7) Bonds Payable
Bonds payable consisted of the following at September 30, 2021 and 2020 (in thousands):

University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2012-A,
2.92% payable through August 2032

University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2013-A,
2.83% payable through August 2033

University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2013-B,
2.83% payable through August 2033

University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2013-C,
2.78% payable through August 2028

University Facilities Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2014-A, variable rate
payable at 68% of LIBOR plus .73%, 0.83% and 1.87% at
September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, payable through March 2024

University Facilities Revenue Capital Improvement Bonds, Series 2015,
2.47% payable through August 2030

University Facilities Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2016-A,
3.00% to 5.00% payable through November 2037

University Facilities Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2016-B, variable rate
payable at 79% of one month LIBOR plus 0.72% and 68% of one-month LIBOR
plus 0.82% at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, (0.776% at
September 30, 2021), payable through December 2036, pursuant to the right of the
holder to cause all principal to be due after December 1, 2026

University Facilities Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2016-C, variable rate
payable at 79% of one month LIBOR plus 0.77% and 68% of one-month LIBOR
plus 0.87% at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, (0.826% at
September 30, 2021), payable through December 2036, pursuant to the right of the
holder to cause all principal to be due after December 1, 2028

University Facilities Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2016-D, variable rate
payable at 79% of one month LIBOR plus 0.83% and 68% of one-month LIBOR
plus 0.93% at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, (0.886% at
September 30, 2021), payable through December 2036, pursuant to the right of the
holder to cause all principal to be due after December 1, 2031

University Facilities Revenue Bonds, Series 2017, 2.00% to 5.00%, payable
through October 2037

University Facilities Revenue Bonds, Series 2019-A, 5.00%, payable
through April 2049

University Facilities Revenue Bonds, Series 2019-B, 3.09% to 4.10%,
payable through April 2033
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2021 2020

— 16,523
21,290 22,764
5,323 5,691
5179 5,841
24,160 31,440
3,375 3,750
77,455 80,310
20,000 20,000
35,000 35,000
45,000 45,000
33,690 34,990
47,750 47,750
17,205 18,440
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2021 2020
University Facilities Revenue Bonds, Series 2019-C,
1.87%, payable through April 1, 2030 16,112 17,630
University Facilities Revenue Bonds, Series 2020,
4%, payable through April 1, 2040 36,105 37,005
University Facilities Revenue Bonds, Series 2021,
4%, payable through April 1, 2041 40,555 —
University Facilities Revenue Bonds, Series 2021-B
1.398%, payable through August 1, 2032 15,387 —
443 586 422,134
Plus unamortized premium 40,173 32,141
Less unamortized debt extinguishment costs (1,515) (1,624)
$ 482,244 452,651

Substantially all student tuition and fee and auxiliary revenues secure University bonds. Additionally,
security for all bonds includes USA Health Children’s and Women’s Hospital revenues in an amount not
exceeding $10,000,000. The Series 2012-A Bonds began maturing in August 2013. In July 2021 the
University issued Series 2021-B to refund the remaining Series 2012-A bonds. The Series 2013-A, 2013-B
and 2013-C Bonds began maturing in August 2014 and are redeemable beginning in June 2023. The
Series 2014-A Bonds began maturing in March 2015 and are redeemable by the University at any time.
The Series 2015 Bonds began maturing in August 2015 and were redeemable beginning in June 2020. The
Series 2016-A Bonds began maturing in November 2018 and are redeemable beginning in

November 2026. The Series 2016-B, C and D Bonds will begin maturing in December 2024 and became
redeemable as of December 2017. The Series 2017 Bonds began maturing in October 2017 and are
redeemable beginning in October 2027. The Series 2019-A Bonds will begin maturing in April 2033. The
Series 2019-B Bonds began maturing in April 2021. Both Series 2019-A and 2019-B are both redeemable
beginning in April 2029. The Series 2019-C Bonds began maturing on April 1, 2020 and are not subject to
redemption at the option of the University. Series 2020 Bonds began maturing on April 1, 2021 and are
redeemable beginning April 1, 2030. Series 2021 Bonds will begin maturing on April 1, 2022 and are
redeemable beginning April 1, 2041. The Series 2021-B Bonds will begin maturing on August 1, 2022 and
are not subject to redemption at the option of the University.

In September 2016, the University issued its University Facilities Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2016,
with a face value of $85,605,000. The proceeds from the Series 2016 Bonds were used to partially defease
the Series 2008 Bonds. The funds were deposited into escrow trust funds to provide for the subsequent
repayment of the Series 2008 Bonds when they were called in December 2018. Neither the asset of the
escrow trust account, nor the defeased indebtedness is included in the accompanying statements of net
position. The loss on the defeasement of the Series 2008 Bonds of $7,859,000 was recorded as a deferred
outflow and is being amortized over the remaining life of the Series 2016 Bonds and the balance of the
related deferred outflow totaled $5,886,000 and $6,274,000, respectively, at September 30, 2021 and
2020. The principal outstanding on all defeased bonds is $77,455,000 and $80,310,000 at September 30,
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2021 and 2020, respectively. The undefeased portion of the Series 2008 bonds was paid in full in
August 2018.

In December 2016, the University issued its University Facilities Revenue Refunding Bonds,

Series 2016-B, C & D, with a face value totaling $100,000,000. The proceeds refunded the remaining
outstanding Series 2006 Bonds. The gain on the refunding of the Series 2006 Bonds of $4,539,000 was
recorded as a deferred inflow and is being amortized over the remaining life of the Series 2016-B, C & D
Bonds and the balance of the related net deferred inflow at September 30, 2021 and 2020 totaled
$3,442,000 and $3,669,000, respectively.

In February 2020, the University issued its University Facilities Revenue Bonds, Series 2020, with a face
value of $37,005,000. The proceeds from the Series 2020 Bonds are financing a transportation hub, a
warehouse building and improvements and new construction to certain USA Health facilities.

In March 2021, the University issued its University Facilities Revenue Bonds, Series 2021, with a face
value of $40,555,000. The proceeds from the Series 2021 Bonds are financing USA Health facilities and
transportation infrastructure. In July 2021, the University issued its University Facilities Revenue Refunding
Bonds, Series 2021-B, with a face value of $15,387,000. The proceeds refunded the remaining Series
2012-A Bonds.

In September 2021, the terms for Bonds 2016-B, 2016-C and 2016-D were revised to address the removal
of the LIBOR rate to be replaced by the ISDA-based replacement index after year ended September 30,
2021. The dates by which the Lender may cause all of the outstanding principal on such bonds to mature
and become due and payable by the University were extended 5 years for each bond.

None of the proceeds from the issuance of the Series 2017 Bonds remained unspent at September 30,
2021, and $2,356,000 of the proceeds remained unspent at September 30, 2020, and is included in
restricted cash and cash equivalents on the 2020 statement of net position. None of proceeds from the
issuance of the Series 2019-A and B Bonds remained unspent at September 30, 2021, and $57,000 of the
proceeds remained unspent at September 30, 2020, and is included in restricted cash and cash
equivalents on the 2020 statement of net position. Approximately $8,866,000 and $29,545,000 of proceeds
from the issuance of the Series 2020 Bonds remained unspent at September 30, 2021 and 2020,
respectively and is included in restricted cash and cash equivalents on the 2021 statement of net position.
Approximately $48,106,000 of proceeds from the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds remained unspent at
September 30, 2021 and is included in restricted cash and cash equivalents on the 2021 statement of net
position. All bond funds are restricted for capital purposes as outlined in the bond indentures. The
University is subject to arbitrage restrictions on its bonded indebtedness prescribed by the U.S. Internal
Revenue Service. As such, amounts are accrued as needed in the University’s basic financial statements
for any expected arbitrage liabilities. At September 30, 2021 and 2020, no amounts were due or recorded
in the financial statements.

The University is subject to restrictive covenants related to its bonds payable.
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Debt Service on Long-Term Obligations

Total debt service (which includes bonds and notes payable) by fiscal years is as follows as of September 30,
2021 (in thousands):

Debt service on notes and bonds
Notes payable

Bonds from direct borrowing
Principal Interest Principal Interest Total
2022 $ 21,282 14,743 1,090 39 37,154
2023 22,324 14,095 989 11 37,419
2024 23,292 13,550 371 — 37,213
2025 21,289 12,962 371 — 34,622
2026 22,190 12,343 371 — 34,904
2027-2031 120,062 51,045 1,177 — 172,284
2032-2036 122,812 30,788 — — 153,600
2037-2041 65,305 12,217 — — 77,522
2042-2046 16,050 4,730 — — 20,780
2047-2051 8,980 917 — — 9,897
Subtotal 443586 $ 167,390 4,369 50 615,395
Plus (less):
Unamortized bond premium 40173
Unamortized debt
extinguishment costs (1,515)
Total $ 482244 4,369
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Capital Lease Obligations

The University has entered into various capital leases as a method of financing medical equipment,
computer software and hardware, a heat recovery system, and other office equipment. Future minimum
capital lease payments at September 30, 2021 are as follows (in thousands):

Year ending September 30:

2022 $ 5,676
2023 1,842
2024 1,094
2025 416
2026 368
2027-2038 145
9,441

Less amounts representing interest (355)
Net minimum lease payments  $ 9,086

These amounts are included in long-term debt (and current portion thereof) in the accompanying
statements of net position.

Derivative Transactions — Interest Rate Swaps

The University is a party to two derivatives with Wells Fargo Bank, the counterparty. In December 2013,
Wells Fargo exercised its option with respect to the synthetic advance refunding of the Series 2004 Bonds
to enter into an interest rate swap agreement with the University with an effective date of March 15, 2014.
The resulting derivative is a “receive-variable, pay-fixed” interest rate swap. As part of the overall plan of
the synthetic refunding of the Series 2004 Bonds, the University redeemed those bonds in April 2014 with
proceeds from the Series 2014-A Bonds.

In September 2016, Wells Fargo exercised its option with respect to the synthetic advance refunding of the
Series 2006 Bonds to enter into an interest rate swap agreement with the University with an effective date
of September 1, 2016. The resulting derivative is a “receive-variable, pay-fixed” interest rate swap. As part
of the overall plan of the synthetic refunding of the Series 2006 Bonds, the University redeemed those
bonds in December 2016 with proceeds from the Series 2016-B, C & D Bonds.

The terms of the derivatives require the University to post collateral when certain criteria are met. Such
amounts are described in note 3.

The 2014 swap will terminate in March 2024, when the Series 2014-A Bonds mature. The notional amount
of the swap will at all times match the outstanding principal amount of the bonds. Under the swap, the
University pays the counterparty a fixed semi-annual payment based on an annual rate of 4.9753% and
receives on a monthly basis a variable payment of 68% of the one-month LIBOR plus 0.25%. Conversely,
the Series 2014-A Bonds bear interest on a monthly basis at 68% of the one-month LIBOR rate plus
0.73%.
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The 2016 swap will terminate in December 2036, when the Series 2016-B, C & D Bonds mature. The
notional amount of the swap will at all times match the outstanding principal amount of the bonds. Under
the swap, the University pays the counterparty a fixed semi-annual payment based on an annual rate of 5%
and receives on a monthly basis a variable payment of 68% of the one-month LIBOR plus 0.25%.
Conversely, the Series 2016-B, C & D Bonds bear interest at a variable rate of 79% of the benchmark plus
72, 77 and 83 basis points, respectively.

Fair value. The 2014 interest rate swap had a negative fair value of approximately ($9,138,000) at its
inception. This amount, net of any amortization and adjustments to fair market value, is reported as a
borrowing arising from the 2014 interest rate swap as other long-term liabilities in the amount of
($1,663,000) and ($3,001,000) in the statements of net position at September 30, 2021 and 2020,
respectively. The change in the fair value of the swap of $1,338,000 and $652,000, respectively, during the
years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, is reported as a deferred inflow and contra liability (other
long-term liabilities) in the statements of net position since the interest rate swap is a hedging derivative
instrument. Net deferred inflows of resources for the 2014 interest rate swap totaled $621,000 and
$197,000 at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The 2016 interest rate swap had a negative fair value of approximately ($48,530,000) at its inception. This
amount, net of any amortization and adjustments to fair value, is reported as a borrowing arising from the
2016 interest rate swap as other long-term liabilities in the amount of ($36,654,000) and ($47,161,000) in
the statements of net position at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The change in the fair value
of the swap of $10,507,000 and ($5,064,000) during the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020,
respectively, is reported as a deferred outflow and contra asset (other noncurrent assets) in the statements
of net position at September 30, 2021 and 2020 since the interest rate swap is a hedging derivative
instrument. Net deferred inflows and outflows of resources for the 2016 interest rate swap totaled $306,000
and $8,417,000 at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The fair values of the interest rate swaps were estimated using the zero-coupon method. This method
calculates the future net settlement payments required by the swap, assuming the current forward rates
implied by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot interest rates. These payments are then
discounted using the spot rates implied by the current yield curve for hypothetical zero-coupon bonds due
on the date of each future net settlement.

Risks Associated with these Transactions

Interest rate risk. As the LIBOR rate decreases, the net payments on the swaps increase. This, however, is
mitigated by the fact that a decline in the LIBOR rate will also result in a decrease of the University’s
interest payments on the Series 2014-A and Series 2016-B, C & D Bonds. The University’s exposure is
limited to 0.48% and 0.54% of the notional amounts, the difference in the payment from the counterparty
and the interest payment on the Series 2014-A and Series 2016-B, C & D Bonds.

Credit risk. As of September 30, 2021 and 2020, the University was not exposed to credit risk on the
interest rate swaps because they had a negative fair value. However, if interest rates change and the fair
value of the derivatives become positive, the University would have a gross exposure to credit risk in the
amount of the derivative’s fair value. The counterparty was rated Aa2 by Moody’s Investor Services and A+
by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services as of September 30, 2021 and 2020.
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Termination risk. The University may be required to terminate the swaps based on certain standard default
and termination events, such as failure to make payments, breach of agreements and bankruptcy. As of the
current date, no events of termination have occurred.

Derivative payments and hedged debt. As interest rates fluctuate, variable rate debt interest and net
derivative payments will fluctuate. Using interest rates as of September 30, 2021 and calculating interest
for subsequent years using forward rates of one month LIBOR, debt service requirements for the 2014
interest rate swap payments, by fiscal year, are as follows (in thousands):

Variable rate note Interest rate

Principal Interest swap, net Total
2022 7,655 164 945 8,764
2023 8,050 131 550 8,731
2024 8,455 54 176 8,685
Total $ 24,160 349 1,671 26,180

Debt service requirements for the 2016 interest rate swap payments, by fiscal year, are as follows (in
thousands):

Variable rate note Interest rate

Principal Interest swap, net Total

2022 $ — 877 4,663 5,540
2023 — 1,155 4,385 5,540
2024 — 1,403 4,137 5,540
2025 5,600 1,447 3,929 10,976
2026-2030 32,610 6,340 15,429 54,379
2031-2035 41,880 3,388 8,102 53,370
2036-2039 19,910 259 831 21,000

Total $ 100,000 14,869 41,476 156,345

Patient Service Revenues

USA Health has agreements with governmental and other third-party payers that provide for
reimbursement at amounts different from their established rates. Contractual adjustments under third-party
reimbursement programs represent the difference between USA Health’s billings at established rates for
services and amounts reimbursed by third-party payers.

A summary of the basis of reimbursement with major-third party payers follows:
Medicare — Substantially all acute care services rendered to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid at

prospectively determined rates. These rates vary according to patient classification systems that are based
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on clinical, diagnostic, and other factors. Additionally, USA Health is reimbursed for both direct and indirect
medical education costs (as defined), principally based on per-resident prospective payment amounts and
certain adjustments to prospective rate-per-discharge operating reimbursement payments. USA Health is
generally paid for certain retroactively determined items at tentative rates, with final settlement determined
after submission of annual cost reports by USA Health and audits by the Medicare fiscal intermediary.

USA Health University Hospital’s Medicare cost reports have been audited by the Medicare fiscal
intermediary through September 30, 2015.

USA Health Children’s & Women’s Hospital's Medicare cost reports have been audited by the Medicare
fiscal intermediary through September 30, 2019.

Revenues from the Medicare program accounted for approximately 13% and 15% of USA Health’s net
patient service revenues for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Blue Cross — Inpatient services rendered to Blue Cross subscribers are paid at a contractually determined
per diem rate based upon MS-DRG groupings. Outpatient services are reimbursed under a contractually
determined reimbursement methodology based on BCBS EAPGs.

Revenues from the Blue Cross program accounted for approximately 28% and 29% of USA Health’s net
patient service revenues for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Medicaid — Inpatient services rendered to Medicaid program beneficiaries are reimbursed at all-inclusive
prospectively determined per diem rates. Outpatient services are reimbursed based on an established fee
schedule.

USA Health qualifies as a Medicaid essential provider and, therefore, also receives supplemental payments
based on formulas established by the Alabama Medicaid Agency. There can be no assurance that USA
Health will continue to qualify for future participation in this program or that the program will not ultimately
be discontinued or materially modified.

Revenues from the Medicaid program accounted for approximately 25% and 26% of USA Health’s net
patient service revenues for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Other — USA Health has entered into payment agreements with certain commercial insurance carriers,
health maintenance organizations, and preferred provider organizations. The basis for payments to USA
Health under these agreements include discounts from established charges and prospectively determined
daily and case rates.
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The composition of net patient service revenues for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 follows
(in thousands):

2021 2020
Gross patient senice revenues $ 1,541,772 1,367,755
Less:
Provision for contractual and other adjustments (822,274) (713,865)
Provision for bad debts (96,820) (99,459)
$ 622,678 554,431

Changes in estimates related to prior cost reporting periods resulted in a decrease of approximately
$2,152,000 and a decrease of approximately $2,986,000 in patient service revenues for the years ended
September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Defined Benefit Cost Sharing Pension Plan

Employees of the University are covered by a cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan
administered by the TRS.

(a

(b)

Plan Description

The TRS was established in September 1939, under the provisions of Act 419 of the Legislature of
1939 for the purpose of providing retirement allowances and other specified benefits for qualified
persons employed by State-supported educational institutions. The responsibility for the general
administration and operation of the TRS is vested in its Board of Control. The TRS Board of Control
consists of 15 trustees. The Plan is administered by the Retirement Systems of Alabama (RSA). Title
16-Chapter 25 of the code of Alabama grants the authority to establish and amend the benefit terms to
the TRS Board of Control. The Plan issues a publicly available financial report that can be obtained at
www.rsa-al.gov.

Benefits Provided

State law establishes retirement benefits as well as death and disability benefits and any ad hoc
increase in postretirement benefits for the TRS. Benefits for TRS members vest after ten years of
creditable service. Tier 1 TRS members who retire after age sixty with ten years or more of creditable
service or with twenty-five years of services (regardless of age) are entitled to an annual retirement
benefit, payable monthly for life. Service and disability retirement benefits are based on a guaranteed
minimum or formula method, with the member receiving payment under the method that yields the
higher monthly benefit. Under the formula method, members of the TRS are allowed 2.0125% of their
average final compensation (highest three of the last ten years) for each year of service.

Act 377 of the Legislature of 2012 established a new tier of benefits (Tier 2) for members hired on or
after January 1, 2013. Tier 2 TRS members are eligible for retirement after age sixty-two with ten years
or more of creditable service and are entitled to an annual retirement benefit, payable monthly for life.
Service and disability retirement benefits are based on a guaranteed minimum or formula method, with
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the member receiving payment under the method that yields the highest monthly benefit. Under the
formula method, Tier 2 members of the TRS are allowed 1.65% of their average final compensation
(highest five of the last ten years) for each year of service. Members are eligible for disability retirement
if they have ten years of credible service, are currently in-service, and determined by the RSA Medical
Board to be permanently incapacitated from further performance of duty. Preretirement death benefits
are calculated and paid to the beneficiary based on the member’s age, service credit, employment
status, and eligibility for retirement.

Contributions

Covered members of the TRS contributed 5% of earnable compensation to the TRS as required by
statute until September 30, 2011. From October 1, 2011 to September 30, 2012, covered members of
the TRS were required by statute to contribute 7.25% of earnable compensation. Effective October 1,
2012, covered Tier 1 members of the TRS are required by statute to contribute 7.50% of earnable
compensation. Certified law enforcement, correctional officers, and firefighters of the TRS contributed
6% of earnable compensation as required by statute until September 30, 2011. From October 1, 2011
to September 30, 2012, certified law enforcement, correctional officers, and firefighters of the TRS
were required by statute to contribute 8.25% of earnable compensation. Effective October 1, 2012,
certified law enforcement, correctional officers, and firefighters of the TRS are required by statute to
contribute 8.50% of earnable compensation.

Tier 2 covered members of the TRS contribute 6% of earnable compensation to the TRS as required
by statute. Tier 2 certified law enforcement, correctional officers, and firefighters of the TRS are
required by statute to contribute 7% of earnable compensation.

Participating employers’ contractually required contribution rates were 12.36% of annual pay for Tier 1
members and 11.22% of annual pay for Tier 2 members. These required contribution rates are a
percent of annual payroll, actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with member
contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by members during the year, with an
additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. Total employer contributions to the pension
plan from the University were $21,566,000 and $21,413,000 for the years ended September 30, 2021
and 2020, respectively.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expenses, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions

At September 30, 2021 and 2020, the University reported a liability of $315,591,000 and $294,615,000,
respectively, for its proportionate share of the collective net pension liability. At September 30, 2021,
the collective net pension liability was measured as of September 30, 2020 and the total pension
liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of
September 30, 2019. The University’s proportion of the collective net pension liability is based on the
employer’s shares of contributions to the pension plan relative to the total employer contributions of all
participating TRS employers. At the measurement date of September 30, 2020, the University’s
proportion of contributions to the pension plan was 2.551330%, which was a decrease of 0.113206%
from its proportion measured as of September 30, 2019 of 2.664536%.
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For the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the University recognized pension expense of
approximately $18,845,000 and $17,629,000, respectively, which is included in salaries and benefits on
the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position.

At September 30, 2021 and 2020, the University reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions from the following sources (in thousands):

2021
Deferred Deferred
outflows of inflows of
resources resources
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on
pension plan investments 23,438 —
Changes of assumptions 3,282 —
Differences between expected and actual experience 15,619 5,473
Changes in proportion and differences between employer
contributions and proportionate share of contributions — 30,825
Employer contributions subsequent to measurement date 21,566 —
63,905 36,298
2020
Deferred Deferred
outflows of inflows of
resources resources
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on
pension plan investments 10,259 —
Changes of assumptions 9,077 —
Differences between expected and actual experience 4,356 9,771
Changes in proportion and differences between employer
contributions and proportionate share of contributions — 32,016
Employer contributions subsequent to measurement date 21,413 —
45,105 41,787
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At September 30, 2021, approximately $21,566,000 reported as deferred outflows of resources related
to pensions resulting from University contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be
recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability for the year ending September 30, 2022. Other
amounts reported as deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension
expense as follows (in thousands):

Y ear ending September 30:

2022 $ 4,574)
2023 1,911
2024 5,529
2025 3,175
2026 —
$ 6,041
Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability as of September 30, 2021 and 2020 was determined by an actuarial valuation

as of September 30, 2019 and 2018, using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods
included in the measurement:

2021 2020
Inflation 2.75 % 2.75 %
Investment rate of return* 7.70 7.70
Projected salary increases 3.25-5.00 3.25-5.00

* Net of pension plan investment expense

The actuarial assumptions used in the September 30, 2019 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the period October 1, 2010 through September 30, 2015. Mortality rates
for TRS were based on the RP-2000 White Collar Mortality Table projected to 2020 using scale BB and
adjusted 115% for all ages for males and 112% for females. The rates for disabled mortality were

based on the RP-2000 Disabled Mortality Table projected to 2020 using Scale BB and adjusted 105%
for males and 120% for females.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a log-normal
distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected
returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset
class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the
expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected
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inflation. The target asset allocation and best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major
asset class are as follows:

2021

Long-term
Target expected

allocation rate of return*

Fixed income 17.0 % 44 %
U.S. large stocks 32.0 8.0
U.S. mid stocks 9.0 10.0
U.S. small stocks 4.0 11.0
International developed market stocks 12.0 9.5
International emerging market stocks 3.0 11.0
Alternatives 10.0 10.1
Real estate 10.0 7.5
Cash equivalents 3.0 1.5

100.0 %

* Includes assumed rate of inflation of 2.50%

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability as of both September 30, 2021 and 2020
was 7.70%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan
member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that the employer contributions
will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the
member rate. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to
be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the
long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
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(g) Sensitivity of the University’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the
Discount Rate

The following table presents the University’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated
using the discount rate of 7.70%, as well as what the University’s proportionate share of the net
pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower
(6.70%) or 1-percentage point higher (8.70%) than the current rate (in thousands):

2021
1% Decrease Current rate 1% Increase
(6.70)% (7.70)% (8.70)%
University’s proportionate share of
collective net pension liability $ 421,064 315,591 226,348
2020
1% Decrease Current rate 1% Increase
(6.70)% (7.70)% (8.70)%
University’s proportionate share of
collective net pension liability $ 399,958 294,615 205,471

(h) Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately issued
RSA Comprehensive Annual Report for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020 as well as prior year
reports. The supporting actuarial information is included in the GASB Statement No. 68 Report for the
TRS prepared as of September 30, 2020. The auditors’ report dated April 23, 2021 on the total pension
liability, total deferred outflows of resources, total deferred inflows of resources, and total pension
expense for the sum of all participating entities as of September 30, 2020 along with supporting
schedules is also available. The additional financial and actuarial information is available at
www.rsa-al.gov.

(12) Other Employee Benefits
(a) Other Pension Plans

Certain employees of the University also participate in a defined contribution pension plan. The defined
contribution pension plan covers certain academic and administrative employees, and participation by
eligible employees is optional. The plan is administered by the University and the plan assets are held
in annuity contracts and custodial accounts. The annuity contracts are with, and the custodial account
assets are invested through investment options offered by, Teachers Insurance and Annuity
Association — College Retirement Equities Fund (TIAA-CREF) and Variable Annuity Life Insurance
Company (VALIC). Under this plan, contributions by eligible employees are matched equally by the
University up to a maximum of 3% of current annual pay. The University contributed $422,000 and
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$462,000 in 2021 and 2020, respectively, representing 190 and 197 employees for 2021 and 2020,
respectively, participating in this Plan.

All employees of HCM working at least half time are eligible to participate in a defined contribution
pension plan. The plan is administered by HCM and the plan assets are held in annuity contracts and
custodial accounts. The annuity contracts are with, and the custodial account assets are invested
through investment options offered by, TIAA-CREF and VALIC. Under this plan, contributions by
eligible employees are matched equally by HCM up to a maximum of 5% of current annual pay. HCM
contributed $6,553,000 and $5,544,000 in 2021 and 2020, respectively, representing 1,998 and 1,436
employees, respectively, participating in this plan. University employees as of September 30, 2010,
who later transfer to HCM, are immediately vested in the plan. All other employees do not vest until
they have held employment with HCM for thirty-six months; at which time they become 100% vested in
the plan.

(b) Compensated Absences

Regular University employees accumulate vacation and sick leave and hospital and clinical employees
accumulate paid time off. These are subject to maximum limitations, at varying rates depending upon
their employee classification and length of service. Upon separation of employment, employees who
were hired before January 1, 2012 are paid all unused accrued vacation at their regular rate of pay up
to a maximum of two times their annual accumulation rate. Employees hired after January 1, 2012 are
not eligible for payment of unused accrued vacation or PTO hours upon separation of employment. The
accompanying statements of net position include accruals for vacation pay and paid time off of
approximately $12,644,000 and $12,962,000 at September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The
accrual is included in other long-term liabilities (and current portion thereof) in the accompanying
financial statements. No accrual is recognized for sick leave benefits since no terminal cash benefit is
available to employees for accumulated sick leave.

(13) Other Postemployment Benefit Plans

Retirees of the University are covered by the Public Education Employees Health Insurance Plan
(PEEHIP), which is a cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit OPEB plan administered by the TRS.

(a) Plan Description

The Alabama Retiree Health Care Funding Act of 2007 authorized and directed the Public Education
Employees Health Insurance Board (Board) to create an irrevocable trust to fund postemployment
healthcare benefits to retirees participating in PEEHIP. Active and retiree health insurance benefits are
paid through the PEEHIP. The PEEHIP was established in 1983 pursuant to the provisions of the Code
of Alabama 1975, Title 16, Chapter 25A to provide a uniform plan of health insurance for active and
retired employees of state and local educational institutions and to fund benefits related to the plan.
The responsibility for the general administration and operation of the PEEHIP is vested in its Board,
which consists of 15 trustees. Title 16-Chapter 25 of the code of Alabama grants the authority to
establish and amend the benefit terms to the PEEHIP Board. GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and
Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, requires the reporting of the
net OPEB liability and the OPEB expense in the financial statements as well as enhanced financial
statements note disclosures.

72 (Continued)



(b)

(c)

(d)

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH ALABAMA
(A Component Unit of the State of Alabama)

Notes to Basic Financial Statements
September 30, 2021 and 2020

Benefits Provided

PEEHIP offers a basic hospital medical plan to active members and non-Medicare eligible retirees or
active employees and non-Medicare eligible retirees who do not have Medicare eligible dependents
can enroll in a health maintenance organization (HMO). In addition to or in lieu of the basic hospital
medical plan or HMO, the PEEHIP offers four optional plans: Hospital Indemnity, Cancer, Dental, and
Vision. Also, PEEHIP members (only active and non-Medicare eligible) may elect the Supplemental
Plan as their hospital medical coverage instead of the PEEHIP Hospital Medical Plan. This
Supplemental Plan provides secondary benefits to the member’s primary plan provided by another
employer.

Effective January 1, 2017, Medicare eligible members and Medicare eligible dependents who are
covered on a retiree contract were enrolled in the United Healthcare Group Medicare Advantage plan
for PEEHIP retirees. The Medicare Advantage Prescription Drug (MAPD) plan is fully insured by United
Healthcare and members are able to have all of their Medicare Part A, Part B, and Part D in one
convenient plan.

Contributions

The employer contribution to the health insurance premium is set forth by the Board annually.

Total employer contributions to the OPEB plan from the University were $6,868,000 and $7,947,000 for
the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expenses, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to OPEB

At September 30, 2021 and 2020, the University reported a liability of $260,646,000 and $103,288,000,
respectively, for its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability. At September 30, 2021, the net OPEB
liability was measured as of September 30, 2020 and the total OPEB liability used to calculate the net
OPERB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of September 30, 2019. The University’s
proportion of the net OPEB liability was based on a projection of the University’s long-term share of
contributions to the OPEB plan relative to the projected contributions of all participating employers,
actuarially determined. At the measurement date of September 30, 2020, the University’s proportion of
contributions to the OPEB plan was 4.0162100%, which was an increase of 1.2784930% from its
proportion measured as of September 30, 2019 of 2.7377170%.

For the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, the University recognized OPEB expense of

approximately $7,208,000 and $(11,830,000), respectively, which is included in salaries and benefits
on the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position.
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At September 30, 2021 and 2020, the University reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred

inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources (in thousands):

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on
OPEB plan investments $
Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Changes in proportion and differences between employer
contributions and proportionate share of contributions
Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on
OPEB plan investments $
Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Changes in proportion and differences between employer
contributions and proportionate share of contributions
Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date

$

At September 30, 2021, approximately $6,868,000 reported as deferred outflows of resources related

2021
Deferred Deferred

outflows of inflows of

resources resources
— 11
6,610 93,709
91,042 48,400
99,698 36,524
6,868 —
204,218 178,644

2020
Deferred Deferred

outflows of inflows of

resources resources
213 —
3,420 79,197
4,938 42 782
20,208 46,198
7,947 —
36,726 168,177

to OPEB resulting from University contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be
recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the year ended September 30, 2022. Other
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amounts reported as deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB
expense as follows (in thousands):

Year ending September 30:

2022 $ (6,239)
2023 (5,842)
2024 (5,955)
2025 (5,633)
2026 25,125
Thereafter 17,249
$___ 18705

(e) Actuarial Assumptions

The total OPEB liability as of September 30, 2021 and 2020 was determined by an actuarial valuation
performed as of September 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively, using the following actuarial assumptions,
applied to all periods included in the measurement:

2021 2020
Inflation 275 % 275 %
Projected salary increases™ 3.25%-5.00% 3.25%-5.00%
Long-term investment rate of return** 7.25% 7.25%
Municipal bond index rate at the measurement date 2.25 3.00
Projected year for fiduciary net position to be depleted 2040 2055
Single equivalent interest rate at the measurement date 3.05% 5.50 %
Healthcare cost trend rate
Pre-medicare eligible 6.75 % 6.75 %
Medicare eligible e e
Ultimate trend rate
Pre-medicare eligible 475 % 475 %
Medicare eligible 475 % 475 %
Year of ultimate trend rate
Pre-medicare eligible 2027 2026
Medicare eligible 2024 2024

*

Includes 3% wage inflation
** Compounded annually, net of investment expense, and includes inflation

*** |nitial medicare claims are set based on scheduled increases through plan year 2022
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Rates of mortality for the period after service retirement are according to the RP-2000 White Collar
Mortality Table projected to 2020 using scale BB and adjusted 115% for all ages for males and 112%
for ages 78 and over for females. The rates of disabled mortality were based on the RP-2000 Disabled
Mortality Table projected to 2020 using scale BB and adjusted 105% for males and 120% for females.

The decremental assumptions used in the valuation were selected based on the actuarial experience
study prepared as of September 30, 2015, submitted to and adopted by the TRS on September 13,
2016. The remaining actuarial assumptions (e.g. initial per capita costs, health care cost trends, rate of
plan participation, rates of plan election, etc.) of the total OPEB liability were based on the

September 30, 2019 valuation.

The target asset allocation and best estimates of expected geometric real rates of return for each major
asset class are summarized in the following table:

2021

Long-term

Target expected real

allocation rate of return*

Fixed income 30 % 4,40 %
U.S. large stocks 38 8.00
U.S. mid stocks 8 10.00
U.S. small stocks 4 11.00
International deweloped market stocks 15 9.50
Cash 5 1.50

100 %

* Geometric mean, includes 2.5% inflation

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability at September 30, 2020 and 2019 was 3.05%
and 5.50%, respectively. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed
that plan contributions will be made at the current contribution rates. Each year, the State specifies the
monthly employer rate that participating employers must contribute for each active employee.
Approximately 24.245% of the employer contributions were used to assist in funding retiree benefit
payments in 2019. 14.802% of the employer contributions were used to assist in funding retiree benefit
payments in 2020. It is assumed that the 14.802% will increase at the same rate as expected benefit
payments for the closed group until reaching an employer rate of 20.000%, at which point this amount
will increase by 1.00% in subsequent years. The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan
investments will be determined based on the allocation by the asset class and by the mean and
variance of real returns. The discount rate determination will use a municipal bond rate to the extent the
trust is projected to run out of money before all benefits are paid. Therefore, the projected future benefit
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payments for all current plan members were projected through 2118. The long-term rate of return is
used until the assets are expected to be depleted in 2040, after which the municipal bond rate is used.

(g) Sensitivity of the University’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the
Health Care Cost Trend Rates and Discount Rates

The following table presents the University’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability calculated
using the health care cost trend rate of 4.75%, as well as what the net OPEB liability would be if
calculated using 1-percentage point lower 3.75% or 1-percentage point higher 5.75% than the current
rate (in thousands):

2021
1% Decrease Current rate 1% Increase
(3.75)% (4.75)% (5.75)%
University’s proportionate share of
collective net OPEB liability $ 206,042 260,646 331,723

The following table presents the University’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability calculated
using the discount rate of 3.05%, as well as what the net OPEB liability would be if calculated using
1-percentage point lower 2.05% or 1-percentage point higher 4.05% than the current rate (in

thousands):
2021
1% Decrease Current rate 1% Increase
(2.05)% (3.05)% (4.05)%
University’s proportionate share of
collective net OPEB liability $ 319,696 260,646 213,748

(h) OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net Position

Detailed information about the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the Alabama Retired
Education Employees’ Health Care Trust’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended September 30,
2020 and 2019. The supporting actuarial information is included in the GASB Statement No. 74 Report
for PEEHIP prepared as of September 30, 2020 and 2019. Additional financial and actuarial
information is available at www.rsa-al.gov.

(14) Risk Management

The University, HCM, SAMSF and HCA patrticipate in the PLTF and the University, HCM, SAMSF, the
Corporation and HCA participate in the GLTF. An independent trustee administers both funds. These trust
funds are revocable and use contributions by the University and HCA, together with earnings thereon, to
pay liabilities arising from the performance of its employees, trustees and other individuals acting on behalf
of the University. Any risk related to the payment of claims is the responsibility of the PLTF and GLTF. If
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the trust funds are ever terminated, appropriate provision for payment of related claims will be made and
any remaining balance may be distributed to the participating entities in proportion to contributions made.

As discussed in note 1, the PLTF and GLTF are blended component units of the University, and as such
are included in the financial statements of the University for the years ended September 30, 2021 and
2020. Claims and expenses are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of
the loss can be reasonably estimated. Those losses include an estimate of claims that have been incurred
but not reported and the future costs of handling claims. These liabilities are generally based on actuarial
valuations and are reported at their present value.

The University, HCM and HCA each participate in a separate self-insured health plan administered by
unaffiliated entities. Administrative fees paid by the University for such services were approximately
$2,767,000 and $2,560,000 in 2021 and 2020, respectively. Contributions by the University and its
employees, together with earnings thereon, are used to pay liabilities arising from healthcare claims. It is
the opinion of University administration that plan assets are sufficient to meet future plan obligations.

The changes in the total self-insurance liabilities for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 for the
PLTF, GLTF and health plan are summarized as follows (in thousands):

2021 2020
Balance, beginning of year $ 39,995 39,400
Liabilities incurred and other additions 98,027 101,204
Claims, administrative fees paid and other reductions (96,412) (100,609)
Balance, end of year $ 41,610 39,995

These amounts are included in other long-term liabilities (and current portion thereof) and in accounts
payable and accrued liabilities in the accompanying statements of net position.

(15) Other Related Parties and Related-Party Transactions

SAMSF is a not-for-profit corporation that exists for the purpose of promoting education and research at the
University. At September 30, 2021, SAMSF had total assets of $10,684,000, net assets of $9,673,000, and
total revenues of $1,750,000 for the year then ended. At September 30, 2020, SAMSF had total assets of
$10,662,000, net assets of $9,515,000, and total revenues of $1,345,000 for the year then ended. SAMSF
reimburses the University for certain administrative expenses and other related support services. No such
amounts were received for such expenses in 2021 and 2020.

(16) Commitments and Contingencies

(a) Grants and Contracts

At September 30, 2021 and 2020, the University had been awarded approximately $80,663,000 and
$53,257,000, respectively, in grants and contracts for which resources had not been received and for
which reimbursable expenditures had not been made for the purposes specified. These awards, which
represent commitments of sponsors to provide funds for research or training projects, have not been
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reflected in the accompanying basic financial statements, as the eligibility requirements of the awards
have not been met. Advances are included in unrecognized revenues, and include amounts received
from grant and contract sponsors which have not been expended under the terms of the agreements
and, therefore, have not yet been included in revenues in the accompanying basic financial statements.
Federal awards are subject to audit by federal agencies. The University’s management believes any
potential adjustment from such audits will not be material.

Litigation
Various claims have been filed against the University alleging discriminatory employment practices and
other matters. University administration and legal counsel are of the opinion the resolution of these

matters will not have a material effect on the financial position or the statements of revenues,
expenses, and changes in net position of the University.

Rent Supplement Agreements

The University has entered into two irrevocable rent supplement agreements with the Corporation and
a financial institution. The agreements require that, in the event the Corporation fails to maintain a debt
service coverage ratio of one to one with respect to all of its outstanding indebtedness, the University
will pay to the Corporation any and all rent amounts necessary to cause the Corporation’s net operating
income to be equal to the Corporation’s annual debt service obligations (see note 6). As of

September 30, 2021 and 2020, no amounts were payable pursuant to these agreements.

USA Research and Technology Corporation Leases

The Corporation leases space in Building | to five tenants under operating leases. One lease has a 5-year
initial term expiring in October 2023 with two 5 year renewal options. The second lease has a 5-year
term expiring in April 2024 with no renewal option. The third lease has a 5-year term expiring in July 2024
with no renewal option. The fourth lease has a 5-year initial term expiring in August 2024 with one 5-year
renewal option. The fifth lease has a 90-month initial term expiring in June 2025 with two 5-year renewal
options.

Space in Buildings Il and Ill is leased under operating leases to the University and various other tenants.
The leases have remaining terms varying from month to month to seven years.

Under leases for Buildings I, Il, and IlIl, the Corporation must pay all operating expenses of the
buildings, including utilities, janitorial, maintenance, and insurance. Tenants will reimburse the
Corporation for such expenses only as the total expenses for a year increase over the total expenses
for the base year of the lease (which generally is the first calendar year of the lease term). Under these
leases, the Corporation must pay all operating expenses of the space, without reimbursement from
tenants.

Space under lease to the University was 73,487 and 64,385 square feet at September 30, 2021 and
2020, respectively.
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The Corporation owns a building located on the premises of the USA University Hospital, which is
leased to a single tenant. The Corporation paid for construction of the building shell and land
improvements while the tenant paid for the cost of finishing the building’s interior. The lease had a 10
year initial term, expiring in March 2020, with three 5 year renewal options. The lease was renewed for
an additional 5 years, expiring in March 2025, with two 5-year renewal options. Under the lease, the
tenant must also pay for utilities, taxes, insurance, and interior repairs and maintenance. The
Corporation is responsible for repairs and maintenance to the exterior and HVAC system.

The Corporation, as lessor, had three ground leases in place at September 30, 2021. One lease is for a
40 year initial term expiring in October 2046 with 20 year, and 15 year renewal options. The second
lease is for a 30 year initial term expiring in October 2036 with four 5 year renewal options. The third
lease has a 38.5 year initial term expiring in September 2046 with 20 year and 15 year renewal options.

Minimum future rentals by fiscal year are as follows (in thousands):

2022 $ 3,509
2023 2,674
2024 2,007
2025 1,193
2026 789
2027-2049 6,570

Total $ 16,742

(17) Functional Expense Information

Operating expenses by functional classification for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 are
listed below (in thousands).

2021 2020

Instruction $ 114,020 108,737
Research 30,068 31,558
Public senice 8,320 7,009
Academic support 26,673 27,242
Student senvices 34,094 33,570
Institutional support 33,333 19,386
Operation and maintenance of plant 28,061 28,184
Scholarships 35,309 17,468
USA Health 614,610 523,020
Auxiliary enterprises 11,025 11,885
Depreciation and amortization 54 985 50,237

$ 990,498 858,296
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(18) Blended Component Units

As more fully described in note 1, HCM, PLTF and GLTF are reported as blended component units.
Required combining financial information of the aggregate blended component units as of and for the years
ended September 30, 2021 and 2020 is presented below (in thousands):

2021 2020
Curmrent assets $ 27,505 13,858
Noncurrent assets 59,708 50,775
Total assets 87,213 64,633
Current liabilities 46,765 27,869
Noncurrent liabilities 36,721 33,743
Total liabilities 83,486 61,612
Net position $ 3,727 3,021
2021 2020
Operating revenues $ 275,779 224,850
Operating expenses (284,620) (228,936)
Operating loss (8,841) (4,086)
Nonoperating revenues 9,547 5,069
Nonoperating expenses — —
Change in net position $ 706 983

(19) Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

The GASB issued Statement No. 95, Postponement of the Effective Dates of Certain Authoritative
Guidance, in May 2020. Statement 95 is effective immediately to provide temporary relief in light of the
COVID-19 pandemic by postponing the effective dates of certain provisions of other GASB statements that
are effective or scheduled to become effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2018. The effective date
of the statements noted below have been adjusted to reflect the postponed effective date as allowed by
Statement 95.

In June 2017, the GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases, which will be effective for the University
beginning with the fiscal year ending September 30, 2022. This statement establishes a single model for
lease accounting whereby certain leases that were previously classified as operating leases will now be
reported on the statements of net position.
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In June 2018, the GASB issued Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of
a Construction Period, which will be effective beginning with fiscal year September 30, 2022. This
statement requires that interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period be recognized as an
expense in the period in which the cost is incurred for financial statements prepared using the economic
resources measurement focus.

In May 2019, the GASB issued Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations, which will be effective
beginning with the fiscal year ending September 30, 2023. The objective of this statement is to clarify the
definition of conduit debt obligations, establish that conduit debt is not a liability of the issuer, establish
standards for reporting additional commitments and voluntary commitments extended by issuers and
improve note disclosures.

In January 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020. Effective for the fiscal year ending
September 30, 2022, this statement adds clarifying language and implementation guidance for statements
73,74, 84 and 87.

In March 2020, the GASB issued statement No. 93, Replacement of Interbank Offered Rates and
Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment Arrangements.
This statement, effective for periods ending after December 31, 2021, addresses financial reporting
implications related to the replacement of LIBOR, which is expected to cease to exist in its current form at
the end of 2021.

In May 2020, the GASB issued Statement No. 96 Subscription Based Information Technology
Arrangements effective beginning with the fiscal year ending September 30, 2023 and Statement No. 97
Certain Component Unit Criteria, and Accounting and Financial Reporting for Internal Revenue Code
Section 457 Plans Deferred Compensation Plans — An Amendment of GASB Statements No. 14 and
No. 84, and a Supersession of GASB Statement No. 32, effective beginning with the fiscal year ending
September 30, 2022. Statement No. 96 requires subscription-based information technology arrangements
(SBITA) be recorded as both an intangible asset and a corresponding subscription liability, provides
capitalization criteria for outlays related to non-subscription payments, and requires note disclosures for
SBITA. The objective of Statement No. 97 is to improve consistency and comparability of reporting for
those entities who rely on the government to perform the duties of a governing board in its absence,
mitigate the costs of reporting for defined contribution plans, and improve relevance, consistency, and
comparability of accounting and financial reporting of Section 457 plans that meet the definition of a
pension plan.

In October 2021, the GASB issued statement No. 98, The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report and its
acronym ACFR. This statement, effective for periods after December 15, 2021, replaces instances of
comprehensive annual financial report and its acronym in generally accepted accounting principles for state
and local governments. This Statement was developed in response to concerns raised by stakeholders that
the common pronunciation of the acronym for comprehensive annual financial report sounds like a
profoundly objectionable racial slur. This Statement’s introduction of the new term is founded on a
commitment to promoting inclusiveness.

The effect of the implementation of GASB Statement Nos. 87, 89, 91, 92, 96 and 97 on the University has
not yet been determined. Statements 93, 94 and 98 will not impact the University.
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(20) COVID-19 Pandemic

COVID-19, a respiratory disease caused by a novel strain of the coronavirus, has spread around the world,
including the State of Alabama. The Centers for Disease Control confirmed the spread of the disease to the
United States in February 2020 and the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a
pandemic in March 2020.

As a result of the pandemic, most higher education institutions, including the University, moved the delivery
of all instruction to an on-line format in March 2020 and required that students, where possible, vacate
on-campus residence halls. This had an adverse effect on the operations of the University due to the
pro-rata refund of housing and dining fees and incremental costs incurred as a result of having to convert
all instruction to an on-line format. All instruction for the May and summer terms was delivered online and
residence calls remained largely closed. The University returned to a modified in-person delivery of
education for the 2020 fall semester, although residence halls reopened at a lower occupancy level. For the
2021 fall semester, the University returned to normal operations and residence hall capacities returned to a
near-normal level. Management is unable to predict the future impact of the pandemic on the University’s
operations.

Government orders suspending elective surgical and other procedures have had an adverse effect on the
operations of healthcare providers, including USA Health, primarily due to reduction in overall patient
volumes. Patient volumes and revenues experienced gradual improvement beginning in July 2020 and are
now at normal levels. Management is unable to predict the future impact of the pandemic on USA Health’s
operations.

The Federal Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act was signed into law on

March 27, 2020 and is designed to provide economic relief to Higher Education Institutions and other
entities for a number of situations including the provision of direct financial support for students in need,
reimbursement for the costs incurred as a result of moving instruction online, to provide relief funds for
healthcare providers for purposes of covering costs incurred and lost revenues due to the pandemic. As of
September 30, 2021, the University (including USA Health) has been awarded $93,064,000 in CARES Act,
and other funding from federal and state sources for COVID-19 relief. Of this amount $68,749,000 was
awarded during the year ended September 30, 2021 and $24,315,000 was awarded during the year ended
September 30, 2020. Of the total amounts awarded $58,249,000 and $11,350,000 have been recognized
as nonoperating revenue in the statements of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position for the
years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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Additionally, as part of the CARES Act, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS) expanded
the existing Accelerated and Advance Payments Program (MAAPS) to a broader group of healthcare
providers. Accelerated or advance payments under the MAPPS program is intended to provide necessary
funds when there is a disruption in claims submissions and processing for a healthcare provider. CMS can
also offer these payments in circumstances such as a national emergency or natural disasters in order to
accelerate cash flow to impacted healthcare providers. Beginning in April 2021, CMS began recouping the
advanced payments by reducing the amount due to USA Health for Medicare and Medicaid services
provided. CMS will reduce the remittances by 25% for the first 11 months and increase this percentage for
the next six months if there is still a balance in advanced funds. The balance of the advanced payments are
$27,682,000 and $35,156,000 as of September 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively and are reflected as
unrecognized revenues in the accompanying 2021 and 2020 statements of net position.

The University’s (including USA Health’s) pandemic response plan has multiple facets and continues to
evolve as the pandemic unfolds. Management has taken precautionary steps to enhance operational and
financial flexibility and to react to the risks the COVID-19 pandemic presents to operations, including the
following:

e Established a campus wide contact tracing office to minimize the spread of the virus and therefore
minimizing the financial impact on the University.

e Established a campus-wide reopening committee, now known as the Covid-19 Response Team, to
address COVID issues related to the reopening of campus, the return of employees and students to an
in-person environment, and the on-going monitoring of the impact of Covid-19 on the University
community.

e As part of campus reopening, the student housing model was revised to provide a safer environment
for residential students. This was accomplished by increasing the number of single occupant rooms
and creating a quarantine facility within housing for students that become COVID positive.

e Implemented a temporary 4.50% pay reduction in lieu of a one-day per month unpaid furlough for most
campus employees from May through August of 2020. This unpaid furlough plan ultimately ended and
funds were returned to employees due to positive financial results for the University.

e Proactively permanently eliminated certain positions, mostly unfilled, in academic and administrative
areas.

Management believes the extent of the COVID-19 pandemic’s adverse impact on operating results and
financial condition has been and will continue to be driven by many factors, most of which are beyond the
University’s control and ability to forecast. Such factors include, but are not limited to, the scope and
duration of stay-at-home practices and business closures and restrictions, government-imposed or
recommended suspensions of elective procedures, continued declines in patient volumes for
indeterminable length of time, incremental expenses required for supplies and personal protective
equipment, and changes in professional and general liability exposures. The potential for a negative impact
on University enroliment is also uncertain. Increased infection rates in our city and region certainly have the
ability to increase the impact of these factors. Because of these and other uncertainties, management
cannot accurately estimate the length or severity of the impact of the pandemic on the University.
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(In thousands)

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
University’s proportion of the net pension liability 2.551330 % 2.664536 % 2.843720 % 3.018313 % 3.108048 %
University’s proportionate share of the net pension liability $ 315,591 294,615 282,739 296,654 336,477
University’s covered-employee payroll 184,984 181,875 190,559 191,520 200,464
University’s proportionate share of the net pension liability as a
percentage of its covered-employee payroll 170.60 % 161.99 % 148.37 % 154.89 % 167.85 %
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 67.72 % 69.85 % 72.29 % 71.50 % 67.93 %

Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Additional
years will be displayed as they become available.

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.
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(In thousands)

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Contractually required contribution $ 21,566 21,413 22,481 22,262 23,664
Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution 21,566 21,413 22,481 22,262 23,664
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ — — — — —
University’s covered-employee payroll $ 184,984 181,875 190,559 191,520 200,464
Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 11.66% 11.77% 11.80% 11.62% 11.80%

Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years.
Additional years will be displayed as they become available.

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.
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(In thousands)

2021 2020 2019
University’s proportion of the net OPEB liability 4.016210 % 2737717 % 3.156420 %
University’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability $ 260,646 103,288 259,418
University’s covered-employee payroll 184,984 181,875 190,559
University’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability as a
percentage of its covered-employee payroll 140.90 % 56.79 % 136.14 %
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total OPEB liability 19.80 % 28.14 % 14.81 %

Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Additional
years will be displayed as they become available.

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.
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(In thousands)

2021 2020 2019
Contractually required contribution $ 6,868 7,947 7,772
Contributions in relation to the contractually required contribution 6,868 7,947 7,772
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ — — —
University’s covered-employee payroll $ 184,984 181,875 190,559
Contributions as a percentage of covered-employee payroll 3.71 % 4.37 % 4.08 %

Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years.
Additional years will be displayed as they become available.

See accompanying independent auditors’ report.
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(1) Summary of Cost Sharing Pension Plan Provisions and Assumptions

Employees of the University of South Alabama are covered by a cost sharing multiple-employer defined
benefit pension plan administered by the Teachers Retirement System (TRS) of the State of Alabama.

(a

(b)

Actuarial Assumptions

The total pension liability as of September 30, 2021 and 2020 was determined by an actuarial valuation
as of September 30, 2019 and 2018, using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods
included in the measurement:

2021 2020
Inflation 275 % 275 %
Investment rate of return* 7.70 7.70
Projected salary increases 3.25-5.00 3.25-5.00

* Net of pension plan investment expense

The actuarial assumptions used in the September 30, 2019 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the period October 1, 2010 through September 30, 2015. Mortality rates
for TRS were based on the RP-2000 White Collar Mortality Table projected to 2020 using Scale BB
and adjusted 115% for all ages for males and 112% for ages 78 and over for females. The rates of
disabled mortality were based on the RP-2000 Disabled Mortality Table projected to 2020 using Scale
BB and adjusted 105% for males and 120% for females.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a log-normal
distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected
returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset
class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the
expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected
inflation.

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability as of both September 30, 2021 and 2020
was 7.70%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan
member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that the employer contributions
will be made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the
member rate. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to
be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the
long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
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(2) Summary of OPEB Plan Provisions and Assumptions
Retirees of the University of South Alabama are covered by the Public Education Employees Health
Insurance Plan (PEEHIP), which is a cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit OPEB plan
administered by the Teachers Retirement System (TRS) of the State of Alabama.
(a) Changes in Actuarial Assumptions
In 2019, the anticipated rates of participation, spouse coverage, and tobacco use were adjusted to
more closely reflect actual experience.
(b) Recent Plan Changes
Beginning in plan year 2021, the Medicaid Advantage Prescription Drug plan premium rates exclude
the ACA Health Insurer Fee which was repealed on December 20, 2019.

Effective January 1, 2017, Medicare eligible medical and prescription drug benefits are provided
through the Medicare Advantage Prescription Drug plan.

The Health Plan is changed each year to reflect the ACA maximum annual out-of-pocket amounts.
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(a) Method and Assumptions Used in Calculations of Actuarially Determined Contributions

The actuarially determined contribution rates in the schedule of employer contributions are calculated
as of September 30, 2017, three years prior to the end of the fiscal year in which contributions are
reported. The following actuarial methods and assumptions were used to determine the most recent

contribution rate reported in that schedule for the years ended September 30, 2021 and 2020:

Actuarial cost method

Amortization method

Remaining amortization period

Asset valuation method

Inflation

Health care cost trend rate:
Pre-medicare eligible
Medicare eligible

Ultimate trend rate:
Pre-medicare eligible
Medicare eligible

Year of ultimate trend rate

Investment rate of return

2021

2020

Entry age normal

Level percent of pay, closed
24 years

Market value of assets
2.750%

7.00%
5.00%

4.75%

4.75%

2026 for Pre-medicare eligible
2024 for Medicare eligible
5.00%, including inflation
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Entry age normal
Level percent of pay
25 years

Market value of assets
2.875%

7.7%%
5.00%

5.00%

5.00%

2022 for Pre-medicare eligible
2018 for Medicare eligible
5.00%, including inflation
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Year ended September 30, 2021

92

Pass-through Pass-through
to the to
CFDA Direct University Total subrecipients
Federal sponsor/Program title Number Pass-through award number Pass-through entity expenditures expenditures expenditures expenditures
Student Financial Assistance Cluster*:
U.S. Department of Education:
Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grant Program 84.007 $ 496,939 — 496,939 —
Federal Work Study Program 84.033 402,316 - 402,316 -
Federal Perkins Loan Program 84.038 1,317,237 — 1,317,237 —
Federal Pell Grant Program 84.063 17,717,750 - 17,717,750 -
Federal Direct Student Loan Program 84.268 118,583,325 — 118,583,325 —
Teacher Education Assistance for College and Higher Education 84.379 36,274 - 36,274 -
Nurse Faculty Loan Program 93.264 146,557 — 146,557 —
Total Student Financial Assistance Cluster 138,700,398 — 138,700,398 —
Research and Development Cluster:
U.S. Department of Agriculture:
Forestry Research 10.652 75,945 — 75,945 —
Technical Assistance and Training Grants 10.761 15,526 — 15,526 —
U.S. Department of Agriculture 10.UNK 129,684 — 129,684 —
Total U.S. Department of Agriculture 221,155 — 221,155 —
U.S. Department of Commerce:
Sea Grant Support 11.417 18-03 548001-1000 Texas A&M University - 30,625 30,625 19,535
Coastal Zone Management Estuarine Research Reserves 11.420 43,994 — 43,994 462
Marine Fisheries Initiative 11.433 26,139 — 26,139 —
Cooperative Fishery Statistics 11.434 21.0024 National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration — 125,243 125,243 —
Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Science, Observation, Monitoring, and Technology 11.451 413,273 - 413,273 238,984
ic and i ization De 11.467 SUBAWDO001579 University Corporation for Atmospheric Research — 2,045 2,045 —
Center for Sponsored Coastal Ocean Research — Coastal Ocean 11.478 17024-USA-001 Florida Gulf Coast University — 56,795 56,795 20,122
and i i and 11.609 G-99042-12 Colorado State University — 48,143 48,143 —
rrangements for Ir y 11.619 140453 Colorado State University = (108) (108) —
Total U.S. Department of Commerce 483,406 262,743 746,149 279,103
U.S. Department of Defense:
Military Medical Research and Development 12.420 45,872 — 45,872 —
Basic Scientific Research 12.431 180,892 - 180,892 89,035
Basic, Applied, and Advanced Research in Science and Engineering 12.630 179,378 — 179,378 43,300
Air Force Defense Research Sciences Program 12.800 34,929 - 34,929 -
Department of Defense 12.UNK 527,099 — 527,099 119,894
Department of Defense 12.UNK 170262 Faraday Technology, Inc. - 207 207 -
Department of Defense 12.UNK 2103140-13 Stevens Institute of Technology — 423 423 —
Department of Defense 12.UNK 2102964-17 Stevens Institute of Technology — 3,299 3,299 —
Total U.S. Department of Defense 968,170 3,929 972,099 252,229
U.S. Department of Interior:
Wildlife Restoration 15.611 21-0166A ADCNR — 74,659 74,659 —
Wildlife Restoration 15.611 20-0173 ADCNR — 12,424 12,424 —
Total CFDA — 87,083 87,083 —
Natural Resource Damage and 15.658 15900.341559.02 Mississippi State University - 12,261 12,261 -
Department of Interior 15.UNK 2,379,894 — 2,379,894 95,913
Department of Interior 15.UNK 140D0419-9-0003 Wichita State University — 177,991 177,991 —
Total U.S. Department of Interior 2,379,894 277,335 2,657,229 95,913
U.S. Department of Justice:
National Sexual Assault Kit Initiative 16.833 18-0054 Mobile Police Department — 54,100 54,100 —
National Sexual Assault Kit Initiative 16.833 2018-AK-BX-0006 City of Mobile — 87,920 87,920 —
Total CFDA — 142,020 142,020 —
U.S. Department of Justice 16.UNK 20-0015 City of Mobile — 28,971 28,971 —
U.S. Department of Justice 16.UNK 20-0413 City of Mobile — 6,363 6,363 —
Total U.S. Department of Justice — 177,354 177,354 —
U.S. Department of Transportation:
Highway Planning and Construction 20.205 HSIP-NR18(911) Alabama Department of Transportation — 2,888 2,888 —
Highway Planning and Construction 20.205 930-937 Alabama Department of Transportation — 6,595 6,595 —
Highway Planning and Construction 20.205 #1954 (0X-001954-000) Alabama Department of Transportation — 36,405 36,405 -
Highway Planning and Construction 20.205 #1954 (0X-001954-003) Alabama Department of Transportation — 21,243 21,243 —
Highway Planning and Construction 20.205 930-980 Alabama Department of Transportation — 41,230 41,230 5,132
Total U.S. Department of Transportation — 108,361 108,361 5132
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Federal sponsor/Program title

National Aeronautics and Space Administration:
Aerospace Education Services Program
Aerospace Education Services Program

Total CFDA

Exploration
Education
NASA

Total National Aeronautics and Space Administration

National Science Foundation:
Engineering Grants
Engineering Grants

Total CFDA
Mathematical and Physical Sciences

Geosciences
Geosciences
Geosciences
Geosciences

Total CFDA

Computer and Information Science and Engineering
Computer and Information Science and Engineering

Total CFDA

Biological Sciences
Social Behavioral and Economic Sciences

Education and Human Resources
Education and Human Resources

Total CFDA

Polar Programs
International Science and Engineering (OISE) (B)

Office of Integrative Activities
Office of Integrative Activities

Total CFDA

National Science Foundation

Total National Science Foundation
U.S. Department of Veteran Affairs

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency:

Gulf Coast 1 Council Cs ive Plan C

Gulf of Mexico Program
Total U.S. Environmental Protection Agency

U.S. Department of Energy:
Basic Energy Sciences University and Science Education

U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission:
Gulf Coast Ecosystem Restoration Council

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services:
Enhance Safety of Children Affected by Substance Abuse

Biological Response to Environmental Health Hazards
Biological Response to Environmental Health Hazards
Biological Response to Environmental Health Hazards
Biological Response to Environmental Health Hazards
Biological Response to Environmental Health Hazards

Total CFDA

Injury Prevention and Control Research and State Grants
Research and Training in Alternative Medicine

Discovery and Applied Research for Technological Innovations to Improve Human Health

Trans-NIH Research Support
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Pass-through

Pass-through

to the to

CFDA Direct University Total subrecipients

Number Pass-through award number Pass-through entity expenditures expenditures expenditures expenditures
43.001 34,326 - 34,326 3,462
43.001 USA 19-001 Von Braun Center for Science & Innovation — 2,561 2,561 —
34,326 2,561 36,887 3,462
43.003 Various University of Alabama in Huntsville — 4117 4117 —
43.008 Various University of Alabama in Huntsville —_ 140,205 140,205 15,434
43.UNK 236 — 236 —
34,562 146,883 181,445 18,896
47.041 232,116 - 232,116 9,610
47.041 2017-91 University of Alabama in Huntsville — 23,558 23,558 —
232,116 23,558 255,674 9,610
47.049 57,735 — 57,735 —
47.050 67,170 — 67,170 17,441
47.050 17056-NSF-USA-MCI-02 Florida Gulf Coast University - 246,239 246,239 —
47.050 17056-NSF-USA-MCI-03 Florida Gulf Coast University - 2,562 2,562 -
47.050 2722JK Dauphin Island Sea Lab — 18,013 18,013 —
67,170 266,814 333,984 17,441
47.070 215,052 - 215,052 29,093
47.070 AWD-001289-G1 Georgia Institute of Technology — 124,384 124,384 —
215,052 124,384 339,436 29,093
47.074 254,228 — 254,228 —
47.07